

VOLUME 49, NUMBER 5, SEPTEMBER – OCTOBER, 2023







American Confederation of Urology



INTERNATIONAL

BRAZ J UROL

OFFICIAL JOURNAL OF THE BRAZILIAN SOCIETY OF UROLOGY - SBU and OFFICIAL JOURNAL OF THE AMERICAN CONFEDERATION OF UROLOGY - CAU

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Luciano A. Favorito Unidade de Pesquisa Urogenital, Univ. do Est. do Rio de Janeiro – UERJ, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil

EMERITUS EDITOR

Francisco J. B. Sampaio Unidade de Pesquisa Urogenital, Univ. do Est. do Rio de Janeiro – UERJ, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil Sidney Glina Disciplna de Urologia, Faculdade de Medicina do ABC, Santo André, SP, Brasil

ASSOCIATE EDITORS

ROBOTICS

Anuar I. Mitre Faculdade de Medicina da USP, São Paulo, SP Brasil ROBOTICS Hamilton Zampolli Divisão de Urologia, Inst. do Câncer Arnaldo Vieira de Carvalho, São Paulo, SP, Brasil FEMALE UROLOGY

Cássio Riccetto Universidade Estadual de Campinas – UNICAMP, Campinas, SP, Brasil

INFERTILITY

Sandro Esteves Clínica Androfert, Campinas, SP, Brasil

BPH AND NEUROUROLOGY

Cristiano Mendes Gomes Hosp. de Clínicas da Univ. de São Paulo São Paulo, SP, Brasil



ENDOUROLOGY AND LITHIASIS

Fábio C. M. Torricelli Hosp. das Clínicas da Fac. de Medicina da USP, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Leonardo O. Reis Universidade Estadual de Campinas – UNICAMP Campinas, SP, Brasil

GENERAL UROLOGY

José de Bessa Jr. Universidade Estadual de Feira de Santana, Feira de Santana, BA, Brasil

URO-ONCOLOGY

Rodolfo Borges Fac. de Med. da Univ. de São Paulo, Ribeirão Preto, SP, Brasil

Rafael Sanchez-Salas Department ofUrology, Institut Mutualiste Montsouris, Paris, France

PEDIATRIC UROLOGY

José Murillo Bastos Netto Univ. Fed. de Juiz de Fora, UFJF, Juiz de Fora, MG, Brasil

MALE HEALTH

Valter Javaroni Hospital Federal do Andaraí, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil

Stênio de C. Zequi AC Camargo Cancer Center, Fund. Prudente, SP, Brasil

VIDEO SECTION

Philippe E. Spiess Hospital Lee Moffitt Cancer Center, Tampa, FL, USA

Rodrigo R. Vieiralves

Hospital Federal da Lagoa

Rio de Janeiro,

RJ, Brasil

UPDATE IN UROLOGY

Alexandre Danilovic Hospital das Clínicas da Faculdade de Medicina da USP, São Paulo, SP, Brasil João Paulo M. Carvalho Hospital Federal Cardoso Fontes, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil

Rodrigo Barros de Castro Universidade Federal Fluminense UFF, Niterói, RJ, Brasil Márcio A. Averbeck Hospital Moinhos de Vento, Porto Alegre, RS, Brasil



CONSULTING EDITORS

A. Lopez-Beltran Universidad de Córdoba Sch Med, Cordoba, España

A. J. Stephenson Cleveland Clinic's Glickman Urol., Cleveland, OH, USA

Aderivaldo Cabral Dias Filho Hosp. de Base do Dist. Fed. de Brasília, Brasília, DF, Brasil

Adilson Prando Vera Cruz Hospital Campinas, Campinas, SP, Brasil

Ahmed I. El-Sakka Suez Canal University Sch Med., Ismailia, Egypt

Alan M. Nieder Columbia University Miami Beach, FL, USA

Alexandre L. Furtado Universidade de Coimbra e Hospital, Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal

Allen F. Morey University. Texas SW Med. Ctr., Dallas, TX, USA

Andre Abreu Institute of Urology University of Southern California - USC Los Angeles, California

André Luiz Lima Diniz Hospital Federal da Lagoa, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil

Andre G. Cavalcanti Univ. Fed. do Est. do Rio de Janeiro, UNIRIO, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brazil

Andreas Bohle Helios Agnes Karll Hospital Bad, Schwartau, Germany

Andrew J. Stephenson Cleveland Clinic's Glickman Urological, OH, USA Ari Adamy Jr. Hospital Santa Casa de Curitiba, Curitiba, PR, Brasil

Arie Carneiro Hospital Albert Einstein, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Anthony J. Schaeffer Northwestern University Chicago, IL, USA

Antonio C. L. Pompeo Faculdade de Medicina do ABC, Santo André, SP, Brasil

Antonio C. Westphalen University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

Antonio Corrêa Lopes Neto Faculdade de Medicina do ABC, Santo André, SP, Brasil

Antonio Macedo Jr. Universidade Federal de São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brazil

Arthur T. Rosenfield Yale University Sch Medicine New Haven, CT, USA

Ashok Agarwal Cleveland Clinic Foundation Cleveland, Ohio, USA

Athanase Billis Univ. Estadual de Campinas - UNICAMP, Campinas, SP, Brasil

Athanasios Papatsoris Univ. of Athens, Sismanoglio Hospital, Athens, Greece

Barry A. Kogan Albany Medical College Albany, NY, USA

Bianca Martins Gregorio Univ. Estadual do Rio de Janeiro – UERJ, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil Boris Chertin Shaare Zedek Med Ctr., Jerusalem, Israel

Bruno Marroig Instituto D'or de Ensino, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil

Carlos Arturo Levi D'ancona Univ. Estadual de Campinas – UNICAMP, Campinas, SP, Brasil

Cleveland Beckford Serv. de Urologia Hos. de la Caja del Seguro Social Panamá, Rep. de Panamá

Daniel G. DaJusta Wayne State University, Detroit, MI, USA

Daniel Hampl Hospital Municipal Souza Aguiar, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil

Diogo Benchimol De Souza Univ. Estadual do Rio de Janeiro – UERJ, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil

Donna M. Peehl Stanford University Sch. Med. Stanford, CA, USA

Eduard Ruiz Castañe Departement of Andrology Fundació Puigvert, Barcelona, Espanha

Eduardo Bertero Hosp. do Serv. Púb. Est. de São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Erik Busby University of Alabama Birmingham AL, USA

Ernani L. Rhoden Hospital Moinhos de Vento, Porto Alegre, RS, Brasil

Eugene Minevich University of Cincinnati Med. Ctr., Cincinnati, OH, USA



Evangelos N. Liatsikos University of Patras, Patras, Greece Faruk Hadziselimovic University of Basel, Liestal, Switzerland

Ferdinand Frauscher Medical University Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria

Fernando G. Almeida Univ. Federal de São Paulo – UNIFESP São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Fernando Korkes Faculdade de Medicina do ABC Santo André, SP, Brasil

Fernando Secín CEMIC Urology, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Fernando Santomil Depart. of Urology, Hosp. Priv. de Com. Mar del Plata, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Flavio Trigo Rocha Fac. de Medicina da Univ. de São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Francisco T. Denes Fac. de Medicina da Univ. de São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Franklin C. Lowe Columbia University New York, NY, USA

Glenn M. Preminger Duke University Medical Ctr. Durham, NC, USA

Guido Barbagli Ctr. Uretrale e Genitali Chirurgia, Arezzo, Italia

Gustavo Cavalcanti Wanderley Hospital Estadual Getúlio Vargas, Recife, PE, Brasil

Gustavo F. Carvalhal Pontifícia Universidade Católica – PUC, Porto Alegre, RS, Brasil

Hann-Chorng Kuo Buddhist Tzu Chi Sch Med., Hualien, Taiwan Herney A. Garcia-Perdomo Universidad del Valle, Cali, CO Homero Bruschini Fac. de Med. da Univ. de São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Hubert Swana Arnold Palmer Hosp. for Children Urology, Center, FL, USA Humberto Villavicencio Fundació Puigvert, Barcelona, Espanha

J. L. Pippi Salle University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Jae-Seung Paick Seoul National University Hospital, Seoul, Korea

Jeffrey A. Cadeddu University of Texas Southwestern, Dallas, TX, USA

Jeffrey P. Weiss SUNY, Downstate Medical School Brooklyn, New York, USA

John C. Thomas Monroe Carell Jr. Children's Hospital. at Vanderbilt, TN, USA

John Denstedt University of Western Ontario London, ON, Canada

Jens Rassweiler University of Heidelberg Heilbronn, Germany

Jonathan I. Epstein The Johns Hopkins University Baltimore, MD, USA

Jorge Gutierrez-Aceves Wake Forest Baptist Medical Center, NC, USA

Jorge Hallak Fac. de Med. Univ. de São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

José Carlos Truzzi Universidade de Santo Amaro, São Paulo, SP, Brasil Jose Gadú Campos Hosp Central Militar Mexico, City Mexico

Jose J. Correa Ces University Medellin, Medelin, CO

Jose Ignacio Nolazco Urologic Oncology, Brigham and Women's Hospital Boston MA, USA

Joseph L. Chin University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada

Juan G. Corrales Riveros Clínica Ricardo Palma Lima, Perú

Julio Pow-Sang Moffitt Cancer Center, Tampa, FL, USA

Karim Kader Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, NC, USA

Karl-Dietrich Sievert University of Tuebingen, Tuebingen, Germany

Karthik Tanneru University of Florida Jacksonville, USA

Katia R. M. Leite Universidade de São Paulo - USP, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Laurence Baskin University California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

Leandro Koifman Hospital Municipal Souza Aguiar, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil

Leonardo Abreu Universidade Estácio de Sá, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil

Liang Cheng Indiana University Sch. Medicine, Indianapolis, IN, USA



Lisias N. Castilho Fac. de Med. Univ. de São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brasil Lisieux Eyer de Jesus Hospital Universitário Antônio Pedro, Niterói, RJ, Brasil

Luca Incrocci Erasmus Mc-Daniel Cancer Ctr., Rotterdam, The Netherlands

Lucas Nogueira Univ. Federal de Minas Gerais - UFMG, Belo Horizonte, MG, Brasil

Luis H. Braga McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, CA

M. Chad Wallis University of Utah, Salt Lake City, Utah, USA

M. Manoharan University of Miami Sch. Med., Miami, FL, USA

Marcello Cocuzza Fac. de Med. Univ. de São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Marcelo Wrocławski Hospital Israelita Albert Einstein, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Marco Arap Hospital Sírio Libanês, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Marcos Giannetti Machado Hospital das Clínicas da USP, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Marcos Tobias-Machado Faculdade de Medicina do ABC, Santo André, SP, Brasil

Márcio Josbete Prado Universidade Federal da Bahia – UFBA, Salvador, BA, Brasil

Marcos F. Dall'Oglio Universidade de São Paulo – USP, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Mariano Gonzalez Dept Urology, Hospital Italiano de Buenos Aires, CABA, Buenos Aires, Argentina

Margaret S. Pearle

University of Texas Southwestern, Dallas, TX, USA Matthew C. Biagioli Moffitt Cancer Center Tampa, FL, USA

Mauricio Rubinstein Univ. Fed. do Rio de Janeiro – UFRJ, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil

Michael B. Chancellor William Beaumont Hospital Royal Oak, MI, USA

Miguel Zerati Filho Inst. of Urologia e Nefrologia S. J. do Rio Preto, SJRP, SP, Brasil

Monish Aron Cleveland Clinic Foundation, Los Angeles, CA, USA

Monthira Tanthanuch Prince of Songkla University, Haad Yai, Thailand

Paulo Palma Univ. Est. de Campinas UNICAMP Campinas, SP, Brasil

Paulo R. Monti Univ. Federal do Triângulo Mineiro, Uberaba, MG, Brasil

Paulo Rodrigues Hosp. Beneficência Portuguesa de São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Rafael Carrion Univ. of South Florida, Tampa, FL. USA

Ralf Anding University Hospital Friederich Wilhelms, University Bonn, Germany

Ralph V. Clayman Univ. California Irvine Med. Ctr., Orange, CA, USA

Ricardo Almeida Júnior Department of Urology, University of Miami, Miami, FL, USA

Ricardo Autorino University Hospitals Urology Institute, OH, USA Ricardo Bertolla Univ. Fed. São Paulo – UNIFESP, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Ricardo Miyaoka Univ. Estadual de Campinas – UNICAMP, Campinas, SP, Brasil

Ricardo Reges Universidade Federal do Ceará – UFCE, Fortaleza, CE, Brasil

Rodrigo Krebs Univ. Federal do Paraná – UFPR, Curitiba, PR, Brasil

Rodolfo Montironi Università Politecnica delle Marche, Region Ancona, Italy

Roger R. Dmochowski Vanderbilt University Sch. Med., Nashville, TN, USA

Sean P. Elliott University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, USA

Simon Horenblas Netherlands Cancer Institute-Antoni, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Simone Sforza Unit of Oncologic Minimally Invasive Urology and Andrology, Careggi University Hospital, Florence, Italy

Stephen Y. Nakada University of Wisconsin Madison, WI, USA

Tariq Hakki University of South Florida, Tampa, FL, USA

Tiago E. Rosito Hospital de Clinicas de Porto Alegre, Porto Alegre, RS, Brasil

Truls E. Bjerklund Johansen Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark

Ubirajara Barroso Jr. Escola Bahiana de Med. e Saúde Pública, Salvador, BA, Brasil



Ubirajara Ferreira
Univ. Estadual de Campinas –
UNICAMP, Campinas, SP, Brasil

Victor Srougi Faculdade de Medicina de São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brasil

Vipu R. Patel University of Central Florida, Orlando, FL, USA

Vincent Delmas Université René Descartes, Paris, France

Wade J. Sexton Moffitt Cancer Center, Tampa, FL, USA

Waldemar S. Costa Univ. Est. do Rio de Janeiro - UERJ, RJ, RJ, Brasil

Walter Henriques da Costa Hosp. da Santa Casa de SP. SP, SP, Brasil

Wassim Kassouf McGill University, Montreal, Canada

Wilfrido Castaneda University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, USA

William Nahas Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brasil Wojtek Rowinski Univ of Warmia and Mazury, Olsztyn, Poland

Wolfgang Weidner Justus-Liebig Univ Giessen, Giessen, Germany

Yuzhe Tang Fac. de Med. da Univ. de São Urologic Oncology, Brigham and Women's Hospital Boston MA, USA

FORMER EDITORS

Alberto Gentile (Founder) (1975 - 1980)

Lino L. Lenz (1981)

Rubem A. Arruda (1982 - 1983)

(1984 - 1985)Sami Arap

(1988 - 1993)

(1986 - 1987) N. Rodrigues Netto Jr

G. Menezes de Góes

Francisco J. B. Sampaio (2000 - 2010)

Sérgio D. Aguinaga

Sami Arap

(1994 - 1997)

(1998 - 1999)

Luciano A. Favorito

Miriam Dambros

Sidney Glina

(2012 - 2019)

(2011)

(2019 -)

EDITORIAL PRODUCTION

TECHNICAL EDITOR Ricardo de Morais **GRAPHIC DESIGNER** Bruno Nogueira EDITORIAL ASSISTANT Patrícia Gomes

Eletronic Version: Full text with fully searchable articles on-line:

https://www.intbrazjurol.com.br

Correspondence and Editorial Address:

Rua Real Grandeza, 108 - conj. 101 - 22281-034 – Rio de Janeiro – RJ – Brazil Tel.: + 55 21 2246-4003; E-mail: brazjurol@brazjurol.com.br

The paper on which the International Braz J Urol is printed meets the requirements of ANSI/NISO Z39, 48-1992 (Permanence of Paper). Printed on acid-free paper.

The International Braz J Urol is partially supported by the Ministry of Science and Technology. National Council for Scientific and Technological Development. Editorial and Graphic Composition

The International Braz J Urol, ISSN: 1677-5538 (printed version) and ISSN: 1677-6119 (electronic version) is the Official Journal of the Brazilian Society of Urology– SBU, is published 6 times a year (bimonthly, starting in January - February). Intellectual Property: CC-BY – All the contents of this journal, except where otherwise noted, is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution License. Copyright by Brazilian Society of Urology.

The International Braz J Urol is indexed by: EMBASE/Excerpta Medica; SciELO, Lilacs/Latin America Index; Free Medical Journals; MD-Linx; Catálogo Latindex; SCImago, Index Medicus - NLM, PubMed/MEDLINE, PubMed/Central, ISI - Current Contents / Clinical Medicine and Science Citation Index Expanded.

DISCLAIMER

ONLINE manuscript submission: www.intbrazjurol.com.br

The authored articles and editorial comments, opinions, findings, conclusions, or recommendations in the International Braz J Urol are solely those of the individual authors and contributors, and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Journal and the Brazilian Society of Urology. Also, their publication in the International Braz J Urol does not imply any endorsement. The publication of advertisements in the International Braz J Urol, although expecting to conform to ethical standards, is not a warranty, endorsement or approval of the products or services advertised or of their effectiveness, quality, or safety. Medicine is a science that constantly and rapidly advances, therefore, independent verification of diagnosis and drug usage should be made. The Journal is not responsible for any injury to persons caused by usage of products, new ideas and dosage of drugs proposed in the manuscripts.

CONTENTS

EDITORIAL IN THIS ISSUE

532 International Brazilian Journal of Urology is among the Top 10 urologic journals – the new Impact Facto is 3.7! Luciano A. Favorito

REVIEW ARTICLE

- **535** Comparative assessment of efficacy and safety of approved oral therapies for overactive bladder: a systematic review and network meta-analysis Wenjuan He, Guangliang Huang, Wenyan Cui, Yunfei Tian, Qian Sun, Xiaojuan Zhao, Yonghong Zhao, Dan Li, Xiuju Liu
- 564 Urological knowledge and tools applied to diagnosis and surgery in deep infiltrating endometriosis – a narrative review

André L. Lima Diniz, José Anacleto D. Resende Jr., Cláudio M. de Andrade Jr., Alice C. Brandão, Mauro P. Gasparoni Jr., Luciano A. Favorito

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

580 Long-term oncological and surgical outcomes after Video Endoscopic Inguinal Lymphadenectomy (VEIL) in patients with penile cancer

Marcos Tobias-Machado, Antonio A. Ornellas, Alexandre K. Hidaka, Luis G. Medina, Pablo A. L. Mattos, Ruben S. Besio, Diego Abreu, Pedro R. Castro, Ricardo H. Nishimoto, Juan Astigueta, Aurus Dourado, Roberto D. Machado, Wesley J. Magnabosco, Victor Corona-Montes, Gustavo M. Villoldo, Hamilton C. Zampolli, Anis Taha, Pericles R. Auad, Eliney F. Faria, Paulo B. O. Arantes, Alessandro Tavares, Francisco S. M. S. Nascimento, Eder S. Brazão Jr., Maurício M. Rocha, Walter H. Costa, Vinicius Panico, Leonardo O. Reis, Roberto J. Almeida-Carrera, Rafael C. Silva, Stênio C. Zequi, José R. R. Calixto, Rene Sotelo

- **590 Treating asthma in patients with enuresis: repercussions on urinary symptoms** *Patricia Dahan, Pricila Mara Novais de Oliveira, Aparecida Regina Brum, André Costa Pinto Ribeiro, André Avarese Figueiredo, José de Bessa Jr., José Murillo B. Netto*
- **599** Nomogram to predict the risk of adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones following percutaneous nephrolithotomy *Feng Xie,, Shidong Deng, Kuilin Fei, Hanfeng Xu, Huihui Zhang*
- **608 Predictors of early catheter replacement after HoLEP. Results from a high-volume laser center** *Fabrizio Di Maida, Anna Cadenar, Antonio Andrea Grosso, Luca Lambertini, Sofia Giudici, Daniele Paganelli, Vincenzo Salamone, Andrea Mari, Matteo Salvi, Andrea Minervini, Agostino Tuccio*
- 619 Laparoscopic ventral onlay ureteroplasty with buccal mucosa graft for complex proximal ureteral stricture

B. G. Guliev, Boris Komyakov, Zhaloliddin Avazkhanov, Maksim Shevnin, Ali Talyshinskii

EXPERT OPINION

- **628 Predictive histopathological factors of nodal metastasis in penile cancer** *Marcos Adriano Garcia Campos, Antonio Augusto Lima Teixeira Júnior, José de Ribamar Rodrigues Calixto, Joyce Santos Larges, Jaqueline Diniz Pinho, Gyl Eanes Barros Silva*
- **637 Can we recommend varicocele surgery for men with hypogonadism?** *Nilson Marquardt Filho, Carlos Teodósio Da Ros*

UPDATE IN UROLOGY

Uroanatomy

644 Editorial Comment: Penile revascularization utilizing the lateral femoral circumflex artery after pelvic fracture urethral injury *Luciano A. Favorito*

VIDEO SECTION

- 646 Laparoscopic Pyelolithotomy for treating urolithiasis in ectopic pelvic kidneys Ioannis Kartalas Goumas, Elena Tondelli, Luigi Bevilacqua, Isabella Oliva, Luca Orecchia, Marcelo Langer Wroclawski, Guido Giusti, Silvia Proietti, Roberto Miano, Eugenio Ventimiglia
- 648 Robotic partial nephrectomy for large renal Leiomyoma: first case report Antonio Franco, Devin Rogers, Savio D. Pandolfo, Celeste Manfredi, Francesco Ditonno, Ciro Imbimbo, Marco De Sio, Cosimo De Nunzio, Riccardo Autorino
- 650 Robotic assisted radical nephrectomy with Inferior vena cava tumor thrombus *Maxwell Sandberg, Wyatt Whitman, Alejandro Rodriguez*

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

652 ChatGPT for medical applications and urological science *Leonardo O. Reis*

657 INFORMATION FOR AUTHORS

Vol. 49 (5): 532-534, September - October, 2023 doi: 10.1590/S1677-5538.IBJU.2023.05.01



EDITORIAL IN THIS ISSUE

International Brazilian Journal of Urology is among the Top 10 urologic journals – the new Impact Facto is 3.7!

Luciano A. Favorito 1, 2

¹ Unidade de Pesquisa Urogenital - Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro - Uerj, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil; ² Serviço de Urologia, Hospital Federal da Lagoa, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil

The September-October number of *Int Braz J Urol* is the 24th under my supervision and is very special. In July 23 the Web of Science released shows the 2022 impact factor and the Int Braz J Urol head the impact of 3.7 – the biggest in its history! A great reward for the hard work by the editorial team. With the new impact factor, the Int Braz J Urol today is one of the top 10 urologic journals (Figure-1), an unimaginable feat in 2019 when I took over as editor in chief. We will continue working for another 4 years to reach the top 5 of urology journals. In the cover of this edition, we can see the new impact facto of the International Brazilian Journal of Urology.

Figure 1: The top 10 impact factors in urology in 2023. International Brazilian Journal of Urology for the first time in his history is in the Top 10.

TOP 10 Impact Factors in Urology 2023						
Journal	2022 Impact Factor					
 European Urology Nature Reviews Urology European Urology Oncology Journal of Urology European Urology Focus Minerva Urology and Nephrology Prostate Cancer and Prostatic Diseases World Journal of Mens Health BJU International International Braz J Urol 	23.4 15.3 8.2 6.6 5.4 4.9 4.8 4.8 4.8 4.5 3.7					

In this number the Int Braz J Urol presents original contributions with a lot of interesting papers in different fields: Robotic Surgery, Overactive bladder, Endometriosis, Penile Cancer, Enuresis, Urolithiasis, BPH, Ureteroplasty and Varicocele. The papers came from many different countries such as Brazil, Italy, Russia, USA and China, and as usual the editor's comment highlights some of them. The editor in chief would like to highlight the following works:

Dr. He and collegues from China, presented in page 535 (1) a nice meta-analysis about the efficacy and safety of approved oral therapies for overactive bladder and concluded that solifenacin showed better efficacy. For safety, most anticholinergic drugs were more likely to cause dry mouth and constipation, lower doses were better tolerated. The choice of drugs should be tailored to the patient's specific situation to find the best balance between efficacy and safety.

Dr. Diniz and collegues from the Urogenital Research Unit – Rio de Janeiro – Brazil, presented in page 564 (2) a important review about the Urological knowledge and tools applied to diagnosis and surgery in deep infiltrating endometriosis (DIE) and concluded that DIE in the urinary system is common, however the number of publications with high level of evidence is limited. The initial tools for diagnosis are ultrasonography and cystoscopy, but magnetic resonance is the most reliable tool. When the patient has voiding symptoms, the urodynamic examination is crucial. Laparoscopy improves lesion detection and anatomical understanding. This approach must be carried out by professionals with high expertise, since the surgery goes beyond the resection of lesions and includes the preservation of nerve structures and urinary tract reconstruction techniques.

Dr. Tobias-Machado and collegues from Brazil performed in page 580 (3) a nice study about the long-term oncological and surgical outcomes after Video Endoscopic Inguinal Lymphadenectomy (VEIL) in patients with penile cancer and concluded that VEIL seems to offer appropriate long term oncological control with minimal morbidity. In the absence of non-invasive stratification measures such as dynamic sentinel node biopsy, VEIL emerged as the alternative for the management of non- bulky lymph nodes in penile cancer.

Dr. Dahan and collegues form Brazil performed on page 590 (4) an interesting study about the asthma treatment in patients with enuresis: and the repercussions on urinary symptoms and concluded that controlling asthma in children with primary enuresis resulted in a significant increase in dry nights.

Dr. Xie and collegues form China performed on page 599 (5) a nice study about a nomogram to predict the risk of adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones following percutaneous nephrolitothomy (PCNL) and concluded that larger diameter of residual stones, positive urine culture, and previous stone surgery were significant predictors associated with adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones after PCNL. This nomogram could help to assess the risk of adverse outcomes quickly and effectively in patients with residual stones after PCNL

Dr. Maida and collegues from Italy performed on page 608 (6) a nice study about the predictors of early catheter replacement after HoLEP and the results from a high-volume laser center and concluded that the presence of indwelling urinary catheter before surgery, bladder wall modifications and the maintenance of anticoagulants/antiplatelets therapy were shown to be independent predictors of early catheter replacement after HoLEP (Holmium Laser Enucleation of the Prostate).

Dr. Guliev and collegues from Russia performed on page 619 (7) an nice study about the laparoscopic ventral onlay ureteroplasty with buccal mucosa graft for complex proximal ureteral stricture and concluded that patients with proximal ureteral strictures could be effectively treated by laparoscopic ventral onlay ureteroplasty with a buccal mucosa graft.

The Editor-in-chief expects everyone to enjoy reading.

REFERENCES

- 1. He W, Huang G, Cui W, Tian Y, Sun Q, Zhao X, et al. Comparative assessment of efficacy and safety of approved oral therapies for overactive bladder: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Int Braz J Urol. 2023;49:535-63.
- 2. Diniz ALL, Resende JAD Jr, de Andrade CM Jr, Brandão AC, Gasparoni MP Jr, Favorito LA. Urological knowledge and tools applied to diagnosis and surgery in deep infiltrating endometriosis a narrative review. Int Braz J Urol. 2023;49:564-79.
- 3. Tobias-Machado M, Ornellas AA, Hidaka AK, Medina LG, Mattos PAL, Besio RS, et al. Long-term oncological and surgical outcomes after Video Endoscopic Inguinal Lymphadenectomy (VEIL) in patients with penile cancer. Int Braz J Urol. 2023;49:580-89.
- 4. Dahan P, de Oliveira PMN, Brum AR, Ribeiro ACP, Figueiredo AA, de Bessa J Jr, Bastos JM Netto. Treating asthma in patients with enuresis: repercussions on urinary symptoms. Int Braz J Urol. 2023;49:590-8.
- 5. Xie F, Deng S, Fei K, Xu H, Zhang H. Nomogram to predict the risk of adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones following percutaneous nephrolithotomy. Int Braz J Urol. 2023;49:599-607.
- 6. Di Maida F, Cadenar A, Grosso AA, Lambertini L, Giudici S, Paganelli D, Salamone V, Mari A, Salvi M, Minervini A, Tuccio A. Predictors of early catheter replacement after HoLEP. Results from a high-volume laser center. Int Braz J Urol. 2023;49:608-618.
- 7. Guliev BG, Komyakov B, Avazkhanov Z, Shevnin M, Talyshinskii A. Laparoscopic ventral onlay ureteroplasty with buccal mucosa graft for complex proximal ureteral stricture. Int Braz J Urol. 2023;49:619-27.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

Luciano A. Favorito, MD, PhD

ARTICLE INFO

Unidade de Pesquisa Urogenital da Universidade do Estado de Rio de Janeiro - UERJ, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil E-mail: lufavorito@yahoo.com.br b *Luciano A. Favorito* http://orcid.org/0000-0003-1562-6068

Int Braz J Urol. 2023; 49: 532-4



Comparative assessment of efficacy and safety of approved oral therapies for overactive bladder: a systematic review and network meta-analysis

Wenjuan He¹, Guangliang Huang², Wenyan Cui², Yunfei Tian³, Qian Sun¹, Xiaojuan Zhao¹, Yonghong Zhao¹, Dan Li¹, Xiuju Liu¹

¹ Department of Pharmacy, the Second Hospital of HeBei Medical University, Shijiazhuang (Hebei), China; ² Department of Clinical Pharmacy, HeBei Medical University, Shijiazhuang (Hebei), China; ³ Department of psychology, the University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China

ABSTRACT

Purpose: To compare the effectiveness and safety of marketed oral drugs for overactive bladder based on a systematic review and network meta-analysis approach.

Methods: Pubmed, Embase, Web of Science, and the Cochrane Register of Clinical Trials databases were systematically searched. The search time frame was from database creation to June 2, 2022. Randomized controlled double-blind trials of oral medication for overactive bladder were screened against the protocol's entry criteria. Trials were evaluated for quality using the Cochrane Risk of Bias Assessment Tool, and data were statistically analyzed using Stata 16.0 software.

Result: A total of 60 randomized controlled double-blind clinical trials were included involving 50,333 subjects. Solifenacin 10mg was the most effective in mean daily micturitions and incontinence episodes, solifenacin 5/10mg in mean daily urinary urgency episodes and nocturia episodes, fesoterodine 8mg in urgency incontinence episodes/d and oxybutynin 5mg in voided volume/micturition. In terms of safety, solifenacin 5mg, ER-tolterodine 4mg, mirabegron, vibegron and ER-oxybutynin 10mg all showed a better incidence of dry mouth, fesoterodine 4mg, ER-oxybutynin 10mg, tolterodine 2mg, and vibegron in the incidence of constipation. Compared to placebo, imidafenacin 0.1mg showed a significantly increased incidence in hypertension, solifenacin 10mg in urinary tract infection, fesoterodine 4/8mg and darifenacin 15mg in headache.

Conclusion: Solifenacin showed better efficacy. For safety, most anticholinergic drugs were more likely to cause dry mouth and constipation, lower doses were better tolerated. The choice of drugs should be tailored to the patient's specific situation to find the best balance between efficacy and safety.

ARTICLE INFO



http://orcid.org/0000-0002-0228-9317

Keywords:

Urinary Bladder, Overactive; Safety; Network Meta-Analysis

Int Braz J Urol. 2023; 49: 535-63

Submitted for publication: April 13, 2023

Accepted after revision: June 15, 2023

Published as Ahead of Print: June 30, 2023

INTRODUCTION

Overactive bladder (OAB) consists of four closely related symptoms: urgency, frequency, urge urinary incontinence (UUI) and nocturia, which have no significant impact on the patient's life safety but seriously reduce the quality of life. Studies have shown (1) that OAB can have varying degrees of impact on six aspects of daily life: recreational life, psychological problems, isolation, sexual desire, and work efficiency, causing a heavy economic burden on patients and society. The prevalence of OAB is high, ranging from 7% to 27% in men and 9% to 43% in women, and the prevalence of OAB increases with age (2, 3). However, the pathophysiological mechanisms involved in the symptoms of OAB syndrome are varied and treatment is difficult (4). For this reason, more and more scholars have been conducting research on the pathogenesis of OAB from different perspectives in recent years and are constantly exploring new treatments for OAB. Treatment options for OAB are divided by "lines of therapy" based on levels of invasiveness. Lifestyle modification and pelvic floor physical therapy are the tenets of the first line of therapy. Second line therapy consists of drug therapy with anticholinergics and/or beta-3 agonists. Third line therapies include intravesical botulinum toxin injection, sacral neuromodulation, and percutaneous tibial nerve stimulation (5, 6).

For decades, antimuscarinics such as tolterodine (TOL) and solifenacin (SOL) have been the main pharmacological treatment for OAB, but their lack of bladder specificity has led to a high incidence of adverse events such as dry mouth and constipation, ultimately limiting their effectiveness. In recent years, 3-adrenoceptor agonists, which are highly selective, have been developed as a potential treatment for OAB. Pharmacological assays have shown that 3-adrenoceptor agonists participate in beta adrenergic-mediated bladder relaxation, thus exerting their effect (5). They have been shown to be effective and well tolerated (7, 8).

Different treatment modalities have their advantages and limitations, and it is essential to choose the right treatment modality for the specific patient in clinical practice. The wide choice of drugs available for OAB treatment and the lack of head-to-head clinical trials between drugs has led to controversy over the best drug choice. Given that one previously published study (9) had too many drug doses (including unapproved doses) grouped together, and the outcome indicators were not combined in a reasonable manner, the potential for bias is too high and the robustness of the final study results is questionable. Therefore, this study proposes to conduct a precise network meta-analysis of approved oral drugs, including only oral drugs with approved dosages and only outcome indicators with the same observation period, in order to reduce the heterogeneity of the introduced studies and provide a basis for the selection of therapeutic drugs in clinical practice.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The software involved in this study included EndNote X8 (literature management and article writing) (Thomson Research Soft), Excel 2019 (data extraction and collation) (Microsoft Office), Review Manager 5.3 (methodological quality evaluation) (The Cochrane Collaboration, Copenhagen), and Stata 16.0 (network meta--analysis [NMA], heterogeneity assessment and inconsistency testing, surface under the cumulative ranking curve [SUCRA] plots) (Stata Corporation). The study was written according to the NMA extension for Priority Reporting Entry for Systematic Evaluation and Meta-Analysis (PRIS-MA). This study is registered with PROSPERO (registration number CRD42021233959).

Search strategies

Two reviewers searched independently in the following database: PubMed, Embase, Web of Science and Cochrane Library. Both mesh terms and free terms were used in the search. Details of search strategies are provided in <u>Supplementary</u> <u>Table-1 (see Page 1)</u>.

Inclusion criteria

(1) Study population: patients \geq 18 years of age with a diagnosis of OAB according to symptoms or urodynamic studies.

(2) Intervention: any drug approved for the treatment of OAB, or placebo as control, or ano-

ther drug for the treatment of OAB as control.

(3) Efficacy indicators: micturitions/d; incontinences/d; urgency episodes/d; urgency incontinences/d; nocturia episodes; mean voided volume/void.

(4) Safety indicators: dry mouth; constipation; nasopharyngitis; hypertension; cardiovascular AEs; urinary tract infection.

(5) Study type: randomized, controlled, double-blind trial with a follow-up period of ≥ 12 weeks.

Exclusion criteria

Trials without any access to full text (eg, conference abstracts, etc.), with incomplete data, lack of relevant outcome indicators, data not publicly available and duplicate publications were excluded. Studies with non-oral antimuscarinic or intravesical administrations were also excluded.

Literature screening and data extraction

(1) Literature Screening: the literature was screened using EndNote X8 software to electronically check the literature retrieved from the systematic search and the manual search to eliminate duplicate literature. Then, two investigators independently read the titles and abstracts of the literature to exclude those that did not meet the inclusion criteria. After that, the remaining literature was read further in full to exclude those that did not meet the inclusion criteria, and the reasons for exclusion were recorded. Finally, both sides cross-checked the included literature and jointly decided on the inclusion of the literature, and in case of disagreement, a third investigator was consulted to decide on the inclusion of the literature.

(2) Data extraction: data extraction was performed using Excel 2019 software, which included: authors and year of publication, sample size, interventions, baseline characteristics of the study population, and outcome indicators of the literature. Two researchers worked independently and discussed and resolved any disagreements or consulted a third researcher to decide. If incomplete information or disagreements were encountered in the literature study, the authors of the literature could be contacted for information.

Methodological quality evaluation

The risk of bias was assessed in the included literature using the Cochrane Risk of Bias Assessment Tool (10) in Review Manager 5.3 software, including seven aspects: random sequence generation, allocation concealment, blinding of investigators and subjects, blinded evaluation of study outcomes, completeness of outcome data, and selective reporting of study results and other biases. For each study element, the investigator made a risk of bias assessment profile according to "low risk", "high risk" and "unclear".

Statistical Analysis

We used the frequentist framework to perform a random effect network meta-analysis. The mean difference (MD) was used as an effect indicator for continuous variables, and odds ratio (OR) was used as an effect indicator for dichotomous variables. A 95% confidence interval (CI) was calculated for each effect size, and differences were considered statistically significant when P<0.05. Uncertainty in the effect of heterogeneity was defined as the inconsistency between the CI of the relative treatment effect and its prediction interval (11). The global inconsistency model was used to assess the consistency of the entire network and was considered good at p > 0.05 (12). A loop-specific approach was used to assess the presence of local inconsistencies in each closed loop. The node splitting method was used to assess the inconsistency of the model with separating evidence on a particular comparison into direct and indirect evidence (13). Funnel plots were plotted to evaluate the presence of publication bias.

RESULTS

Study selection and basic characteristics

Through systematic search, 60 randomized, controlled, double-blind studies involving a total of 50,333 subjects were finally included. The literature search and screening process is shown in Figure-1, and the basic characteristics of the included studies are shown in Table-1.

Figure 1 - Flow Chart of Literature Search and Screening.



Evaluation of the quality of the included studies' literature

A total of 60 randomized, controlled, double-blind studies were included, including 7 four--arm studies, 18 three-arm studies and 35 double--arm studies. The overall risk of bias was generally low. The risk of bias was assessed as shown in <u>Supplementary Table-2 (see Page 2)</u>.

Effectiveness indicators

Mean daily micturitions

Forty-two RCTs (14-56) reported micturition's/d, including 2 studies in 4 arms, 12 studies in 3 arms and 30 studies in double arms, containing a total of 15 treatment measures and a total sample size of 32,317 cases (Figure-2). Initial overall inconsistency testing showed a p-value <0.05 and partial p-values <0.05 in ring inconsis-

tency, so subgroup regression analysis of the data according to the proportion of female patients showed that all inconsistency testing p-values were >0.05. For the subgroup with \geq 50% female, all interventions were significantly more effective than placebo compared to placebo, except for oxybutynin (OXY)5mg-TID, with SOL10mg-QD being the most effective and significantly better than the majority of interventions. For the subgroup with less than 50% women, SOL10mg-QD remained the most effective, with statistically significant differences in efficacy compared to propiverine (PRO) 20mg-QD, mirabegron (MIR) 50mg-QD, extended-release tolterodine (ER--TOL) 4mg-QD and PBO. Results of the NMA are reported in Supplementary Table-3 (see Page 5). Figure-3 shows the mean values of SUCRA for interventions on micturitions.

Table 1 - Basic Characteristics of Included Study.

Study trial number	Study design	Country	Intervention	Population mean age	Female (%)	Numbers of patients (n)	Treatment duration (weeks)
Yoshida et al. (37)	Phase IIb, RCT,	Japanese	VIB 50mg, qd	58.0 ± 11.8	334 (90.3)	370	aged \geq 20 years, patients experiencing OAE
2018 No. JapicCTI-	double-blind, multicenter		VIB 100mg, qd	58.7 ± 11.1	330 (89.7)	368	symptoms for \geq 6 months
152936			PBO	58.9 ± 11.8	333 (90.2)	369	-
			IMI 0.1mg, bid	59.7 ± 12.4	105 (89.7)	117	-
Yamaguchi et al. (30)	Phase III, RCT,	Japanese	MIR 50mg, qd	58.3 ± 13.88	58 (15.7)	379	aged \geq 20 years, patients experiencing OAE
2014a NCT00966004	double-blind, multicenter		PBO	58.2 ± 14.18	58 (15.8)	379	symptoms for ≥ 24 weeks
			TER 4 mg, qd	58.3 ± 13.96	64 (17.4)	375	-
Yamaguchi et al. (38)	Phase II, RCT,	Japanese	MIR 50mg, qd	56.2 ± 13.59	31 (14.9)	208	aged \geq 20 years, patients experiencing OAE
2014b NCT00527033	double-blind, multicenter		PBO	55.7 ± 12.89	42 (19.9)	212	symptoms for ≥ 24 weeks
Staskin et al. (43)	Phase III, RCT,	Multinational	VIB 75mg, qd	63.0 ± 18.0	449 (85.4)	545	aged ≥ 18 years, patients experiencing OAE
2020 NCT03492281	double-blind, multicenter		PBO	61.0 ± 16.0	445 (85.6)	540	symptoms for \ge 3 months
	manoontor		TER 4 mg, qd	61.0 ± 17.0	352 (84.4)	430	-
Shin et al. (55) 2019	Phase IV, RCT,	Korea	MIR 50mg, qd	66.40 ± 9.51	310 (100)	310	aged \geq 20 years, patients experiencing OAE
	double-blind, multicenter		PBO	65.23 ± 10.00	154 (100)	154	symptoms for \geq 12 weeks
Nitti et al. (40) 2013	Phase III, RCT,	United States	MIR 50mg, qd	59.2 ± 13.5	120 (27.1)	442	aged \geq 18 years, patients experiencing OAE
NCT00662909	double-blind, multicenter	and Canada	PBO	60.1 ± 13.8	108 (23.8)	453	symptoms for \ge 3 months
Herschorn et al. (41)	Phase III, RCT,	Europe and	MIR 50mg, gd	60.3 ± 12.22	137 (31.1)	440	aged \geq 18 years, patients experiencing O
2013 NCT00912964	double-blind, multicenter	North America		58.2 ± 13.73	132 (30.5)	433	symptoms for \ge 3 months
Kuo et al. (70) 2015	Phase III, RCT,	Taiwan, Korea,	MIR 50mg, qd	54.3 ± 14.21	110 (32.5)	366	aged ≥ 18 years, patients experiencing 0 symptoms for ≥ 3 months
NCT01043666	double-blind,		PB0	55.3 ± 13.63	98 (30.3)	366	
	multicenter		TER 4 mg, qd	53.9 ± 14.50	120 (36.0)	371	
Khullar et al. (44) 2013	Phase III, RCT,	European–	MIR 50mg, qd	59.1 ± 12.36	136 (27.6)	493	aged ≥ 18 years, patients experiencing OAE
NCT00689104	double-blind, multicenter	double-blind, Australian	MIR 100mg, qd	59.0 ± 12.71	141 (28.4)	496	symptoms for \ge 3 months
			PBO	59.2 ± 12.30	138 (27.9)	494	-
			TER 4 mg, qd	59.1 ± 12.89	134 (27.1)	495	aged \geq 18 years, patients experiencing
Herschorn et al. (42)	Phase III, RCT,	Multinational	MIR 50mg, qd	56.7 ± 13.3	99 (23.5)	422	symptoms of wet OAB for \geq 3 months
2017 NCT01972841	double-blind, multicenter	(42 countries)	PBO	57.9±13.0	102 (23.8)	429	-
Chapple et al. (71)	Phase II, RCT,	Multinational	MIR 50mg, qd	56.9 ± 12.5	18 (10.8)	169	aged ≥ 18 years, patients experiencing
2013 NCT00337090	double-blind, multicenter		PBO	57.1 ± 12.9	15 (9.0)	169	symptoms of OAB for \ge 3 months
10100337030	manifochtor		TER 4 mg, qd	56.6 ± 12.8	16 (18.8	85	-
Herschorn et al. (42)	Phase IIb, RCT,	Multinational	MIR 50mg, qd	60.3 ± 8.7	129 (86.0)	150	aged \geq 18 years and \leq 75years, patients
2017 NCT01314872	double-blind, multicenter	(18 countries)	PBO	57.8 ± 9.5	185 (90.2)	205	experiencing symptoms of OAB for ≥ 3 months
	manifochter		TER 4 mg, qd	58.5 ± 9.6	231 (89.9)	257	- monuns
Armstrong et al. (58) 2005	RCT, double- blind,	Multicenter	ER-OXY 10mg, qd	60 (18–92)	100%	391	aged ≥ 18 years, patients experiencing symptoms
	multicenter		TER 4 mg, qd	60 (18–92)	100%	399	-
Cardozo et al. (59)	RCT, double-	Multinational	SOL 5mg, qd	55.4 (13.8)	237 (82.9)	286	aged \geq 18 years, patients experiencing
2004	blind, multicenter		SOL 10mg, qd	55.9 (14.2)	238 (82.1)	290	symptoms of OAB for \ge 3 months
			PBO	56.1 (13.3)	227 (80.8)	281	-

Chapple et al. (57) RCT, double- 2007a blind, multicenter	blind,	Multinational	DAR 7.5/15 mg, qd	72 ± 5 (64–89)	206 (77.4)	266	aged ≥ 65 years with symptoms of OAB for at least 6 months
		PBO	73 ± 5 (64–87)	100 (75.2)	133		
Chapple et al. (60)	RCT, double-	Multinational	FES 4 mg, qd	59.8 (21–94)	647 (82)	790	aged \geq 18 years with OAB symptoms for \geq
2014 NCT01302067			FES 8 mg, qd	58.8 (18-89)	627 (80)	779	6 months
			PBO	59.6 (19-85)	316 (82)	386	
Chapple et al. (15) 2007b	Phase III, RCT,	Multinational	TER 4 mg, qd	57.7±14.6	226 (78)	290	aged \ge 18 years with OAB symptoms for \ge 6 months
	double-blind, multicenter		FES 8 mg, qd	55.6 ± 14.1	223 (82)	272	_
			FES 4 mg, qd	57.1 ± 13.2	232 (81)	287	_
			PBO	56.0±13.7	229 (81)	283	
Chapple et al. (61) 2005	RCT, double- blind, multicenter	European	SOL 5 mg/10mg, qd	56.5	493 (85.3%)	578	aged ≥ 18 years, patients experiencing OAB symptoms for ≥ 3 months
			TER 4 mg, qd	56.4	529 (88.3%)	599	
Chapple et al. (16) 2004	Phase IIIa, RCT,	Multinational	SOL 5 mg, qd	58.1 (13.4)	194 (72.9)	266	aged \ge 18 years, patients experiencing OAB symptoms for \ge 3 months
	double-blind, multicenter		SOL 10 mg, qd	57.2 (13.4)	188 (71.2)	264	_
			TER 2mg bid	56.9 (12.8)	200 (80.0)	250	
		PBO	57.8 (13.7)	193 (76.3)	253	_	
Choo et al. (17) 2008 Blind, NCT00189800 multicenter	Korea	SOL 5 mg, qd	53.07 10.52	90 (84.11)	107	aged ≥ 18 years, patients experiencing OAB symptoms for ≥ 3 months	
	multionter		SOL 10 mg, qd	52.65 (12.71	83 (74.77)	111	_
			TOL 2 mg, bid	53.05 (12.19	88 (79.28)	111	_
Chu et al. (20) 2009	Phase III, RCT, double-blind.	United States	SOL 10 mg, qd	59 (14)	272 (80.0)	340	aged \geq 18 years with a diagnosis of OAB made by an investigator based on
	multicenter		PBO	58 (13)	277 (83.4)	332	symptoms
Chua et al. (18) 2018 NCT01486706	RCT, double- blind, single center	Philippines	SOL 5 mg/10mg, qd	57.2 (9.36)	24 (77%)	31	18–79 years old, patients who are ambulatory, with defined history of OAB symptoms for ≥ 3 months
			PBO	53.9 (12.14)	23 (72%)	32	_
Chuang et al. (19) 2020	RCT, double- blind,	Taiwan	IMI 0.1 mg,bid	59.84	23 (31.5%)	73	patients \ge 20 years of age, with OAB symptoms for \ge 3 months
	multicenter		PBO	59.33	19 (48.7%)	39	_
2003 blind,	RCT, double- blind, multicenter	US	OXY 10 mg, qd	(23, 92)	100%	391	Women with OAB symptoms, aged 18 years and older
			TER 4mg, qd	(18, 85)	100%	399	_
Dmochowski et al. (21) 2010	RCT, double- blind, multicenter	US	FES 4mg/8mg, qd	59.7 (13.7)	364 (83)	438	Aged ≥ 18 years patients experiencing OAB symptoms for ≥ 3 months
			PBO	60.1 (12.9)	368 (83)	445	_
Dmochowski et al. (22) 2008	Phase III, RCT,	US	TRO 60mg, qd	61.2 ± 0.7	230 (82.1)	280	Subjects aged 18 years or older with OAB of 6 months or longer duration
(22) 2000	double-blind,						

Drutz et al. (14) 1999 Blind, multicenter	blind,	blind,	United States and Canada	TOL 2 mg, bid	63.0 (31–88)	88 (81)	109	aged ≥ 18 years, patients experiencing OAB
	municemer		OXY 5 mg, tid	66.3 (23–91)	81 (72)	112		
			PBO	62.1 (26–87)	45 (80)	56	_	
DuBeau et al. (23) 2014 NCT00928070	RCT, double- blind, multicenter	US	FES 4mg/8mg, qd	74.8 (65- 91)	100%	103	65 years old or older with OAB symptoms for 3 or more months	
			PBO	75.3 (65-90)	100%	77	_	
Ercan et al. (63) 2015	RCT, single center	Turkey	SOL 5 mg, qd	58.9 ± 11.5	UK	60	patients diagnosed with OAB	
			FES 4 mg, qd	58.1 ± 10.258.1	UK	59		
Ginsberg et al. (64) 2013	RCT, double- blind, multicenter	Multinational	FES 4mg/8mg, qd	59.8 (14.3) 57.5 (13.0)	1374 (84)	1639	≥ 18 years old, had self-reported OAB symptoms for ≥ 3 months	
			TER 4mg, qd	60.8 (14.1) 57.8 (13.4)	1382 (83)	1657		
			PBO	61.8 (13.9) 58.5 (13.2)	679 (84)	812		
Gotoh et al. (24) 2011	Phase III, RCT,	Japan	PRO 20 mg, qd	56.6 (13.6)	216 (76.1)	284	≥ 20 years old with OAB symptoms for at least 12 weeks	
double-blind, multicenter		PBO	58.7 (14.1)	207 (76.7)	270	_		
Govier et al. (30) Phase 2010 III, RCT, double-blind, multicenter	US	SOL 10 mg, qd	60 ± 13	261 (82)	318	Aged \geq 18 years with OAB symptoms		
		PBO	59 ± 13	259 (82)	316			
Herschorn et al. (41) 2013 NCT01767519	Phase IIIb, RCT, double-blind,	North America and Europe	SOL 5 mg/10mg, qd	61.4 ± 12.8	134 (88.7)	151	Adults with symptoms of patients diagnosed OAB for \geq 6 months	
	multicenter		PBO	62.9 ± 11.8	51 (85.0)	60		
Homma et al. (53) 2003	RCT, double- blind,	Japanand Korea	TER 4 mg, qd	61.2 (11.8)	162 (68)	239	aged \ge 20 years with symptoms of OAB for \ge 6 months	
	multicenter		OXY 3 mg, qd	57.9 (12.5)	177 (73)	244		
			PBO	58.4 (14.0)	84 (69)	122		
Homma et al. (25) 2009	Phase III, RCT,	Japan	IMI 0.1 mg, bid	57.7 (12.7)	278 (87.4%)	324	\geq 20 years, who had OAB symptoms	
	double-blind, multicenter		PRO 20 mg, qd	59.8 (11.9)	257 (84.3%)	310		
			PBO	58.0 (13.5)	125 (87.4%)	147	_	
Homma et al. (26) Phase II, RCT, 2008 double-blind, multicenter	double-blind,	Japan	IMI 0.1 mg, bid	64.5 (13.5)	63 (67.7)	93	≥ 20 years, who had OAB symptoms	
	municemer		PBO	61.9 (11.8)	69 (72.6)	95		
Kaplan et al. (45) 2014 NCT01302054	RCT, double- blind, multicenter	Europe, North America, Asia, and Africa	FES 4mg/8mg, qd	57.3 (13.4)	253 (82)	308	aged ≥ 18 years, self-reported OAB symptoms for ≥ 6 months _	
			PBO	58.2 (13.2)	244 (81)	301		
Karram et al. (32) 2009 NCT00454806	Phase IIIb, RCT, double blind	USA	SOL 5 mg/10mg	57	84.20%	372	age 18 or older, OAB for at least 3 months _	
NCT00454896	double-blind, multicenter		PBO	57	84.20%	367		

Lee et al. (28) 2013 Phase IV, RCT, NCT01578304 double-blind, multicenter	double-blind,	Korean	IMI 0.1 m, bid	57.94 ± 10.81	57.94 ± 10.81	104	aged \ge 20 years, with OAB symptom for \ge 3 months
		FES 4 mg, qd	57.63 ± 12.63	57.63 ±12.63	102	_	
Nitti et al. (46) 2007 Phase III, RCT,	US	FES 4 mg, qd	59 (21–85)	213 (76)	282	18 years or older with OAB syndrome for 6 months or greater	
	double-blind, multicenter		FES 8 mg, qd	59 (23–91)	218 (78)	279	
			PBO	59 (24-88)	200 (74)	271	_
Park et al. (47) 2014	Phase III, RCT,	Korea	IMI 0.1 m, bid	58.31 ± 11.45	57 (85.07)	82	OAB patients aged \ge 19 years for \ge 3 months.
	double-blind, multicenter		PRO 20mg, qd	56.13 ± 11.29	55 (85.94)	80	_
Rudy et al. (66) 2006	Phase III, RCT,	US	TRO 40 mg, qd	61.1 ± 0.69	267 (81.2)	329	18 years or older with OAB symptoms for at least 6 months.
	double-blind, multicenter		PBO	61.0 ± 0.70	269 (81.8)	329	
Sand et al. (67) 2004	RCT, double- blind, multicenter	US	ER-OXY 10 mg, qd	58.4	100%	152	Participants with overactive bladder
			TOL 2mg, bid	58.8	100%	163	_
Vardy et al. (33) 2009 NCT00573508	Phase IV, RCT, double-blind, multicenter	US	SOL 5 mg/10mg, qd	59 ± 13	306 (81)	377	(aged \geq 18 years) were required to have OAB symptoms for \geq 3 months
			PBO	60 ± 12	314 (84)	374	_
Wagg et al. (34) RCT, double- 2013 blind, NCT00798434 multicenter	Multinational	FES 4mg/8mg, qd	72.6 ± 5.8	213 (54)	392	aged 65 and older with OAB symptoms for 3 months or longer	
			PBO	72.8 ± 5.7	205 (52)	393	_
Weiss et al. (50) 2013 NCT00911937	RCT, double- blind, multicenter	US	FES 4mg/8mg, qd	58.0 ± 14.7	313 (67.6)	463	age 18 years or older with self-reported OAB symptoms for 3 or more months
			PBO	57.5 ± 14.0	312 (65.8)	474	
Yamaguchi et al. (29) 2007	Phase III, RCT,	Japan	SOL 5 mg, qd	60.4 (13.3)	318 (83.0)	398	aged \ge 20 years and with symptoms of OAB reported for \ge 6 months
	double-blind, multicenter		SOL 10 mg, qd	59.9 (13.0)	318 (85.7)	381	_
			PRO 20 mg, qd	59.6 (13.6)	321 (83.6)	400	_
			PBO	60.8 (12.5	333 (84.3)	405	
Yamaguchi et al. (27) 2011 NCT00561951	Phase II, RCT, double-blind, multicenter	Japan, Taiwan, Korea, and	FES 4 mg, qd	57.2 (14.2)	251 (78.4)	320	\geq 20 years of age; a medical history of OAB symptoms for \geq 6 months
10010001301	ווועונוטפוונפו	Hong Kong	FES 8 mg, qd	58.8 (13.4)	255 (81.5)	313	_
			PBO	56.7 (13.5)	251 (78.9)	318	
Yamaguchi et al. (38) 2014b JapicCTI-101309	RCT, double- blind, multicenter	Japan	PRO 20 mg, qd	55.6 (12.5)	478 (85.5)	576	Age \ge 20 years, OAB symptoms for \ge 24 weeks
Japico 11-101309	municenter		PBO	56.2 (13.2)	344 (92.2)	381	
Zinner et al. (68) 2004	Phase III, RCT, double-blind,	US	TRO 20 mg, qd	63 ± 0.8	203 (77.5)	256	aged \ge 18 years with a history of OAB for \ge 6 months
multicente							

Zinner et al. (69) 2006		US	DAR 15 mg, qd	59.1 (20–93)	185 (86.4)	214	aged \ge 18 years with a history of OAB for \ge 6 months
		center	PBO	59.1 (18-89)	198 (88.0	225	
Dmochowski et al. RCT, double- (54) 2003 blind,	UK	ER-TOL 4mg, qd	62.9[13.5]	117 (95.1)	123	at least 18 years of age taking current pharmacologic treatment for OAB	
	multicenter		PB0	64.5 [12.3]	109 (93.2)	117	-
Haab et al. (72) 2004	RCT, double- blind,	Multinational	DAR 7.5 mg, qd	57.7 (22–88)	194 (84.7)	229	(aged 19–88 years, 85% female) who had suffered from symptoms of OAB for at
	multicenter		DAR 15 mg, qd	56.6 (24–81)	100 (87.0)	115	east 6 months
			PBO	56.5 (19–81)	138 (84.1)	164	
Herschorn et al. (49) 2008	RCT, double- blind,	Multinational	ER-TOL 4 mg, qd	58 (13)	290 (72)	408	aged \ge 18 years with a history of OAB for \ge 3 months
NCT00143377	multicenter		PBO	57 (14)	143 (71)	204	
Hill et al. (73) 2006	RCT, double- blind,	Multinational	DAR 7.5 mg, qd	56.1 (23–88)	94 (87.04)	108	aged \ge 18 years with a history of OAB for \ge 6 months
	multicenter	multicenter	DAR 15 mg, qd	55.1 (24–82)	92 (85.98)	107	_
			PBO	53.7 (21–85)	90 (82.57)	109	
Kaplan et al. (48) RCT, double- 2011 blind, NCT00611026 multicenter	blind,	ER-TOL 4 mg, qd	58.1 (13.8)	818 (84)	960	(≥ 18 years) self-reported OAB symptom for ≥ 3 months	
		FES 4mg/8mg, qd	57.9 (13.5)	816 (85)	973		
			PBO	59.5 (13.2)	410 (86)	478	_
Van Kerrebroeck et al. (35) 2001	blind, Europe a	Australasia, Europe and	ER-TOL 4 mg, qd	60 (20–89)	417(82.25)	507	aged \ge 18 years with a history of OAB for \ge 6 months
	multicenter	North America	TOL2 mg, bid	60 (22–92)	408(79.38)	514	_
			PBO	61 (22–93)	410(80.71)	508	
Rogers et al. (51) 2008 NCT00143481	RCT, double- blind,	US	ER-TOL 4 mg, qd	49 (12)	100%	202	aged \ge 18 years with OAB symptoms for \ge 3 months
NC100143461	multicenter		PBO	47 (12)	100%	211	
Zinner et al. (36) RCT, double- 2002 blind,	blind,		ER-TOL 4 mg, qd	51 ± 10.5	417 (82.25)	507	aged \ge 18 years with OAB symptoms for \ge 6 months
	muiticenter		PBO	74 ± 6	410 (80.71	508	
Batista et al. (56) 2015	Phase III, RCT,	Multinational	MIR 50 mg, qd	56.7 (14.3)	712 (76.1)	936	aged \ge 18 years old, with symptoms of OAB for \ge 3 months
double-blind, multicenter		SOL 5 mg, qd	57.4 (13.6)	709 (75.9)	934		

Abbreviations: OXY = Oxybutynin; ER-OXY = Oxybutynin chloride extended-release; TOL = tolterodine; ER-TOL = extended-release tolterodine; SOL = solifenacin; CR-DAR = darifenacin extended-release; FES = fesoterodine; IMI = imidafenacin; PRO = propiverine; TRO = trospium chloride; VIB = vibegron; MIR = mirabegron; PBO = placebo

Figure 2 - Evidence Network Plot for Micturitions with Female Proportion>50% (A), Micturitions with Female Proportion \leq 50% (B), Incontinence (C), Urgency (D), Urgency Incontinence (E), Nocturia (F), Voided Volume/micturition with Female Proportion>50% (G), Voided Volume/micturition. with Female Proportion \leq 50%. Lines connect the interventions that have been studied in head-to-head (direct) comparisons in the eligible randomized controlled trials. The width of the lines represents the cumulative number of randomized controlled trials for each pairwise comparison, and the size of every node is proportional to the number of randomized participants (sample size).





Mean daily incontinence episodes

Twenty-three RCTs (14-16, 25-44) reported incontinence episodes/d, including two 4-arm studies, eight 3-arm studies and 14 two-arm studies, comprising a total of 14 treatment measures and a total sample size of 15,632 cases (Figure-2). Among these studies, since the inclusion criteria for the Dmochowski 2003 et al. (54). study was "patients at least 18 years of age taking current pharmacologic treatment for OAB", this study had significant clinical heterogeneity with other study populations, and the data were analyzed after excluding this study. The results showed that SOL10mg-QD was the most effective, followed by SOL5mg-QD and SOL5/10mg-QD. Results of the NMA are reported in Supplementary Table-4 (see Page 7). Figure-3 shows the mean values of SU-CRA for interventions on micturitions.

Mean daily urgency episodes

Thirty-one RCTs (15-20, 23-34, 37-49) reported urgency episodes/d, including three 4-arm studies, nine 3-arm studies and 19 two--arm studies, containing a total of 13 treatment interventions and a total sample size of 23,764 cases (Figure-2). The results suggested that SOL5 /10mg-QD was significantly more effective than other interventions in reducing the number of urinary urgency episodes, followed by SOL10mg--QD and SOL5mg-QD; while compared to placebo, TOL2mg-BID, VIB-QD, fesoterodine (FES) 4mg--QD, imidafenacin (IMI) 0.1mg-BID, MIR50mg-QD and ER- TOL4mg-QD's efficacy was improved, but the difference was not statistically significant. Results of the NMA are reported in <u>Supplementary</u> Table-5 (see Page 9). Figure-3 shows the mean values of SUCRA for interventions on micturitions.

Mean daily urgency incontinence episodes

Twenty-nine RCTs (15-19, 22-30, 37-51) reported urgency episodes/d, including three 4-arm studies, eight 3-arm studies and 18 two-arm studies, containing a total of 14 treatment measures and a total sample size of 17,859 cases (Figure-2). The results showed that FES8mg-QD was the most effective in reducing mean daily urgency incontinence episodes, followed by SOL10mg-QD, with no statistically significant difference between the

two, but both showed significant improvements in efficacy compared to most other interventions. FES8mg-QD was significantly more effective than FES4mg-QD and FES4/8mg-QD; while the difference in efficacy between SOL10mg-QD and SOL-5mg-QD and SOL5/10mg-QD was not statistically significant. All interventions were significantly more effective than placebo and the differences were statistically significant, except for TOL2mg--BID which showed no significant improvement in efficacy differences compared to placebo. Results of the NMA are reported in <u>Supplementary Table-6</u> (see Page 11). Figure-3 shows the mean values of SUCRA for interventions on micturitions.

Mean daily nocturia episodes

Fifteen RCTs (17,18,24, 28-31,33, 37-42, 52) reported nocturia episodes/d, including one 4-arm study, three 3-arm studies and 12 two-arm studies, containing a total of 11 treatment interventions and a total sample size of 9,426 cases (Figure-2). The results showed that all interventions, except TOL2mg-BID, ER-TOL4mg-QD and FES4mg-QD, had significantly improved efficacy compared to placebo, and SOL5/10mg-QD had the best efficacy, followed by SOL10mg-QD and IMI0.1mg-BID. Results of the NMA are reported in <u>Supplementary Table-7 (see Page 13)</u>. Figure-3 shows the mean values of SUCRA for interventions on nocturia.

Voided volume per micturition

Twenty-seven RCTs (14-19, 22, 24-26, 29-31, 35-38, 40-44, 46-48, 53, 54) reported voided volume per micturition, including three 4-arm studies, ten 3-arm studies, and fourteen two-arm studies containing 11 treatment measures with a total sample size of 9,426 cases (Figure-2). Initially, subgroup regression analysis was performed due to inconsistencies. The results showed a global inconsistency of p-value > 0.05 after subgroup analysis according to the percentage of females. In the subgroup with \geq 50% female, OXY5mg--TID had the best efficacy, followed by SOL10mg--QD and PRO20mg-QD, a result consistent with the initial overall results. In the subgroup with < 50% female representation, ER-TOL4mg-QD, MIR50mg-QD and PR020mg-QD were significanFigure 3 - SUCRA Plot for Micturitions with Female Proportion>50% (A), Micturitions with Female Proportion \leq 50% (B), Incontinence (C), Urgency (D), Urgency Incontinence (E), Nocturia (F), Voided Volume/micturition with Female Proportion>50% (G), Voided Volume/micturition with Female Proportion \leq 50% (H). (SUCRA: surface under the cumulative ranking curve. The larger the surface area, the higher the ranking).



tly more efficacious than the placebo group, with only the IMI0.1 mg-BID group shared no significant difference with the placebo group. In contrast, compared to the placebo, IMI0.1mg-BID in the subgroup with \geq 50% female and the initial overall outcome posed a significant difference in efficacy. Results of the NMA are reported in <u>Supplementary Table-8 (see Page 15)</u>. Figure-3 shows the mean values of SUCRA for interventions on voided volume per micturition.

Safety outcomes

Fifty-five RCTs (14, 16-18, 20-31, 33-41, 43-53, 56-73) reported dry mouth, and to exclude nocebo effect on study outcomes, two articles (14, 25) with significantly higher data in the placebo group than in other studies were excluded. Therefore, two 4-arm studies, 17 three-arm studies, and 34 two-arm studies, containing a total of 19 treatment measures and a total sample size of 45,756 cases, were considered (Figure-4). The results showed that the interventions with the lowest incidence of dry mouth were VIB-OD, MIR50mg-OD and PBO respectively. Constipation was reported in 50 RCTs, including two 4-arm studies, 18 three--arm studies, and 30 two-arm studies, containing a total of 19 treatment measures and a total sample size of 45,674 cases. The incidence of constipation was not significantly higher for FES4mg-QD, ER--OXY10mg-QD, TOL2mg-BID, and VIB-QD compared with placebo, while the incidence of constipation was higher for the remaining interventions than for the placebo group. A total of nine interventions were included for hypertension, of which only IMI0.1 mg-BID caused a significant difference in the incidence of hypertension compared with placebo and other treatments, and the remaining seven were not significantly different compared with placebo. For headache, 17 interventions were included, and only FES4/8mg-QD and CR-DAR-15mg-QD were found to exhibit a significantly higher incidence compared to placebo. A total of 18 interventions were included for urinary tract infections, and their incidence with only SOL10mg--QD differed statistically significantly from placebo. Figure-5 shows the mean values of SUCRA for interventions on AEs. Results of the NMA are reported in Supplementary Tables 9-14 (see Page

<u>17-30</u>). Figure-6 shows the mean values of SUCRA for interventions on safety outcomes.

Inconsistency and heterogeneity check

improving mean Initially, in daily micturition's and voided volume per micturition, overall inconsistency testing showed inconsistency (P value < 0.05) and inconsistency in individual rings (95% CIs not including 1), and subgroup analysis based on race, duration of disease, and other factors did not reveal significant improvement. Therefore, subgroup regression analysis of the data according to the proportion of female patients showed that the overall inconsistency and ring inconsistency p values were >0.05. In terms of reducing mean daily incontinence episodes, sensitivity analysis showed that the study by Dmochowski 2003 et al. (54). was significantly different from other studies, considering that the inclusion criteria for the study were "patients at least 18 years of age taking current pharmacologic treatment for OAB". Therefore, this study showed significant clinical heterogeneity with other study populations in the efficacy index of reduction in the number of incontinence episodes. Thus, analysis of the data upon excluding this study would show no inconsistency. The global inconsistency model showed well with p>0.05 (Figures 6-8). The result of local inconsistency showed that most loops were consistent according to the 95%CI. The test for inconsistency using node-splitting model revealed no significant difference between direct and indirect comparisons (P>0.05).

Publication bias

A funnel plot was established to assess the publication bias. There was no significant evidence of publication bias for outcomes based on a Begg funnel plot (Figure-9).

DISCUSSION

OAB is a chronic syndrome that is not life--threatening and does not progress to uncontrollable functional impairment but has serious impacts on the patient's quality of life. Therefore, current research is increasingly focused on the impact of interventions on the quality of life of patients Figure 4 - Evidence Network Plot for Dry Mouth (A), Constipation (B), Nasopharyngitis (C), Hypertension (D), Urinary Tract Infection (E), Headache (F). Lines connect the interventions that have been studied in head-to-head (direct) comparisons in the eligible randomized controlled trials. The width of the lines represents the cumulative number of randomized controlled trials for each pairwise comparison, and the size of every node is proportional to the number of randomized participants (sample size).



Figure 5 - NMA Forest Plot for Dry Mouth (A), Constipation (B), Nasopharyngitis (C), Hypertension (D), Urinary Tract Infection (E), Headache (F). (The consistency of the entire network and was considered good at p > 0.05).



Test of consistency: chi2(28)=19.90, P=0.868



est of consistency: chi2(4)=1.96, P=0.744



Test of consistency: chi2(9)=6.59, P=0.680



Figure 6 - SUCRA Plot for Dry Mouth (A), Constipation (B), Nasopharyngitis (C), Hypertension (D), Urinary Tract Infection (E), Headache (F). (SUCRA: surface under the cumulative ranking curve. The larger the surface area, the higher the ranking).

with OAB. For OAB treatment, improving patients' symptoms and reducing the incidence of adverse events are equally important for improving patients' quality of life and treatment compliance. This study aims to compare the therapeutic effects of different interventions in terms of efficacy and safety, and to identify the advantages and disadvantages of different drugs in the process of clinical application, so as to provide more direct data support for the individualized treatment and drug use of different patients in the clinic.

Ten OAB therapeutic agents were included in this study, involving a total of 19 interventions grouped by different doses administered, and the NMA results show that solifenacin had a relatively good overall efficacy and a significant Figure 7 - NMA Forest Plot for Urgency Incontinence (A), Nocturia (B), Voided Volume/micturition with Female Proportion \leq 50% (C), Voided Volume/micturition with Female Proportion \leq 50% (D). (The consistency of the entire network and was considered good at p > 0.05.)







Test of consistency: chi2(4)=2.76, P=0.599



Test of consistency: chi2(18)=23.38, P=0.176

D



Test of consistency: chi2(4)=2.76, P=0.599

Figure 8 - NMA Forest Plot for Micturitions with Female Proportion>50% (A), Micturitions with Female Proportion \leq 50% (B), Incontinence (C), Urgency (D). (The consistency of the entire network and was considered good at p > 0.05.)



Studies Pooled within design Pooled overall

В



Test of consistency: chi2(2)=5.81, P=0.055

Test of consistency: chi2(19)=26.93, P=0.106







Figure 9 - Funnel Plot for Micturitions with Female Proportion>50% (A), Micturitions with Female Proportion \leq 50% (B), Incontinence (C), Urgency (D), Urgency Incontinence (E), Nocturia (F), Voided Volume/micturition with Female Proportion>50% (G), Voided Volume/micturition with Female Proportion \leq 50% (H). (The distribution of each point in the funnel plot is roughly symmetrical, suggesting that there is no publication bias or other bias in the studies).



advantage in improving patients' symptoms. Solifenacin 10mg was the most effective in reducing the number of voiding and incontinence; solifenacin 5/10mg was the most effective in reducing urinary urgency and nocturia; solifenacin 10mg ranked second in both urgency incontinence and voided volume. In terms of safety, the incidence of dry mouth events with solifenacin 5mg was not significantly different from placebo and was significantly lower than other anticholinergic drugs. Solifenacin is a competitive antagonist of M3 receptors and is highly specific and selective for bladder M3 receptors. The results of past studies have shown that solifenacin has a weaker blocking effect on salivary secretion than other anticholinergic drugs and that it inhibits salivary secretion at 3.6-6.5 times the effective concentration at which it produces an effect in the bladder (74, 75), which is consistent with the results of the present study. However, in the case of constipation, the results of this study showed that even a small dose of solifenacin (5mg) increased the incidence of constipation. Constipation has the greatest effect on patient satisfaction (76). Therefore, the results suggest that solifenacin is not recommended for the clinical treatment of patients with OAB who are prone to constipation.

Different interventions have different pharmacological characteristics, and different doses may affect the efficacy of treatment, in addition to their safety. Therefore, it is necessary to select the appropriate medication and dose according to the individual patient's condition so that the patient's quality of life can be maximized. This NMA analyzed the incidence of dry mouth, constipation, nasopharyngitis, headache, hypertension, and urinary tract infection in the included studies and showed that anticholinergic drugs may increase the incidence of dry mouth and constipation, while imidafenacin may increase the risk of hypertension, and FES4/8mg-QD and CR--DAR15mg-QD increase the incidence of headache compared to placebo. SOL10mg-QD may increase the risk of urinary tract infections.

Before choosing a treatment plan, the benefits of the treatment plan for the patient and the possible risks and complications should be fully considered, and decisions should be made after

weighing the pros and cons. In terms of efficacy, vibegron and mirabegron are superior to placebo and comparable to anticholinergics; although they do not show an efficacy advantage over anticholinergic drugs, their greatest advantage is in terms of safety, with both drugs showing good tolerability. In particular, vibegron and mirabegron have a significant advantage over cholinergic receptor antagonists with respect to dry mouth. As potent β3 agonists, vibegron and mirabegron relax the detrusor muscle by activating β 3 receptors, thereby increasing bladder capacity and prolonging the interval between voiding without affecting bladder voiding activity. The selectivity for β 3 receptors over other β receptor subtypes also suggests that both drugs are effective and well-tolerated novel drugs for OAB patients (77, 78).

In the voided volume per micturition outcome indicator, there was inconsistency between the direct and indirect comparison results of SOL-10mg-QD and PRO20mg-QD (p-value 0.017). Although the direct and indirect comparisons were significantly different, the results of the two interventions compared pointed towards the same direction, suggesting that SOL10 mg-QD was superior to PRO20 mg-QD, varying only in the degree of their difference, so the results were considered to be somewhat reliable.

Because of the overall inconsistency in this NMA study in terms of decreasing micturition/d and increasing voided volume/ micturition, a subgroup regression analysis was performed. Despite the differences between male and female in the anatomy and physiology of the lower urinary tract system and the potential mechanisms of action that may lead to OAB-like symptoms (79), none of the clinical studies included "gender" as an analyzable data in detail, but simply expressed whether the proportion of women was \geq 50%, so only subgroups of women \geq and <50% were analyzed in this study. The results of the subgroup analysis suggest that the results of imidafenacin are opposite in the subgroups with greater than and less than 50% women, so it is speculated that the efficacy of imidafenacin in men and women may vary, which would need to be confirmed by the results of more single-sex studies.
To control for homogeneity in the included studies, strict entry row criteria were established, and all 12-week efficacy indicators were used as the endpoints examined in this study, which avoided the introduction of clinical heterogeneity due to different study periods. Some limitations still exist in this study: 1. Because the quality of life measurements used in different studies are not uniform, this indicator of quality of life has not been analyzed and compared. Clinical endpoints can assess the effectiveness of symptom treatment from an objective perspective, but further research is needed to determine whether these symptom changes are relevant to the improvement of patients' quality of life. 2. No subgroup analysis of age was performed in this study. Existing studies have shown differences in the effectiveness of solifenacin versus mirabegron in elderly and non-differentiated age groups (80). However, only 2 of the studies included in this study enrolled elderly subjects, so subgroup analysis could not be performed. 3. No comparative study of long--term medication use was conducted in this study. Overactive bladder requires long-term medication treatment, and the data from the 12-week study used in this study are not representative of its true efficacy and safety.

CONCLUSIONS

Individualized treatment based on the characteristics of the patient is crucial. Anticholinergic drugs carry a risk of increased incidence of dry mouth and constipation, with lower doses carrying a lower risk. Solifenacin (10mg, 5mg/10mg) has significant advantages in improving patient symptoms. However, even low doses of solifenacin (5mg) can increase the incidence of constipation. In addition, imidafenacin may increase the risk of hypertension, FES4/8mg and CR-DAR-15mg may increase the incidence of headaches, and SOL10mg-QD may increase the risk of urinary tract infections. These drugs should be used with caution in patients at risk for these side effects. Although the efficacy of mirabegron and vibegron is not superior to anticholinergic drugs, they are better tolerated by OAB patients.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to express their gratitude to all the researchers who kindly provided the data for the network meta-analysis.

Wenjuan He and Guangliang Huang contributed similarly as first author

FUNDING

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

REFERENCES

- Link CL, Steers WD, Kusek JW, McKinlay JB. The association of adiposity and overactive bladder appears to differ by gender: results from the Boston Area Community Health survey. J Urol. 2011;185:955-63.
- Corcos J, Przydacz M, Campeau L, Gray G, Hickling D, Honeine C, et al. CUA guideline on adult overactive bladder. Can Urol Assoc J. 2017;11:E142-E173. Erratum in: Can Urol Assoc J. 2017;11:E250. Erratum in: Can Urol Assoc J. 2017;11:E323.
- Coyne KS, Sexton CC, Vats V, Thompson C, Kopp ZS, Milsom I. National community prevalence of overactive bladder in the United States stratified by sex and age. Urology. 2011;77:1081-7.
- 4. Riccetto CLZ. Intravaginal eletrical stimulation for bladder training method. Int Braz J Urol. 2021;47:1160-1.
- Kreydin El, Gomes CM, Cruz F. Current pharmacotherapy of overactive bladder. Int Braz J Urol. 2021;47:1091-107.
- Mass-Lindenbaum M, Calderón-Pollak D, Goldman HB, Pizarro-Berdichevsky J. Sacral neuromodulation - when and for who. Int Braz J Urol. 2021;47:647-56.
- Kelleher C, Hakimi Z, Zur R, Siddiqui E, Maman K, Aballéa S, et al. Efficacy and Tolerability of Mirabegron Compared with Antimuscarinic Monotherapy or Combination Therapies for Overactive Bladder: A Systematic Review and Network Metaanalysis. Eur Urol. 2018;74:324-33.

- Su S, Liang L, Lin J, Liu L, Chen Z, Gao Y. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the efficacy and safety of vibegron vs antimuscarinic monotherapy for overactive bladder. Medicine (Baltimore). 2021;100:e23171.
- Mostafaei H, Salehi-Pourmehr H, Jilch S, Carlin GL, Mori K, Quhal F, et al.. Choosing the Most Efficacious and Safe Oral Treatment for Idiopathic Overactive Bladder: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-analysis. Eur Urol Focus. 2022;8:1072-89.
- Higgins J, Green S. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions, Version 5.1.0. The Cochrane Collaboration. [updated March 2011]. 2008. Available at: https://handbook-5-1.cochrane.org>.
- 11. Chai S, Yu S, Yang Z, Wu S, Gao L, Wang H, et al. Effect of incretin-based therapies on cancers of digestive system among 101 595 patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and network meta-analysis combining 84 trials with a median duration of 30 weeks. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2019;7:e000728.
- 12. Zhang T. A Suite of network Commands in Stata for Network Meta-analysis. Chin J Evid-based Med. 2015; 15:1352-56.
- Wu S, Cipriani A, Yang Z, Yang J, Cai T, Xu Y, et al. The cardiovascular effect of incretin-based therapies among type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Expert Opin Drug Saf. 2018;17:243-9.
- Drutz HP, Appell RA, Gleason D, Klimberg I, Radomski S. Clinical efficacy and safety of tolterodine compared to oxybutynin and placebo in patients with overactive bladder. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 1999;10:283-9.
- Chapple C, Van Kerrebroeck P, Tubaro A, Haag-Molkenteller C, Forst HT, Massow U, et al. Clinical efficacy, safety, and tolerability of once-daily fesoterodine in subjects with overactive bladder. Eur Urol. 2007;52:1204-12. Erratum in: Eur Urol. 2008 Jun;53(6):1319.
- Chapple CR, Rechberger T, Al-Shukri S, Meffan P, Everaert K, Huang M, et al. Randomized, double-blind placebo- and tolterodine-controlled trial of the once-daily antimuscarinic agent solifenacin in patients with symptomatic overactive bladder. BJU Int. 2004;93:303-10.
- Choo MS, Lee JZ, Lee JB, Kim YH, Jung HC, Lee KS, et al. Efficacy and safety of solifenacin succinate in Korean patients with overactive bladder: a randomised, prospective, doubleblind, multicentre study. Int J Clin Pract. 2008;62:1675-83.
- Chua ME, See MC 4th, Esme a EB, Balingit JC, Morales ML Jr. Efficacy and Safety of Gabapentin in Comparison to Solifenacin Succinate in Adult Overactive Bladder Treatment. Low Urin Tract Symptoms. 2018;10:135-42.

- Chuang YC, Lin CC, Chow PM, Lien CS, Tsui KH, Chou CL, et al. A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, parallel study to evaluate the efficacy and safety of imidafenacin in patients with overactive bladder in Taiwan. Low Urin Tract Symptoms. 2021;13:108-17.
- Chu F, Smith N, Uchida T. Efficacy and safety of solifenacin succinate 10 mg once Daily: A multicenter, phase III, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallelgroup trial in patients with overactive bladder. Curr Ther Res Clin Exp. 2009:405-20.
- Dmochowski RR, Peters KM, Morrow JD, Guan Z, Gong J, Sun F, et al. Randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of flexible-dose fesoterodine in subjects with overactive bladder. Urology. 2010;75:62-8. Erratum in: Urology. 2010;75:1519. Erratum in: Urology. 2011;77:1513.
- Dmochowski RR, Sand PK, Zinner NR, Staskin DR. Trospium 60 mg once daily (QD) for overactive bladder syndrome: results from a placebo-controlled interventional study. Urology. 2008;71:449-54.
- Dubeau CE, Kraus SR, Griebling TL, Newman DK, Wyman JF, Johnson TM 2nd, et al. Effect of fesoterodine in vulnerable elderly subjects with urgency incontinence: a double-blind, placebo controlled trial. J Urol. 2014;191:395-404.
- Gotoh M, Yokoyama O, Nishizawa O; Japanese Propiverine Study Group. Propiverine hydrochloride in Japanese patients with overactive bladder: a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. Int J Urol. 2011;18:365-73.
- Homma Y, Yamaguchi O; Imidafenacin Study Group. A randomized, double-blind, placebo- and propiverinecontrolled trial of the novel antimuscarinic agent imidafenacin in Japanese patients with overactive bladder. Int J Urol. 2009;16:499-506.
- Homma Y, Yamaguchi T, Yamaguchi O. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase II dose-finding study of the novel anti-muscarinic agent imidafenacin in Japanese patients with overactive bladder. Int J Urol. 2008;15:809-15.
- Yamaguchi O, Nishizawa O, Takeda M, Yoshida M, Choo MS, Gu Lee J, et al. Efficacy, Safety and Tolerability of Fesoterodine in Asian Patients with Overactive Bladder. Low Urin Tract Symptoms. 2011;3:43-50.
- Lee KS, Park B, Kim JH, Kim HG, Seo JT, Lee JG, et al. A randomised, double-blind, parallel design, multiinstitutional, non-inferiority phase IV trial of imidafenacin versus fesoterodine for overactive bladder. Int J Clin Pract. 2013;67:1317-26.

- Yamaguchi O, Marui E, Kakizaki H, Itoh N, Yokota T, Okada H, et al. Randomized, double-blind, placebo- and propiverinecontrolled trial of the once-daily antimuscarinic agent solifenacin in Japanese patients with overactive bladder. BJU Int. 2007;100:579-87.
- Yamaguchi O, Uchida E, Higo N, Minami H, Kobayashi S, Sato H, et al. Efficacy and safety of once-daily oxybutynin patch versus placebo and propiverine in Japanese patients with overactive bladder: A randomized double-blind trial. Int J Urol. 2014;21:586-93.
- Gotoh M, Yokoyama O, Nishizawa O; Japanese Propiverine Study Group. Propiverine hydrochloride in Japanese patients with overactive bladder: a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. Int J Urol. 2011;18:365-73.
- Karram MM, Toglia MR, Serels SR, Andoh M, Fakhoury A, Forero-Schwanhaeuser S. Treatment with solifenacin increases warning time and improves symptoms of overactive bladder: results from VENUS, a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Urology. 2009;73:14-8.
- Vardy MD, Mitcheson HD, Samuels TA, Wegenke JD, Forero-Schwanhaeuser S, Marshall TS, et al. Effects of solifenacin on overactive bladder symptoms, symptom bother and other patient-reported outcomes: results from VIBRANT - a doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. Int J Clin Pract. 2009;63:1702-14.
- 34. Wagg A, Khullar V, Marschall-Kehrel D, Michel MC, Oelke M, Darekar A, et al. Flexible-dose fesoterodine in elderly adults with overactive bladder: results of the randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study of fesoterodine in an aging population trial. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2013;61:185-93.
- Van Kerrebroeck P, Kreder K, Jonas U, Zinner N, Wein A; Tolterodine Study Group. Tolterodine once-daily: superior efficacy and tolerability in the treatment of the overactive bladder. Urology. 2001;57:414-21.
- Zinner NR, Mattiasson A, Stanton SL. Efficacy, safety, and tolerability of extended-release once-daily tolterodine treatment for overactive bladder in older versus younger patients. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2002;50:799-807.
- Yoshida M, Takeda M, Gotoh M, Nagai S, Kurose T. Vibegron, a Novel Potent and Selective 3-Adrenoreceptor Agonist, for the Treatment of Patients with Overactive Bladder: A Randomized, Double-blind, Placebo-controlled Phase 3 Study. Eur Urol. 2018;73:783-90.
- Yamaguchi O, Marui E, Kakizaki H, Homma Y, Igawa Y, Takeda M, et al. Phase III, randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled study of the β3-adrenoceptor agonist mirabegron, 50 mg once daily, in Japanese patients with overactive bladder. BJU Int. 2014;113:951-60.

- Yamaguchi O, Marui E, Igawa Y, Takeda M, Nishizawa O, Ikeda Y, et al. Efficacy and Safety of the Selective 3 -Adrenoceptor Agonist Mirabegron in Japanese Patients with Overactive Bladder: A Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled, Dose-Finding Study. Low Urin Tract Symptoms. 2015;7:84-92.
- Nitti VW, Auerbach S, Martin N, Calhoun A, Lee M, Herschorn S. Results of a randomized phase III trial of mirabegron in patients with overactive bladder. J Urol. 2013;189:1388-95.
- 41. Herschorn S, Barkin J, Castro-Diaz D, Frankel JM, Espuna-Pons M, Gousse AE, et al. A phase III, randomized, doubleblind, parallel-group, placebo-controlled, multicentre study to assess the efficacy and safety of the β_3 adrenoceptor agonist, mirabegron, in patients with symptoms of overactive bladder. Urology. 2013;82:313-20.
- Herschorn S, Chapple CR, Abrams P, Arlandis S, Mitcheson D, Lee KS, et al. Efficacy and safety of combinations of mirabegron and solifenacin compared with monotherapy and placebo in patients with overactive bladder (SYNERGY study). BJU Int. 2017;120:562-75.
- 43. Staskin D, Frankel J, Varano S, Shortino D, Jankowich R, Mudd PN Jr. International Phase III, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo and Active Controlled Study to Evaluate the Safety and Efficacy of Vibegron in Patients with Symptoms of Overactive Bladder: EMPOWUR. J Urol. 2020;204:316-24.
- 44. Khullar V, Amarenco G, Angulo JC, Cambronero J, Høye K, Milsom I, et al. Efficacy and tolerability of mirabegron, a $\beta(3)$ -adrenoceptor agonist, in patients with overactive bladder: results from a randomised European-Australian phase 3 trial. Eur Urol. 2013;63:283-95.
- 45. Kaplan SA, Cardozo L, Herschorn S, Grenabo L, Carlsson M, Arumi D, et al. Efficacy and safety of fesoterodine 8 mg in subjects with overactive bladder after a suboptimal response to tolterodine ER. Int J Clin Pract. 2014;68:1065-73.
- Nitti VW, Dmochowski R, Sand PK, Forst HT, Haag-Molkenteller C, Massow U, et al. Efficacy, safety and tolerability of fesoterodine for overactive bladder syndrome. J Urol. 2007;178:2488-94.
- 47. Park C, Park J, Choo MS, Kim JC, Lee JG, Lee JZ, et al. A randomised, prospective double-blind, propiverinecontrolled trial of imidafenacin in patients with overactive bladder. Int J Clin Pract. 2014;68:188-96.
- Kaplan SA, Schneider T, Foote JE, Guan Z, Carlsson M, et al. Superior efficacy of fesoterodine over tolterodine extended release with rapid onset: a prospective, head-to-head, placebo-controlled trial. BJU Int. 2011;107:1432-40.

- Herschorn S, Heesakkers J, Castro-Diaz D, Wang JT, Brodsky M, Guan Z; Disease Management Study Team. Effects of tolterodine extended release on patient perception of bladder condition and overactive bladder symptoms*. Curr Med Res Opin. 2008;24:3513-21.
- Weiss JP, Jumadilova Z, Johnson TM 2nd, Fitzgerald MP, Carlsson M, Martire DL, et al. Efficacy and safety of flexible dose fesoterodine in men and women with overactive bladder symptoms including nocturnal urinary urgency. J Urol. 2013;189:1396-401. Erratum in: J Urol. 2013;190:816.
- Rogers R, Bachmann G, Jumadilova Z, Sun F, Morrow JD, Guan Z, et al. Efficacy of tolterodine on overactive bladder symptoms and sexual and emotional quality of life in sexually active women. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2008;19:1551-7.
- Herschorn S, Kohan A, Aliotta P, McCammon K, Sriram R, Abrams S, et al. The Efficacy and Safety of OnabotulinumtoxinA or Solifenacin Compared with Placebo in Solifenacin Naïve Patients with Refractory Overactive Bladder: Results from a Multicenter, Randomized, Double-Blind Phase 3b Trial. J Urol. 2017;198:167-75.
- 53. Homma Y, Paick JS, Lee JG, Kawabe K; Japanese and Korean Tolterodine Study Group. Clinical efficacy and tolerability of extended-release tolterodine and immediaterelease oxybutynin in Japanese and Korean patients with an overactive bladder: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. BJU Int. 2003;92:741-7. Erratum in: BJU Int. 2004;93:1135.
- 54. Dmochowski RR, Sand PK, Zinner NR, Gittelman MC, Davila GW, Sanders SW; Transdermal Oxybutynin Study Group. Comparative efficacy and safety of transdermal oxybutynin and oral tolterodine versus placebo in previously treated patients with urge and mixed urinary incontinence. Urology. 2003;62:237-42.
- 55. Shin DG, Kim HW, Yoon SJ, Song SH, Kim YH, Lee YG, et al. Mirabegron as a treatment for overactive bladder symptoms in men (MIRACLE study): Efficacy and safety results from a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel comparison phase IV study. Neurourol Urodyn. 2019;38:295-304.
- 56. Batista JE, Kölbl H, Herschorn S, Rechberger T, Cambronero J, Halaska M, et al. The efficacy and safety of mirabegron compared with solifenacin in overactive bladder patients dissatisfied with previous antimuscarinic treatment due to lack of efficacy: results of a noninferiority, randomized, phase IIIb trial. Ther Adv Urol. 2015;7:167-79.
- 57. Chapple C, DuBeau C, Ebinger U, Rekeda L, Viegas A. Darifenacin treatment of patients >or= 65 years with overactive bladder: results of a randomized, controlled, 12-week trial. Curr Med Res Opin. 2007;23:2347-58.

- Armstrong RB, Luber KM, Peters KM. Comparison of dry mouth in women treated with extended-release formulations of oxybutynin or tolterodine for overactive bladder. Int Urol Nephrol. 2005;37:247-52.
- Cardozo L, Lisec M, Millard R, van Vierssen Trip O, Kuzmin I, Drogendijk TE, et al. Randomized, double-blind placebo controlled trial of the once daily antimuscarinic agent solifenacin succinate in patients with overactive bladder. J Urol. 2004;172(5 Pt 1):1919-24.
- 60. Chapple C, Schneider T, Haab F, Sun F, Whelan L, Scholfield D, et al. Superiority of fesoterodine 8 mg vs 4 mg in reducing urgency urinary incontinence episodes in patients with overactive bladder: results of the randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled EIGHT trial. BJU Int. 2014;114:418-26.
- Chapple CR, Martinez-Garcia R, Selvaggi L, Toozs-Hobson P, Warnack W, Drogendijk T, et al. A comparison of the efficacy and tolerability of solifenacin succinate and extended release tolterodine at treating overactive bladder syndrome: results of the STAR trial. Eur Urol. 2005;48:464-70.
- Diokno AC, Appell RA, Sand PK, Dmochowski RR, Gburek BM, Klimberg IW, et al. Prospective, randomized, doubleblind study of the efficacy and tolerability of the extendedrelease formulations of oxybutynin and tolterodine for overactive bladder: results of the OPERA trial. Mayo Clin Proc. 2003;78:687-95.
- Ercan Ö, Köstü B, Bakacak M, Aytaç-Tohma Y, Ço kun B, Avcı F, et al. Comparison of solifenacin and fesoterodine in treatment of overactive bladder. Saudi Med J. 2015;36:1181-5.
- 64. Ginsberg D, Schneider T, Kelleher C, Van Kerrebroeck P, Swift S, Creanga D, et al. Efficacy of fesoterodine compared with extended-release tolterodine in men and women with overactive bladder. BJU Int. 2013;112:373-85.
- Herschorn S, Swift S, Guan Z, Carlsson M, Morrow JD, Brodsky M, et al. Comparison of fesoterodine and tolterodine extended release for the treatment of overactive bladder: a head-to-head placebo-controlled trial. BJU Int. 2010;105:58-66.
- 66. Rudy D, Cline K, Harris R, Goldberg K, Dmochowski R. Multicenter phase III trial studying trospium chloride in patients with overactive bladder. Urology. 2006;67:275-80.
- Sand PK, Miklos J, Ritter H, Appell R. A comparison of extended-release oxybutynin and tolterodine for treatment of overactive bladder in women. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2004;15:243-8.
- Zinner N, Gittelman M, Harris R, Susset J, Kanelos A, et al. Trospium chloride improves overactive bladder symptoms: a multicenter phase III trial. J Urol. 2004;171(6 Pt 1):2311-5, quiz 2435.

- Zinner N, Susset J, Gittelman M, Arguinzoniz M, Rekeda L, Haab F. Efficacy, tolerability and safety of darifenacin, an M(3) selective receptor antagonist: an investigation of warning time in patients with OAB. Int J Clin Pract. 2006;60:119-26. Erratum in: Int J Clin Pract. 2006;60:890.
- Kuo HC, Lee KS, Na Y, Sood R, Nakaji S, Kubota Y, et al. Results of a randomized, double-blind, parallel-group, placebo- and active-controlled, multicenter study of mirabegron, a 3adrenoceptor agonist, in patients with overactive bladder in Asia. Neurourol Urodyn. 2015;34:685-92.
- Chapple CR, Dvorak V, Radziszewski P, Van Kerrebroeck P, Wyndaele JJ, Bosman B, et al. A phase II dose-ranging study of mirabegron in patients with overactive bladder. Int Urogynecol J. 2013;24:1447-58.
- Haab F, Stewart L, Dwyer P. Darifenacin, an M3 selective receptor antagonist, is an effective and well-tolerated oncedaily treatment for overactive bladder. Eur Urol. 2004;45:420-9; discussion 429.
- 73. Hill S, Khullar V, Wyndaele JJ, Lheritier K; Darifenacin Study Group. Dose response with darifenacin, a novel oncedaily M3 selective receptor antagonist for the treatment of overactive bladder: results of a fixed dose study. Int Urogynecol J Pelvic Floor Dysfunct. 2006;17:239-47.
- 74. Ohtake A, Ukai M, Hatanaka T, Kobayashi S, Ikeda K, Sato S, et al. In vitro and in vivo tissue selectivity profile of solifenacin succinate (YM905) for urinary bladder over salivary gland in rats. Eur J Pharmacol. 2004;492(2-3):243-50.
- Kobayashi S, Ikeda K, Miyata K. Comparison of in vitro selectivity profiles of solifenacin succinate (YM905) and current antimuscarinic drugs in bladder and salivary glands: a Ca2+ mobilization study in monkey cells. Life Sci. 2004;74:843-53.

- Akino H, Namiki M, Suzuki K, Fuse H, Kitagawa Y, Miyazawa K, et al. Factors influencing patient satisfaction with antimuscarinic treatment of overactive bladder syndrome: results of a real-life clinical study. Int J Urol. 2014;21:389-94.
- Limberg BJ, Andersson KE, Aura Kullmann F, Burmer G, de Groat WC, Rosenbaum JS. -Adrenergic receptor subtype expression in myocyte and non-myocyte cells in human female bladder. Cell Tissue Res. 2010;342:295-306.
- 78. Rechberger T, Wróbel A. Evaluating vibegron for the treatment of overactive bladder. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2021;22:9-17.
- 79. Eapen RS, Radomski SB. Review of the epidemiology of overactive bladder. Res Rep Urol. 2016;8:71-6.
- Lozano-Ortega G, Walker DR, Johnston K, Mickle A, Harrigan S, Rogula B, et al. Comparative Safety and Efficacy of Treatments for Overactive Bladder Among Older Adults: A Network Meta-analysis. Drugs Aging. 2020;37:801-16.

Correspondence address: Xiuju Liu, MD The Second Hospital of HeBei Medical University, No.215, Heping West Road, Shijiazhuang 050000, Hebei province, People' s Republic of China. Telephone: +86 0311 66002778 E-mail address: liuxiujv1@163.com

Vol. 49 (5): 564-579, September - October, 2023 doi: 10.1590/S1677-5538.IBJU.2023.9907

Urological knowledge and tools applied to diagnosis and surgery in deep infiltrating endometriosis - a narrative review

André L. Lima Diniz ¹, José Anacleto D. Resende Jr. ¹, Cláudio M. de Andrade Jr. ¹, Alice C. Brandão ¹, Mauro P. Gasparoni Jr.¹, Luciano A. Favorito¹

¹ Unidade de Pesquisa Urogenital - Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro - Uerj, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil

ABSTRACT

Objectives: This review discusses deep infiltrating endometriosis (DIE) diagnosis and surgery using current urological knowledge and technologies.

Materials and Methods: Narrative review of deep infiltrating endometriosis that result in urological issues. We examined manuscripts from Pubmed, Embase, and Scielo's database using the following MeSH terms: ('endometriosis') AND ('urology' OR 'urological' OR 'urologist') AND ('bladder' OR'vesical') AND ('ureteral' OR 'ureter'). Selection followed PRISMA guidelines. Sample images from our records were brought to endorse the findings. Results: Thirty four related articles were chosen from 105. DIE may affect the urinary system in 52.6% of patients. Lower urinary tract symptoms may require urodynamic examination. Ultrasonography offers strong statistical yields for detecting urinary tract lesions or distortions, but magnetic resonance will confirm the diagnosis. Cystoscopy can detect active lesions, although any macroscopic visual appeal is pathognomonic. Endourology is utilized intraoperatively for bladder and ureteral assessment, however transurethral endoscopic excision of bladder lesions had higher recurrence rates. Laparoscopy is the route of choice for treatment; partial cystectomy, and bladder shaving were the most prevalent surgical treatments for bladder endometriosis. Regarding the ureteral treatment, the simple ureterolysis and complex reconstructive techniques were described in most papers. Using anatomical landmarks or neuronavigation, pelvic surgical systematization allows intraoperative neural structure identification.

Conclusions: DIE in the urinary system is common, however the number of publications with high level of evidence is limited. The initial tools for diagnosis are ultrasonography and cystoscopy, but magnetic resonance is the most reliable tool. When the patient has voiding symptoms, the urodynamic examination is crucial. Laparoscopy improves lesion detection and anatomical understanding. This approach must be carried out by professionals with high expertise, since the surgery goes beyond the resection of lesions and includes the preservation of nerve structures and urinary tract reconstruction techniques.

ARTICLE INFO

D Luciano A. Favorito http://orcid.org/0000-0003-1562-6068

Keywords:

Endometriosis; Urinary Bladder; **Robotic Surgical Procedures**

Int Braz J Urol. 2023; 49: 564-79

Submitted for publication: April 12, 2023

Accepted after revision: May 19, 2023

Published as Ahead of Print: May 30, 2023





INTRODUCTION

The presence of endometrial glands and stroma outside of their normal anatomic location was first described by Rokitansky in 1860 (1), and the first publications on this topic are about to complete their first centenary. In 1921, Sampson described the hemorrhagic chocolate cysts (2) and a few years later, in 1925, coined the name endometriosis (3). The disease is now understood as the presence of endometrial glands and stroma outside the uterine cavity.

According to epidemiological researches, the general prevalence is usually estimated to be 10% among women who are fertile (4) and despite the fact that it can afflict youngsters (5, 6), the highest occurrence is often documented between the ages of 25 and 35 years of age (7, 8). The average annual incidence rate is about 7.2 per 10,000 (9) and although this data may have variations, patterns show a reduction following the end of women's reproductive age, with a drop just after the age of 45 (8).

Usually related to pain, menstrual disorders, and infertility, it is a disease that can show up in different ways. It has the potential to stand as superficial implants on the peritoneal surface, been ovarian cysts called endometriomas or advance as lesions that infiltrate the muscularis propria of surrounding organs or even penetrate the peritoneal surface by more than 5 mm. Of these three possible phenotypes, this last one is the most aggressive; known as deeply infiltrating endometriosis (DIE) it is typically, but not solely, found in the pelvic compartment (10).

The anatomical obviousness would make the naivest observer relate this entity only to gynecology. Endometriosis is highly unpredictable and can manifest in the most random locations including head (11, 12), thorax (13-16), extra-pelvic abdominal organs (17-22) and the abdominal wall itself (23, 24). This wide range brings the newbie back to the real world, but it must be said that atypical DIE mostly affects the gastrointestinal and urinary tract (25). In this way, care will be better guided by a team composed by a gynecologist, coloproctologist/digestive system surgeon, and urologist. The purpose of this article is to describe urological knowledge and tools applied to diagnosis and surgery in deep infiltrating endometriosis.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

In this study we carried out a review about the urological knowledge and tools applied to diagnosis and surgery in deep infiltrating endometriosis. We analyzed papers published in the past 20 years in the databases of Pubmed database (US National Library of Medicine, Bethesda, Maryland), Embase and Scielo, found by using the following combination of MeSH terms: ('endometriosis') AND ('urology' OR 'urological' OR 'urologist') AND ('bladder' OR 'vesical') AND ('ureteral' OR 'ureter'). The linked articles algorithm on Pubmed was used to identify English language and peer-reviewed journal articles published.

Original articles related to diagnosis, papers describing anatomy issues of the pelvis related to urological organs, descriptions of surgical techniques and outcomes were included if based on urinary tract matter. Clinical studies on complications functional urogenital disorders in endometriosis have also been analyzed. Studies with the following designs were included: randomized clinical trials, pre-post intervention studies and observational (cohort and case--control) studies assessing women of reproductive age with DIE involving urological structures. Clinical studies of non-urological complications were excluded. Related documents with communications in congress, reviews, opinions, case reports and case series with less than 10 patients have been also excluded. No attempt was made to identify the "gray literature". After screening, articles were first considered eligible by their title and abstract. Records were then evaluated in full articles before being included to the qualitative synthesis group. Bibliographies of essential articles were also studied to find papers of additional interest. PRISMA guidelines were followed during the selection process (26).

Authors provide sample imaging from his own database in support of the data found.

RESULTS

A total of 105 articles were identified as potentially relevant. In the first hand, 24 papers

were excluded for being written in other languages than English, of these four were case reports, one reported case with less than ten patients enrolled and one was a literature review. The following criteria disqualified English-language papers that did not meet the inclusion requirements. In this sense, 20 case reports—of which half had videos attached—were disregarded. Six studies reported series of cases involving less than ten participants, thus these were also eliminated. Sixteen studies were pure literature reviews; thus, they were eliminated. Finally, five publications describing expert opinions were disqualified according to the requirements. The flow diagram is depicted in Figure-1.

Considering the 34 publications selected, we organized the content by research design and issues pertinent to the prognosis of deep infiltrating endo-

Figure 1 - Flow diagram of the literature search.



metriosis. Our search yielded three retrospective studies and two prospective cohort studies that assessed radiological diagnostic techniques. One of them also analyzed the cystoscopy as a diagnostic tool and other three retrospective studies have detailed this endoscopic route employment. Three of those diagnostic studies also reported on clinical patient outcomes. Seven cohort studies, twelve retrospective analyses, and nine case series reported surgical procedures and/or clinical outcomes. There were no randomized clinical trials found, only observational research.

Descriptions of the radiological diagnostic techniques

Three of the five investigations on the radiological diagnosis of DIE included ultrasonography (US), while the other two involved magnetic resonance imaging (MRI).

The accuracy of transvaginal ultrasonography (TVUS) in predicting detrusor infiltration and ureteral meatus involvement in individuals with bladder endometriosis (BE) was examined by Ros and colleagues in 2021 TVUS detected bladder wall BE nodules and accurately predicted cystoscopic results in their sample; 21 of 22 women had uninvolved ureteral orifices at least 10 mm from the BE nodule (TVUS sensitivity, 95%). Authors concluded that cystoscopy may be unnecessary for partly muscular nodules seen at TVUS, as the example in Figure-2. Having said that, the researchers are aware of the limited statistical power of their findings related to the reduced number of participants enrolled (27). Years before, in a retrospective study, Hudelist et al. could evaluate the TVUS for preoperative detection of BE in a larger sample of which fifty of 207 patients with DIE had urinary endometriosis, including 30 patients with BE and 23 women with either isolated or multiple hydronephroses. TVUS was able to find bladder endometriosis with a sensitivity of 93%, a specificity of 99%, a positive and negative predictive value of 99% and 97% respectively and a test accuracy of 98.6% (28).

These authors' findings are in line with the conclusions of a cohort study conducted in 2015 by Pateman and coworkers who highlighted that US is an accurate test to diagnose urinary tract Figure 2 – Nodule (arrowhead) identified at transabdominal US (A). Transvaginal US (B) was able to demonstrate bilateral urethral patency using doppler (arrows) despite the proximity to the nodule (arrowhead). Laparoscopic view (C) of the nodule (arrowhead) and bladder trigone (asterisk) just before partial cystectomy.



involvement in women with suspected pelvic endometriosis. Over the course of 14 months these researchers followed 848 women with chronic pelvic pain in whom suspicion of DIE was raised. One major concern of these researchers was to evaluate the effects of DIE on the upper urinary tract. So, in addition to USTV patients also underwent sonography of their kidneys. Given the service's tertiary nature, an unexpected epidemiology was found. US was able to show endometriosis in 335 women (39.5% 95% CI 36.2-42.8). Bladder seeds were observed in 6 women. Three patients had both, ureteric and bladder endometriosis. All bladder nodules were attached to the anterior uterus, above the trigone, medial to the ureters and distant from ostia: three were in the midline, two were to the left, and one was to the right. Ureteric endometriotic lesions were seen in 14 cases (8 on left, 6 on right). Of those fourteen women with ureteric involvement, two were referred to that specialized unity due to previous known hydronephrosis. The further statistical analysis was then made with a sample of 12 patients. Ten of these 12 subjects had ipsilateral upper urinary tract dilatation on transabdominal US and the other two women had distal ureteric distension without hydronephrosis. Pre-operative sonography for ureteral DIE showed a sensitivity of 92.3% (95% CI 63.9-99.8), specificity 100% (95% CI 97.6-100), PPV 100% (95% CI 73.5-100), and NPV 99.3% (95% CI 96.3-99.9%) (29).

Despite the previously demonstrated high statistical yields of ultrasonography, the recognition

of a urinary tract lesion or distortion is simply a first step that alerts the surgeon to the disease's complexity. Data from Patemans's paper has shown that almost 58% of woman with endometriosis had lesions at two or more different locations using sonography (29). In this scenario, an MRI will then be critical to obtain a greater understanding and plan for the future of the procedure, since a US alone may not be quite enough.

Our search identified a retrospective study that evaluated the performance of MRI in locating endometriosis implants within the bladder wall with assessment of ureteral orifice extension using surgical findings as standard of reference. Researchers from academic medical centers had 39 exams by two senior members of the team. The mean size of the endometrioid foci was 30 ± 7 [SD]mm (range 19-41 mm); 56% were found in the median of the bladder wall, 26% left sided and 18% right sided. Still on the location of the lesion, 87% endometriosis implants were present in the two anterior thirds of the dome (sensitivity 100%; specificity 83%, accuracy 97%), 79% extended or were present in the posterior third pouch (sensitivity 100%; specificity 88%; accuracy 97%) and 64% extended into the bladder base (sensitivity 90%; specificity 87%, accuracy 89%). No extensive nodular endometriosis orifice infiltration was reported. The mean distance measured from the implant to the ureteral orifices was 9 ± 9 [SD] mm (range: 0-28 mm) at right, and 12 ± 12 [SD] mm (range: 0-55 mm) for the left one. Nine of these 25 patients with bladder base involvement, had a zero-distance

reported between endometriosis implants and ureteral orifices, all but one presenting with low--to-moderate bladder volume repletion; only two of those nine women had ipsilateral ureteral dilatation on MRI. In addition to demonstrating the high accuracy of the method, Rousset et al. point out that adequate bladder filling, as shows Figure-3, is needed to improve appropriate estimate of the distance between endometriosis implants and ureteral orifices to better predict requirement of ureteral resection-reimplantation (30). tely by TVS in six individuals; however, the invasion depth was wrongly calculated in several instances (muscular vs submucosal or vice versa). However, the involvement of the bladder wall was appropriately identified on MRI in just two cases and was underestimated in one patient. Ureteral invasion was evaluated with IVU and MRI. The assessment of DE lesions in ureters was correct in 89,2% of patients based on IVU and 91,9% based on MRI. Pelvic ureteral encasement (i.e. narrowing with smooth wall lining) was not present in any of the patients at laparoscopy,

Figure 3 – MRI shows DIE at the posterior aspect of the bladder (arrows), in the trigone closer to the right ureteral ostium. MRI sequences are T2-weighted at images A, E (sagittal plane) and B (axial plane). MRI sequences are T1-weighted at images C (sagittal plane) and D (axial plane). Late MRI sequence was performed (E) to allow bladder distension (note the bladder hypointense signal intensity related to Gadolinium contrast media), improving the lesion - ureteral distance measurement. There is muscle and mucosal infiltration.



The importance of standardizing MRI studies highlighted by the previous author was also mentioned in a cohort study identified in our search. According to Bielen and colleagues, the capacity to determine the involvement of an organ system is highly dependent on the techniques adopted. In a tertiary care academic center 74 women were enrolled and the accurateness of the preoperative examination of specific organ systems using TVUS, double-contrast barium enema (DCBE), intravenous urography (IVU), and MRI was assessed. Regarding the urinary tract, the bladder involvement was detected in 10 individuals during laparoscopy. This was determined accurathough it was suggested in two patients based on IVU and/or MRI. Pelvic ureteral displacement was present in 28 patients and was detected by IVU in 57.1% of patients while MRI detected the displacement in an additional nine patients, resulting in a detection score of 89.3% (31).

Descriptions of the endoscopy diagnostic techniques

At the previous session, data from Ros et al. were brought; in their institution, flexible cystoscopy was performed as routine for all women with US suspicion of BE affecting the bladder muscular layer. In their study, it was concluded that cystoscopy may be unnecessary for partly muscular nodules seen at TVUS (27), but authors cites a publication in which recognizes that for infiltrative BE nodules, cystoscopy is able to detect the distance from the BE nodule to the ureteral meatus and the trigone (32), as demonstrated in Figure-4.

In a retrospective study which enrolled 22 patients, Schneider et al observed internal bladder endometriosis in 15 women (68.1%), cystoscopy revealed that its location was at the dome in nine patients (40.9%), at the base in five patients (22.7%), and multifocal in one patient (4.5%). In the same population, IVU only suggested the disease in four cases (18.1%). They quote a traditional statement from the

literature on the subject that reminds the reader to repeat cystoscopy at different times of the menstrual cycle, since endometriosis is best diagnosed before and during menstruation. Their study shows that cystoscopy is important for the potential diagnosis of DIE, the authors make it clear that the macroscopic aspect is not pathognomonic, even in cases as shown in Figure-5 (33).

Antonelli and cols. analyzed their database and found 1242 patients with surgically proved diagnosis of endometriosis within ten years; it was found that 31 patients (2.5%) had urinary tract involvement. The bladder was affected in 12 patients, the ureter in 15, and either the bladder or the ureter in 4. Cystoscopy was performed in all cases with bladder

Figure 4 – Cystoscopy shows bladder trigone (A), left (B) and right (C) ureteral ostia, left (D) and right (E) lateral walls free of lesions. A nodule (arrow) measuring approximately 1.5cm was found on the posterior wall of the bladder (F and G) at approximately 9mm from the right ureteral orifice and 11mm from the left ureteral orifice; bladder projection (arrowhead) suggests thickening of the left (H) and right (I) round ligaments.



Figure 5 – Bladder infiltrative lesion at the bladder trigone (A), 1.5 cm far from left ureter orifice (B); right ureter orifice (C) with infiltrative lesion. Upon vaginal examination, it was possible to perceive the presence of a palpable intravaginal nodule, adhering to the right intramural ureter.



endometriosis and found the typical bluish irregular submucosal lesion on the dome (8 patients) or base (8 patients) of the bladder. Of the 16 cases in which cystoscopy corroborated the diagnosis of BE, transurethral endoscopic resection was performed in two patients with mean lesion size of 1.9cm, both women had bladder recurrence. Six individuals received open partial cystectomy and mean lesion size was 3.5cm; four cases were treated with laparoscopic partial cystectomy and mean lesion size was 3.6cm. Three patients underwent ureterocystoneostomy and partial cystectomy, bladder mean lesion size was 1.5cm. One woman was treated with laparoscopic bilateral ureterolysis and partial cystectomy, the lesion measured 3cm. None of these 14 subjects faced bladder recurrence. In face of their findings Antonelli et al. states that cystoscopy is advisable in women affected by endometriosis complaining LUTSs or haematuria; and reinforces that an ultrasonographic study of the upper urinary tract should be performed in all patients with pelvic endometriosis, even in the absence of urological symptoms (34).

By furthermore to the preoperative diagnostic, cystoscopy was found as an intraoperative method for bladder and ureteral evaluation. Some authors advocate the employment of cystoscopy during hysterectomy for benign causes as a tool for the prompt diagnosis of potential iatrogenic damage as perceived in Figure-6 (35,36).

Oliveira et al. described the perioperative cystoscopy in 47 patients just after pelvic surgeries, 26 women (55%) had laparoscopic hysterectomy and 21 (45%) underwent bladder endometriosis nodule resection; among these last, 13 patients had the shaving dissection (without the need to open the Figure 6 - Cystoscopy identifies bladder endometriosis (arrow) and thermal injuries related to hysterectomy (arrowhead: damage to the inner layer of the muscularis; asterisk: mucosal damage).



mucosa, but with detrusor suturing) and 8 patients underwent partial cystectomy. This cystoscopy was performed under CO_2 filling with constant pressure of 8 mmHg and flow of 1L/min; as demonstrated in Figure-7, kindly provided by Dr. Oliveira.

Regular cystoscopy filling the bladder with saline solution may impose some difficulty to jet identification due to the urinary density and the use of dyes may cause adverse effects. This cystoscopy using CO2 allows the evaluation of the anatomy of ureteral orifices, the presence of ureteral jets and the integrity of bladder walls, with the same acumen as the regular fashion; the mean time between the onset of the cystoscopy and the observation of bilateral jets were 145 seconds, suggesting their patency. In face of their findings, Oliveira and colleagues stated that the cystoscopy technique using CO2, was fast, easy, safe and efficient (37).



Figure 7 – CO_2 cystoscopy using a laparoscopic insufflator at pressure of 8mmHg (arrow), flow rate at 1L/min (arrowhead); urine jet identified (asterisk).

Descriptions of the surgical procedures and clinical outcomes

Six of the publications selected for the aforesaid purpose described diverse etiologies and/or therapy of urinary tract lesions. All these resources reported endometriosis, but without pushing our topic. Due to its worth, certain findings were brought to this study.

In a cohort study, Dallas et al. analyzed a sample of 296,130 women who underwent a hysterectomy procedure for benign conditions, which 18.8% were related to endometriosis. When such diagnosis was present, genitourinary injuries happened in about 2.3% of the women demonstrating an increased likelihood (OR 1.46; 95% CI 1.36-1.56) of

a genitourinary injury occur, with a delayed diagnosis happening in about 20.6% of the cases (36). These results were in accordance with a retrospective performed by Wallis and colleagues who similarly found that a primary post-operative diagnosis of endometriosis was associated with a significantly increased risk (OR 1.92, 95% CI 1.68-2.19) of urinary tract injury (35). Johnston et al. reported that 28% of their 1265 laparoscopic procedures were for endometriosis treatment, but happening only two urinary tract damages (38). With a smaller sample, Siow et al. studied 495 cases of laparoscopic hysterectomy, 25,1% due to endometriosis; urological lesions were found in 1.6% of patients; authors suggests that the most likely etiology was thermal damage from electrocautery used to secure hemostasis of the uterine artery pedicle and consider the endometriosis as one of the risk factors related (39). Inadvertent electrical conduction between instruments and tissues can also occur (Figure-8) and, when identified, should lead to revision of the affected tissue, as well as strict follow--up of the patient in the postoperative period, given the risk of late leakage.

Two case series documented ureteral stricture surgery for distinct causes. Five of our 44 patients experienced endometriosis-related ureteral stricture, similar to that shown in Figure-9. In four patients, the distal constriction was treated by ureteroneocystostomy (UNC) with a Boari flap and two with UNC

Figure 8 – Electrical conduction between monopolar scissor and grasper (arrow) during lymphadenectomy step. Grasper is pulling the ureter (arrowhead) away from the dissection area.



Figure 9 - Double endoscopic view of an extrinsic endometriotic lesion at the distal right ureter. A nitinol guidewire was used to allow safe progression of the semi-rigid ureteroscope as shown. The arrow shows laparoscopic aspect of the endometriosis, and the arrowhead shows the ureteral distension above the stricture point. Uterine artery, marked with asterisk, was ligated with Hem'O'Lock clips.



with the psoas hitch approach. UNC with a Boari flap was used to treat a 80mm lesion in the middle-inferior ureter transition. Both strategies work long-term without concerns (40, 41). This favorable outcome was also observed in a cohort study by Carmignani et al., who evaluated thirteen patients with deep endometriosis and ureteral involvement and concluded that the combination of bladder psoas hitch, ureteral resection, and ureteroneocystostomy had no negative effect on urodynamic parameters (42).

In order to increase understanding of the uro--neurology interaction, Chiantera et al. presented the use of neuronavigation methods for the treatment of deep endometriosis in a retrospective investigation. Involvement of deep lateral tissues was detected in 40% of women with central pelvic lesions and in 72.7% of patients with involvement of the hypogastric plexus. The authors concluded that complete laparoscopic excision of endometriosis tends to reduce recurrence rates without increasing surgical morbidity (43).

Twenty-two studies provided relevant evidence that primarily highlighted the proposed issue; however, the non-uniform description of clinical information, treatments, and results hinders the detailed analysis of the pooled data. Two of those papers referred exclusively to ureteral endometriosis. For the treatment of bladder endometriosis, the techniques described were transurethral endoscopic resection (TURB), partial cystectomy with mucosal preservation (shaving) and partial cystectomy. Partial cystectomy was the most common surgical treatment for endometriosis of the bladder, as reported in twenty studies. A total of 1,355 patients were enrolled, and in addition to several further ureteral procedures, 598 partial cystectomies (44.13%) were done.

The use of TURB was documented in six studies with a total of 149 bladder endometriosis patients, and thus the endoscopic approach was adopted in 35% (52 patients). Recurrence was identified in 24 women, which corresponds to an estimated recurrence rate of 46.15%. Data are described in Table-1. The National Survey conducted by Hirata and colleagues stands out among the reported research, which cumulative recurrence rates were considerably greater with TURB than with partial cystectomy under statistical significance (p < 0.05).

In several investigations, removal of bladder nodules maintaining the mucosa was also documented. This method has also been referred to as bladder shaving and bladder skinning, as demonstrated in the following series at Figure-10.

As described by Darwish et al., this technique begins with a detrusor incision around the bladder

Authors	Bladder endometriosis	TURB	Recurrences
Hirata et al.(44)	89	34	19
Freire et al. (45)	15	3	0
Schneider et al. (46)	15	5	0
Antonelli et al. (34)	16	2	2
Kumar et al. (47)	9	5	2
Perez et al. (48)	5	3	1
Total	149	52	24

Figure 10 – Image A shows bladder after laparoscopic resection of endometriosis, highlighted in yellow at Image B, the area delimits the resection performed up to the mucosa and marked in red at image C, we demonstrate the bladder resection in which it was possible to preserve the muscle layer.



lesion, followed by dissection to the nodule's macroscopic limits in the depth, and as resection appears complete prior to opening the bladder, muscular suture in one layer to reinforce the bladder wall is then performed (44). With data presented in Table-2, by examining these publications, there have been 109 people with vesical endometriosis; and 44 of them had bladder shaving, which corresponds to about 40.37 percent of cases; just one patient out of 44 experienced recurrences, which amounts to 2.27%. In these areas of weakening of the full thickness of the bladder, reinforcing suture is suggested, as shown in Figure-11.

Ureteral involvement by endometriosis foci may need various types of surgery; among the publications assessed, less invasive resection procedures such as ureteroscopic approaches to simple ureterolysis (N = 282), progressing to segmental ureterectomy with end-to-end anastomosis (N = 70), UNC as Lich-Gregoir or Politano-Leadbetter (N= 271), UNC with Boari flap (N = 4), and UNC with psoas hitch (N = 17). Some combined procedures have been described, one ureteric stump was resected and a bladder cuff, two PC with ureterolysis, four PC plus ureterectomy with end-to-end anastomosis and four PC added to UNC as Lich-Gregoir. Six nephrectomies were performed due to loss of renal function related to ureteral obstruction by endometriosis.

DISCUSSION

Endometriosis reveals itself in a variety of clinical manifestations, and the urologist is rarely the first health care provider to interact with the patient. Menstrual disorders, chronic pelvic pain, and infertility are typically incorporated into the differential diagnosis for endometriosis. The combination of symptoms and signs enables us to properly demand

Authors	Bladder endometriosis	Shaving	Recurrences
Maida et al. (50)	21	4	1
Alves et al. (51)	5	3	0
Darwish et al. (49)	50	15	0
Gabriel et al. (52)	33	22	0
Total	109	44	1

Table 2 - Patients with bladder endometriosis treated by bladder shaving.

Figure 11 – Cystorraphy line (arrowhead) demonstrated by laparoscopy at Image A and by cystoscopy (arrow) at Image B. Bladder filling during cystoscopy also makes it possible to assess the watertightness of the suture performed.



imaging studies. As shown in the literature, sonographic evidence can eventually be used to make a presumptive diagnosis of the condition and evaluate the upper urinary tract; however, MRI scans are most often robust for the nonsurgical diagnosis of endometriosis.

However, if the patient discloses symptoms of the lower urinary tract during the interview and radiological findings corroborate the diagnosis of endometriosis, a urological consultation is required. Urodynamic and endoscopic examination may be requested in this case.

Researchers found that 96.7% of patients in a prospective study with 30 patients had one or more abnormalities at urodynamic examination; and those women with anterior compartment endometriosis had increased bladder sensation (90.0% versus 45.0%, p=0.024) and painful bladder filling (70.0% versus 30.0, p=0.04) compared to patients with posterior endometriosis only (45). In line with the results of this study, another team of investigators accessed data at a considerably larger population of 138 women with radiological diagnosis of endometriosis and found that the harm of the bladder was a statistically significant independent predictor of low bladder compliance, whereas endometriosis in the parametrium was a statistically significant independent predictor of both abnormal residual urine and bladder outlet obstruction (46).

Even though it is invasive, cystoscopy is inexpensive, useful for estimating the distance between ureteral orifices and nodule boundaries and may allow biopsy if necessary. However, due to the intraperitoneal origin of the nodule, traditional outpatient cystoscopy is more usually normal; in only half of the instances, a classic adenomatous and nodular red or bluish mass expansion is visible, and ulcerations are more rarer (27, 47). In this sense, cystoscopy under sedation concomitant with physical examination of the pelvis, including bimanual palpation of the bladder, has been proposed to improve the accuracy of the method. By using this dynamic cystoscopy in a study of 157 participants, researchers perceived that the test's had a high specificity (97.78%) and low sensitivity (58.21%) with substantial positive predictive value (95.12%) and negative predictive value (75.86%); this study has also shown that abnormalities during dynamic cystoscopy were associated with a higher ratio of bladder surgery for the treatment of deep endometriosis, and typical findings involving the mucosa tends to be associated with a higher ratio of partial cystectomy (48).

Depending on where the endometriotic lesions are located, deep pelvic endometriosis is anatomically classified as anterior, middle, and posterior compartments. The anterior compartment is the region just posterior to the pubic symphysis, where endometrial implants may happen within the vesicouterine pouch, vesicovaginal septum, bladder, and ureter. The middle compartment consists of the uterus, fallopian tubes, ovaries, mesovarium and broad ligaments. The posterior compartment is located between the posterior vaginal wall and the anterior rectal wall, it consists of the rectovaginal pouch, rectocervical space, the rectovaginal septum, uterosacral ligaments (USL), as well as the rectosigmoid (49). Disease distribution may also be classified as: Central Pelvic Endometriosis (CPE) when DIE involved one of these anatomic sites: cervix, vagina, uterosacral ligaments, rectum, bladder and pelvic peritoneum; superficial Lateral Pelvic Endometriosis (sLPE) when parametria, ureters or hypogastric plexus were involved; deep Lateral Pelvic Endometriosis (dLPE) in presence of sacral plexus and/or sciatic nerve infiltration (50).

The frequency of urinary tract involvement due to DIE may reach numbers as high as 52.6% as found in our search (51). The bladder is the most frequently affected organ in the urinary system and the endometriotic foci are usually found at the dome but it may extend to its base and even get close to the ureteric ostium (30, 31). During laparoscopy surgeries, a cystoscopy may assist partial laparoscopic cystectomy with a light-to-light methodology which enables appropriate intra- or extravesical detection of lesion boundaries (52). It may permit a sparring surgery in an effort to proceed the partial cystectomy or even a bladder shaving as described by Darwish (44). Still debating about minimally invasive approaches, the ureteroscopy may also be useful if ureteric lesions are presumed or suspected. Freire et al. reported 3 endoscopic management of ureteral lesions (53); in the same sense, Kumar described the diagnosis of DIE of the ureter in one patient of his sample (54).

In the pelvis, endometriotic lesions are more frequently observed in the posterior compartment and on the left side (55). The uterosacral ligament and rectum are the most affected structures (43). The sigmoid colon promotes retrograde menstrual fluid stasis on the left, sheltering and inhibiting endometriotic cell diffusion from the left hemipelvis; hence, the left ureter is more often implicated than right, as shown by Ceccaroni et al. in his cohort study which found 151 patients with unilateral ureteral stenosis, 39 patients in the right ureter and 112 patients in the left (56). These lesions usually occur above the ureterovesical junction, where the ureter crosses the uterine artery. Large paracervical or pararectal lesions larger than 2 cm may involve the ureter (57).

An extensive ureteral involvement by DIE can result in hydronephrosis and asymptomatic loss of renal function, as demonstrated by Antonelli et al, who performed two nephrectomies for end-stage renal atrophy (34) and by Freire et al, whose patient populations with ureteral involvement had hydrone-phrosis, of which 41.2% (7/17) had partial and 17.7% (3/17) had total loss of renal function (53).

The surgeon who intends to act on the pelvis must comprehend ureteral fragility. This retroperitoneal tubular structure is harmed more frequently during gynecological pelvic operations (36, 37, 58). Not even the preemptive stenting is able to avoid harm as described by Siow et al. which states that the presence of the ureteric stents may actually make the ureter less pliable and more rigid thereby increasing the risk of injury during dissection to mobilize it (58).

The initial anatomical landmark in the systematic surgical treatment of endometriosis is the cranial pelvic point close to the promontory, below the split of the cava and aorta into iliac vessels. Access to the left ureter begins with sigmoid release from parietal peritoneal adhesions. Identification of the left ureter in the retroperitoneum in a healthy area, typically crossing the common iliac artery, enables ureterolysis in a distal direction, clearing the lateral aspect of the organ from the uterosacral ligament and the peritoneum of the ovarian fossa, which are frequently affected by endometriosis foci. Returning to that initial landmark, usually crossing the external iliac artery, we can find the right ureter covered by peritoneum; and as with the contralateral one, the release of adhesions and endometriotic foci from the ovarian fossa and uterosacral ligament allows safe mobilization of the ureter. Ureterolysis of the medial face should be avoided since the vascularization of the distal portion may be compromised. Among the enrolled manuscripts, some provided a comprehensive explanation of surgical steps, with special mention to Abo et al., Darwish et al., and Maida et al.; the last adds supplemental video content to the papper (44, 59, 60).

Although they are extra-peritoneal structures, deep infiltrating endometriosis can harm the pelvic nerves. While this is not a signaling route unique to the urinary tract, it is imperative that the urologist be familiar with the treatment and dissection of these structures since those nerves are necessary for the proper functioning of the lower urinary tract.

The surgical systematization of the pelvis enables the intraoperative identification of neural structures based on knowledge of anatomical landmarks. On occasion, neuronavigation techniques may be advantageous, particularly when structures requiring neurolysis are at danger of being accidentally damaged during dissection (43). We can identify the motor response of a tissue that is thought to be a nerve by applying bipolar current to it, so that connections with S3 produce flexion of the hallux and contractions of the pelvic floor, rectum, and bladder, while connections with S2 cause flexion of the other toes. Damages to the superior hypogastric nerves may lead to urinary retention, urinary hesitancy, constipation, urinary and fecal incontinence, and sexual dysfunction; inferior hypogastric plexus harm is often related to urinary retention, constipation, and sexual dysfunction; the injury of pelvic splanchnic nerves may also cause urinary retention (61, 62). Mastering these concepts is essential for preventing bladder hypotonia or atony in the future, which is of utmost importance in urology.

CONCLUSIONS

Even experienced surgeons find pelvic surgery challenging. This paper emphasizes the role of the urologist in deep infiltrating endometriosis care.

The risk of inadvertent injury to urinary tract structures can be minimized with proper training and

anatomy understanding. The diagnostic methods of endometriosis are represented by USTV, MRI and cystoscopy. This endoscopic tool can also be useful during surgeries. Although bladder involvement is more common, ureteral injuries may be asymptomatic and cause long-term renal dysfunction. Surgical treatment of EID has been mainly performed by conventional and robotic-assisted laparoscopy. The use of systematic surgical steps allows the identification and preservation of nerves and surrounding tissues. Bladder sparing tactics may be relevant for the future voiding pattern of the patient, however the transurethral resection approach is related to high rates of recurrence. In order to effectively treat ureteral injuries, it is necessary to achieve a balance between gentle ureter manipulation and skillsets of urinary reconstructive procedures.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

REFERENCES

- von Rokitansky K. Ueber Uterusdrüsen-Neubildung in Uterus- und Ovarial-Sarcomen 1860; 27: 1804-78. [Internet]. Available at. https://wellcomecollection.org/works/xv5k8nzn>
- Sampson JA: perforating hemorrhagic (chocolate) cysts of the ovary: their importance and especially their relation to pelvic adenomas of endometrial type ("adenomyoma" of the uterus, rectovaginal septum, sigmoid, etc.). [Internet]. Arch Surg. 1921; 3:245–323. Available at. https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamasurgery/article-abstract/536143>
- Sampson JA: Inguinal endometriosis (often reported as endometrial tissue in the groin, adenomyoma in the groin, and adenomyoma of the round ligament. [Internet]. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1925; 10:462–503. Available at. <https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/ S0002937825905911>
- Viganò P, Parazzini F, Somigliana E, Vercellini P. Endometriosis: epidemiology and aetiological factors. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2004;18:177-200.
- Janssen EB, Rijkers AC, Hoppenbrouwers K, Meuleman C, D'Hooghe TM. Prevalence of endometriosis diagnosed by laparoscopy in adolescents with dysmenorrhea or chronic pelvic pain: a systematic review. Hum Reprod Update. 2013;19:570-82.

- Saridogan E, Saridogan E: Endometriosis surgery in young women: a narrative review. [Internet]. Gynecol Pelvic Med. 2021; 4:39. Available at. https://gpm.amegroups.com/article/view/7496/html
- Vercellini P, Viganò P, Somigliana E, Fedele L. Endometriosis: pathogenesis and treatment. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2014;10:261-75.
- Missmer SA, Hankinson SE, Spiegelman D, Barbieri RL, Marshall LM, Hunter DJ. Incidence of laparoscopically confirmed endometriosis by demographic, anthropometric, and lifestyle factors. Am J Epidemiol. 2004;160:784-96.
- Eisenberg VH, Weil C, Chodick G, Shalev V. Epidemiology of endometriosis: a large population-based database study from a healthcare provider with 2 million members. BJOG. 2018;125:55-62.
- 10. Cornillie FJ, Oosterlynck D, Lauweryns JM, Koninckx PR. Deeply infiltrating pelvic endometriosis: histology and clinical significance. Fertil Steril. 1990;53:978-83.
- 11. Duke R, Fawcett P, Booth J. Recurrent subarachnoid hemorrhage due to endometriosis. Neurology. 1995;45:1000-2.
- Sarma D, Iyengar P, Marotta TR, terBrugge KG, Gentili F, Halliday W. Cerebellar endometriosis. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2004;182:1543-6.
- Ceccaroni M, Roviglione G, Rosenberg P, Pesci A, Clarizia R, Bruni F, et al. Pericardial, pleural and diaphragmatic endometriosis in association with pelvic peritoneal and bowel endometriosis: a case report and review of the literature. Wideochir Inne Tech Maloinwazyjne. 2012;7:122-31.
- Aragao L, Resende J, Crispi C: Association Between Diaphragmatic Lesion and Other Locations in Women with Deep Infiltrating Endometriosis. [Internet]. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2016; 23:S110. Available at. https://www.jmig.org/ article/S1553-4650(16)30457-5/fulltext
- Leonardo-Pinto JP, Benetti-Pinto CL, Quagliato I, Yela DA. Hemoptysis and Endometriosis: An Unusual Association -Case Report and Review of the Literature. Rev Bras Ginecol Obstet. 2018;40:300-03.
- Nezhat C, Lindheim SR, Backhus L, Vu M, Vang N, Nezhat A, et al. Thoracic Endometriosis Syndrome: A Review of Diagnosis and Management. JSLS. 2019;23:e2019.00029.
- Saadat-Gilani K, Bechmann L, Frilling A, Gerken G, Canbay A. Gallbladder endometriosis as a cause of occult bleeding. World J Gastroenterol. 2007;13:4517-9.
- Iafrate F, Ciolina M, Iannitti M, Baldassari P, Pichi A, Rengo M, et al. Gallbladder and muscular endometriosis: a case report. Abdom Imaging. 2013;38:120-4.

- Monrad-Hansen PW, Buanes T, Young VS, Langebrekke A, Qvigstad E. Endometriosis of the pancreas. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2012;19:521-3.
- Huang B, Mooser A, Carpenter D, Montenegro G, Luu C. A Rare Case of Pancreatic Endometriosis Masquerading as Pancreatic Mucinous Neoplasm. Case Rep Surg. 2021;2021:5570290.
- 21. Yang J, Song RJ, Xu C, Zhang SQ, Zhang W. Renal endometriosis tends to be misdiagnosed as renal tumor: a rare case report. Int Surg. 2015;100:376-80.
- 22. Yang Y, Zhao X, Huang Y. Renal Endometriosis Mimicking Cystic Renal Tumor: Case Report and Literature Review. Front Med (Lausanne). 2021;8:684474.
- 23. Foley CE, Ayers PG, Lee TT. Abdominal Wall Endometriosis. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2022;49:369-80.
- Dridi D, Chiaffarino F, Parazzini F, Donati A, Buggio L, Brambilla M, et al. Umbilical Endometriosis: A Systematic Literature Review and Pathogenic Theory Proposal. J Clin Med. 2022;11:995.
- 25. Chamié LP, Ribeiro DMFR, Tiferes DA, Macedo Neto AC, Serafini PC. Atypical Sites of Deeply Infiltrative Endometriosis: Clinical Characteristics and Imaging Findings. Radiographics. 2018;38:309-28.
- Shamseer L, Moher D, Clarke M, Ghersi D, Liberati A, Petticrew M, et al.: Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015: elaboration and explanation. BMJ. 2015; 349:g7647–g7647.
- Ros C, de Guirior C, Rius M, Escura S, Martínez-Zamora MÁ, Gracia M, et al. Accuracy of Transvaginal Ultrasound Compared to Cystoscopy in the Diagnosis of Bladder Endometriosis Nodules. J Ultrasound Med. 2021;40:1571-8.
- Hudelist G, Tammaa A, Aas-Eng MK, Kirchner L, Fritzer N, Nemeth Z, et al. Outcome of sonography-based minimally invasive surgery for deep infiltrating endometriosis of the ureter and urinary bladder - a retrospective cohort study. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2018;97:277-84.
- 29. Pateman K, Holland TK, Knez J, Derdelis G, Cutner A, Saridogan E, et al. Should a detailed ultrasound examination of the complete urinary tract be routinely performed in women with suspected pelvic endometriosis? Hum Reprod. 2015;30:2802-7.
- Rousset P, Bischoff E, Charlot M, Grangeon F, Dubernard G, Paparel P, et al. Bladder endometriosis: Preoperative MRI analysis with assessment of extension to ureteral orifices. Diagn Interv Imaging. 2021;102:255-63.

- 31. Bielen D, Tomassetti C, Van Schoubroeck D, Vanbeckevoort D, De Wever L, Van den Bosch T, et al. IDEAL study: magnetic resonance imaging for suspected deep endometriosis assessment prior to laparoscopy is as reliable as radiological imaging as a complement to transvaginal ultrasonography. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2020;56(2):255-66.
- Maccagnano C, Pellucchi F, Rocchini L, Ghezzi M, Scattoni V, Montorsi F, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of bladder endometriosis: state of the art. Urol Int. 2012;89:249-58.
- Kerr WS Jr. Endometriosis involving the urinary tract. Clin Obstet Gynecol. 1966;9:331-57.
- Antonelli A, Simeone C, Zani D, Sacconi T, Minini G, Canossi E, et al. Clinical aspects and surgical treatment of urinary tract endometriosis: our experience with 31 cases. Eur Urol. 2006;49:1093-7; discussion 1097-8.
- Wallis CJ, Cheung DC, Garbens A, Kroft J, Carr L, Nathens AB, et al. Occurrence of and Risk Factors for Urological Intervention During Benign Hysterectomy: Analysis of the National Surgical Quality Improvement Program Database. Urology. 2016;97:66-72.
- Dallas KB, Rogo-Gupta L, Elliott CS. Urologic Injury and Fistula After Hysterectomy for Benign Indications. Obstet Gynecol. 2019;134:241-9.
- Oliveira MAP, Raymundo TS, Pereira TRD, Lima FV, da Silva DEA. CO2 Cystoscopy for Evaluation of Ureteral Patency. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2019;26:558-63.
- Johnston K, Rosen D, Cario G, Chou D, Carlton M, Cooper M, et al. Major complications arising from 1265 operative laparoscopic cases: a prospective review from a single center. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2007;14:339-44.
- Siow A, Nikam YA, Ng C, Su MC. Urological complications of laparoscopic hysterectomy: a four-year review at KK Women's and Children's Hospital, Singapore. Singapore Med J. 2007;48:217-21.
- Singh M, Garg G, Sankhwar SN, Kumar M. Laparoscopic ureteroneocystostomy for mid and lower ureteric strictures: Experience from a tertiary center. Urol Ann. 2018;10:243-8.
- 41. Ghosh B, Jain P, Pal DK. Managing Mid and Lower Ureteral Benign Strictures: The Laparoscopic Way. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A. 2018;28:25-32.
- Carmignani L, Ronchetti A, Amicarelli F, Vercellini P, Spinelli M, Fedele L. Bladder psoas hitch in hydronephrosis due to pelvic endometriosis: outcome of urodynamic parameters. Fertil Steril. 2009;92:35-40.
- Chiantera V, Petrillo M, Abesadze E, Sozzi G, Dessole M, Catello Di Donna M, et al. Laparoscopic Neuronavigation for Deep Lateral Pelvic Endometriosis: Clinical and Surgical Implications. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2018;25:1217-23.

- 44. Hirata T, Koga K, Taniguchi F, Takazawa N, Honda R, Tanaka T, et al. National survey of bladder endometriosis cases in Japan. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2021;47:1451-61.
- Panel P, Huchon C, Estrade-Huchon S, Le Tohic A, Fritel X, Fauconnier A. Bladder symptoms and urodynamic observations of patients with endometriosis confirmed by laparoscopy. Int Urogynecol J. 2016Mar;27:445-51.
- 46. de Resende Júnior JAD, Crispi CP, Cardeman L, Buere RT, Fonseca MF. Urodynamic observations and lower urinary tract symptoms associated with endometriosis: a prospective cross-sectional observational study assessing women with deep infiltrating disease. Int Urogynecol J. 2018;29:1349-58.
- Schneider A, Touloupidis S, Papatsoris AG, Triantafyllidis A, Kollias A, Schweppe KW. Endometriosis of the urinary tract in women of reproductive age. Int J Urol. 2006;13:902-4.
- da Silva FS Filho, Favorito LA, Crispi CP, Fonseca MF, de Resende JA Júnior. Dynamic cystoscopy to optimize preoperative assessment of bladder endometriosis. Int Braz J Urol. 2023;49:202-10.
- Sud S, Buxi TBS, Sheth S, Ghuman SS. Endometriosis and Its Myriad Presentations: Magnetic Resonance Imaging-Based Pictorial Review. Indian J Radiol Imaging. 2021;31:193-202.
- Knabben L, Imboden S, Fellmann B, Nirgianakis K, Kuhn A, Mueller MD. Urinary tract endometriosis in patients with deep infiltrating endometriosis: prevalence, symptoms, management, and proposal for a new clinical classification. Fertil Steril. 2015;103:147-52.
- Stopiglia RM, Ferreira U, Faundes DG, Petta CA. Cystoscopyassisted laparoscopy for bladder endometriosis: modified light-to-light technique for bladder preservation. Int Braz J Urol. 2017;43:87-94.
- Freire MJ, Dinis PJ, Medeiros R, Sousa L, Águas F, Figueiredo A. Deep Infiltrating Endometriosis-Urinary Tract Involvement and Predictive Factors for Major Surgery. Urology. 2017;108:65-70.
- Ceccaroni M, Clarizia R, Ceccarello M, De Mitri P, Roviglione G, Mautone D, et al. Total laparoscopic bladder resection in the management of deep endometriosis: "take it or leave it." Radicality versus persistence. Int Urogynecol J. 2020;31:1683-90.
- 54. Chapron C, Marcellin L, Borghese B, Santulli P. Rethinking mechanisms, diagnosis and management of endometriosis. Nat Rev Endocrinol. 2019;15:666-82.
- 55. Kumar S, Tiwari P, Sharma P, Goel A, Singh JP, Vijay MK, et al. Urinary tract endometriosis: Review of 19 cases. Urol Ann. 2012;4:6-12.

- Chamié LP, Blasbalg R, Pereira RM, Warmbrand G, Serafini PC. Findings of pelvic endometriosis at transvaginal US, MR imaging, and laparoscopy. Radiographics. 2011;31:E77-100.
- 57. Pérez-Utrilla Pérez M, Aguilera Bazán A, Alonso Dorrego JM, Hernández A, de Francisco MG, Martín Hernández M, et al. Urinary tract endometriosis: clinical, diagnostic, and therapeutic aspects. Urology. 2009;73:47-51.
- Darwish B, Stochino-Loi E, Pasquier G, Dugardin F, Defortescu G, Abo C, et al. Surgical Outcomes of Urinary Tract Deep Infiltrating Endometriosis. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2017;24:998-1006.
- 59. Di Maida F, Mari A, Morselli S, Campi R, Sforza S, Cocci A, et al. Robotic treatment for urinary tract endometriosis: preliminary results and surgical details in a high-volume single-Institutional cohort study. Surg Endosc. 2020;34:3236-42.
- Abo C, Roman H, Bridoux V, Huet E, Tuech JJ, Resch B, et al. Management of deep infiltrating endometriosis by laparoscopic route with robotic assistance: 3-year experience. J Gynecol Obstet Hum Reprod. 2017;46:9-18.
- Leopold B, Klebanoff JS, Bendifallah S, Ayoubi JM, Soares T, Rahman S, et al. A narrative review of functional outcomes following nerve-sparing surgery for deeply infiltrating endometriosis. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig. 2021;43:123-6.

- 62. de Resende JA Júnior, Cavalini LT, Crispi CP, de Freitas Fonseca M. Risk of urinary retention after nervesparing surgery for deep infiltrating endometriosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurourol Urodyn. 2017;36:57-61.
- 63. Alves J, Puga M, Fernandes R, Pinton A, Miranda I, Kovoor E, et al. Laparoscopic Management of Ureteral Endometriosis and Hydronephrosis Associated With Endometriosis. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. 2017;24:466-72.
- 64. Gabriel B, Nassif J, Trompoukis P, Barata S, Wattiez A. Prevalence and management of urinary tract endometriosis: a clinical case series. Urology. 2011;78:1269-74.

Correspondence address: Luciano Alves Favorito, MD, PhD Rua Professor Gabizo, 104/201 Tijuca, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, 20271-320, Brasil Fax: + 55 21 38728802

E-mail: lufavorito@yahoo.com.br

579





Long-term oncological and surgical outcomes after Video Endoscopic Inguinal Lymphadenectomy (VEIL) in patients with penile cancer

Marcos Tobias-Machado ^{1, 2}, Antonio A. Ornellas ³, Alexandre K. Hidaka ², Luis G. Medina ⁴, Pablo A. L. Mattos ⁵, Ruben S. Besio ⁶, Diego Abreu ⁶, Pedro R. Castro ⁷, Ricardo H. Nishimoto ⁸, Juan Astigueta ⁹, Aurus Dourado ⁵, Roberto D. Machado ¹⁰, Wesley J. Magnabosco ¹¹, Victor Corona-Montes ¹², Gustavo M. Villoldo ¹³, Hamilton C. Zampolli ¹, Anis Taha ¹, Pericles R. Auad ¹, Eliney F. Faria ⁷, Paulo B. O. Arantes ⁸, Alessandro Tavares ¹⁴, Francisco S. M. S. Nascimento ¹⁵, Eder S. Brazão Jr. ¹⁶, Maurício M. Rocha ¹⁶, Walter H. Costa ^{16, 17}, Vinicius Panico ¹⁸, Leonardo O. Reis ^{19,20}, Roberto J. Almeida-Carrera ²¹, Rafael C. Silva ¹⁵, Stênio C. Zequi ^{16, 17}, José R. R. Calixto ¹⁵, Rene Sotelo ⁴ - Members of Penile Cancer Collaborative Coalition-Latin America (PeC-LA)

¹ Instituto do Cancer Arnaldo Vieira de Carvalho, São Paulo, SP, Brasil; ² Centro Universitário Faculdade de Medicina do ABC - FMABC, Santo André, SP, Brasil; ³ Instituto Nacional do Câncer - INCA, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil; ⁴ USC Institute of Urology, Keck School of Medicine, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, USA; ⁵ Associação Piauiense de Combate ao Câncer - Hospital São Marcos, Teresina, PI, Brasil; ⁶ Hospital Pasteur, Montevideo, Uruguay; ⁷ Hospital Felício Rocho, Belo Horizonte, MG, Brasil; ⁸ Hospital Madre Teresa, Belo Horizonte, MG, Brasil; ⁹ Universidad Privada Antenor Orrego, Instituto Regional de Enfermedades Neoplásicas Norte, Trujillo, Perú; ¹⁰ Hospital de Amor, Barretos, Barretos, SP, Brasil; ¹¹ Hospital Câncer de Barretos, Barretos, SP, Brasil; ¹² Hospital General de México "Dr. Eduardo Liceaga", Mexico city, México; ¹³ Alexander Fleming Institute, Buenos Aires, Argentina; ¹⁴ Hospital das Clínicas, Universidade de São Paulo, São Paulo, SP, Brasil; ¹⁵ Universidade Federal do Maranhão - UFMA, Maranhão, MA, Brasil; ¹⁶ AC Camargo Cancer Center, São Paulo, SP, Brasil; ¹⁷ National Institute for Science and Technology in Ocogenomic and Therapeutic Innovation INCIT/INOTE AC Camargo Cancer Center, São Paulo, SP, Brasil; ¹⁸ Hospital Cancer de Londrina, Londrina, PR, Brasil; ¹⁹ UroScience, Escola de Ciências Médicas, Universidade de Campinas – UNICAMP, Campinas, SP, Brasil; ²⁰ Pontifícia Universidade Católica de Campinas, Campinas - PUC, SP, Brasil; ²¹ Hospital Carlos Andrade Marin, Quito, Equador



ABSTRACT

Objective: To report outcomes from the largest multicenter series of penile cancer patients undergoing video endoscopic inguinal lymphadenectomy (VEIL).

Materials and Methods: Retrospective multicenter analysis. Authors of 21 centers from the Penile Cancer Collaborative Coalition-Latin America (PeC-LA) were included. All centers performed the procedure following the same previously described standardized technique. Inclusion criteria included penile cancer patients with no palpable lymph nodes and intermediate/high-risk disease and those with non-fixed palpable lymph nodes less than 4 cm in diameter. Categorical variables are shown as percentages and frequencies whereas continuous variables as mean and range.

Results: From 2006 to 2020, 210 VEIL procedures were performed in 105 patients. Mean age was 58 (45-68) years old. Mean operative time was 90 minutes (60-120). Mean lymph node yield was 10 nodes (6-16). Complication rate was 15.7%, including severe complications in 1.9% of procedures. Lymphatic and skin complications were noted in 8.6 and 4.8% of patients, respectively. Histopathological analysis revealed lymph node involvement in 26.7% of patients with non-palpable nodes. Inguinal recurrence was observed in 2.8% of patients. 10y- overall survival was 74.2% and 10-y cancer specific survival was 84.8%. CSS for pN0, pN1, pN2 and pN3 were 100%, 82.4%, 72.7% and 9.1%, respectively.

Conclusion: VEIL seems to offer appropriate long term oncological control with minimal morbidity. In the absence of non-invasive stratification measures such as dynamic sentinel node biopsy, VEIL emerged as the alternative for the management of nonbulky lymph nodes in penile cancer.

ARTICLE INFO

D Antonio Augusto Ornellas https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6497-511X

Keywords:

Minimally Invasive Surgical Procedures; Laparoscopy; Penis

Int Braz J Urol. 2023; 49: 580-9

Submitted for publication: February 27, 2023

Accepted after revision: May 22, 2023

Published as Ahead of Print: June 20, 2023

INTRODUCTION

Penile cancer (PC) is a rare disease in developed countries with a reported incidence of 1-2 cases per 100,000 males (1). Squamous cell carcinoma, which has several subgroups with various clinical outcomes, accounts for 95% of instances of penile cancer. Penile cancer frequently has a relationship with chronic preputial inflammation brought on by phimosis or lichen sclerosus. Penile cancer risk is decreased by circumcision (hazard ratio: 0.33) (2). HPV was found to be involved in about 40% of penile malignancies (PCs), with HPV 16 being the most common genotype (3). Higher incidences are encountered in some areas of Latin America, Africa and Asia, where it can correspond to 1-2% of malignant diseases in men (4, 5).

Lymphatic spread to inguinal lymph nodes remains as the most important prognostic factor in patients with PC (6). Patients with low volume

581

disease undergoing radical inguinal lymph node dissection have an excellent cancer control and prolonged survival compared to surveillance followed by salvage surgery in case of clinical progression (7).

Despite being recommended by most clinical guidelines, early lymph node dissection in cases of intermediate/high-risk penile cancer is not frequently performed, probably due to high morbidity of the standard procedure (8). Open and VEIL approach have similar safety, overall survival and post-operative outcomes (9).

Over the last 40 years, modified templates, and dynamic sentinel node biopsy (DSNB) were proposed to decrease the morbidity associated with the standard lymph node dissection (10). DSNB false negative rates in large reference centers hangs around 5% (11). Nonetheless, other studies have shown false negative rates as high as 15% (12). In Latin America, DSNB is not commonly utilized, hence, false negative rates of 42% have been described (13).

Endoscopic approach for inguinal lymph node dissection was first described in cadaveric models in 2003 by Bishoff et al. (14). In 2006 Tobias-Machado et al. followed by Sotelo et al. published their first successful experience in patients (15, 16). In 2007, a pilot randomized trial demonstrated the oncological equivalence of VEIL when compared to the open counterpart (17).

After that, several other series and three systematic reviews with pure laparoscopic or robotic techniques have reported further evidence supporting the findings from that landmark comparative study (18-24).

In the present series our goal is to report the larger and longest surgical and oncological outcomes from Latin American patients with penile cancer undergoing VEIL.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This is a retrospective and descriptive study of patients operated from 2006 to 2020 (CAAE:46451021.2.1001.5437).

All patients underwent partial or total penectomy and abdominal and pelvic computed tomography scan or magnetic resonance imaging before management of the lymph nodes. Results were reported following the American Joint Committee on Cancer TNM Classification (8th edition) (25). The study was approved by the central Ethics Committees

The indications for VEIL were clinically palpable nodes < 4 cm non-fixed or non-palpable nodes in patients with intermediate or high-risk penile cancer [12]. All patients underwent bilateral VEIL procedure. Patients with an American Society of Anesthesiologist (ASA) Score > 3 were excluded. No patients in this study received neoadjuvant treatments.

We selected 17 centers that routinely utilize a previously reported VEIL standardized technique (15). After training, each institution collects data according to a standardized questionnaire. A minimum of 5 (five) cases per institution was considered to enter in this study. Patients were followed every 3 months in the first 2 years and twice a year for the following 3 years. Physical examination, laboratory testing, and imaging methods were performed according to the EAU guidelines (12).

Surgical Procedure

Preoperative workup

Palpable nodes are marked with a skin ink. When nodes are difficult to find, such as in obese patients, the node is marked guided by ultrasound. Intravenous second-generation cephalosporin is administered one hour before the procedure.

Surgical procedure

Patient is placed in supine position with thigh abducted. The video system must be placed on the opposite side of the limb that is under intervention at the level of the patient's waist. A 3-trocar configuration is applied distal to the femoral triangle. The working space is insufflated with CO2 at 15 mmHg with quick space distention and kept as low as 5-10 mmHg for the duration of the procedure. The main landmarks are the adductor longus muscle medially, the sartorius muscle laterally and the inguinal ligament superiorly. The saphenous vein is located medially and the spermatic cord and the superficial inguinal ring superior-medially. The saphenous vein is dissected and preserved cranially up to the fossa ovalis close to the safeno-femoral junction. Modified template is recommended in order to reduce lymphatic complications. All cases underwent modified ILND technique. Following the fascia lata we identify the femoral vessels that constitute the deep limit for the dissection. All areolar tissue located medial to femoral artery must be removed. Small vessels are sealed with harmonic scalpel and control of larger lymphatics is obtained using clips. The specimen is totally dissected after ligation of the proximal portion of the lymphatic tissue at the deep portion of the femoral canal.

Perioperative care

Prophylactic intravenous antibiotics are administered routinely during hospital stay. In the 15 days postoperative period, patients can undergo early walking and anti-embolic socks. Suction drain is removed when output is less than 50 mL/day. Hospital discharge does not depend on the drain output. It can be removed in the first 7-10 days post operative presentation. Postoperative use of low molecular weight heparin is not standard, as it is indicated according to each institution's protocol. Post operative antibiotics aren't needed.

Analyzed parameters

Perioperative data such as operative time, 90 postoperative days complications according to Clavien-Dindo classification, hospital stay, lymph node yield, days to remove drain, number of positive nodes, local and systemic recurrence and trocar recurrences were reported. Cancer specific (CSS) and overall survival (OS) were calculated for the pathological nodal stage (pN). Survival outcomes were compared with contemporary series of open surgery to estimate oncological control with VEIL.

Lymphedema was assessed by the same assistant physician according with physical exam and tonometer. Physiotherapy and compression rates also were evaluated.

Statistical Analysis

CSS was calculated using the Kaplan-Meier method, which was stratified by lymph node status (positive vs negative) and lymph node staging (pN1, pN2, or pN3). Survival time was calculated from the time of surgery to death or censored at the date of most recent follow-up for patients who did not die. Univariate Cox regression analysis was used to determine differences in cancerspecific death risk according to lymph node status and lymph node staging. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 24 (IBM SPSS Statistics Subscription for Mac OS).

RESULTS

All 17 centers sent 127 cases to our database, however only 105 with complete follow-up were included in this report. Procedures were bilateral in 105 patients, with a total of 210 groins undergoing VEIL. Median follow-up was 10 years (1-14 years). Clinical characteristics of our sample are shown in Table-1. Mean age of the patients included was 58 (45-68) years old.

Perioperative parameters are described in Table-2. VEIL was performed in 210 groins (105 patients). Mean operative time was 90 minutes (60-120). No conversions were reported. Mean hospital stay was two (1-3) days. Four (3.8%) hospital readmissions were necessary, one due to skin necrosis, two infected lymphoceles. Mean number of retrieved lymph nodes (range) was 10 (6-15).

Postoperative complications according to the Clavien-Dindo system are reported in Table-3. Skin complications corresponded to 4,8 % of the complications with only one (0.5%) severe case (Clavien-Dindo grade 3 or 4).

Lymphatic complications corresponded to 8.6% (14 lymphocele and 4 lymphedema). Three cases did not solve with manual compression, weight loss and exercises and needed further physiotherapy. Major complications in two (1.0%) severe cases needed surgical lymphocele drainage.

Sixteen patients (15.2%) died from penile cancer disease. Twelve (11.4%) died from other non-penile cancer causes. The median follow-up for cancer-free patients was 10 years. Four (3.8%) presented with pT1 disease, the majority (96.2%) presented with pT2 or pT3 disease. Seventy-one (67.6%) presented with no palpable lymph nodes, whereas 63 (88.7%) were high risk and eight (11.3%) had intermediate risk to develop regional metastasis, according with the EUA risk stratification. Similar results were observed in the Cubillas Risk Score.

Positive lymph nodes were observed in 26.7% of cN0 patients and negative lymph nodes were noticed in 41.1% in cN+ group. Cancer specific survival (CSS) and Overall Survival (OS) were reported in the Figure-1. In this series inguinal recurrence was 3,8% and disease progression were noticed in 41% of the pN+ group (16/39), with 3 cases in pN1 group, 3 cases in pN2 group and 10 in pN3 group. Ten year cancer specific survival was 84,8% and 10-year overall survival was 73,3% (Figure-1). In this series inguinal recurrence was 3.8% and disease progression was noticed in 41% of the pN+ group (16/39), with 3 cases in pN1 group, 3 cases in pN1 group and 10 in pN3 group.

		n
Age Mean (Range)	-	58 (45-68)
ВМІ	< 25	19
	25-30	63
	> 30	23
ECOG	0	85
	1	20
Tumor Pathological Classification (pT)	T1	4
Age Mean (Range)	-	58 (45-68)
BMI (%)	< 25	19 (18.1)
	25-30	63 (60)
	> 30	23 (21.3)
ECOG (%)	0	85 (81)
	1	20 (19)
Tumor Pathological Classification (pT) (%)	T1	4 (3.8)
	T2	23 (21.9)
	Т3	78 (78)
Lymph Node Clinical Classification (cN)I(%)	NO	71 (67.6)
	N1	28 (26.7)
	N2	6 (5.7)
EAU Risk Group for NOI (%)	Intermediate	8 (11.3)
	High	63 (88.7)
Cubillas Risk Scorel (%)	Intermediate	10 (14.1)
	High	61 (85.9)
CT Scanl (%)		90 (85.7)
MRI (%)		15 (14.3)

Table 1 - Patient characteristics (n = 105 patients).

BMI = Body mass index; ECOG = Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group; EAU = European Association of Urology; CT = Computed tomography; MRI = Magnetic resonance imaging

Ten-year cancer specific survival was 84.8 % and 10-year overall survival was 73.3% (Figure-1).

Survival and histopathological analysis after bilateral VEIL are reported in Table-3. No portal seeding was documented. One-hundred-five patients with cN0-N2 underwent bilateral VEIL, whereas after histopathological analysis, sixty-six revealed to be pN0, seventeen pN1, eleven pN2 and eleven pN3. The 10-year OS and CSS regarding regional lymph node disease are reported at Table-3. CSS for pN0, pN1, pN2 and pN3 were 100%, 82.4%, 72.7% and 9.1%, respectively.

	Mean	Range			
Surgical time (minutes)	90	60-120			
Conversion	0	0			
Number of Lymph nodes retrieve	10	6-15			
Drainage time (days)	7	3-21			
Hospital Stay (days)	2	1-3			
Hospital Readmission (%)	4 (3,8)				
System	n	Overall (%)	Clavien 1 or 2 (n)	Clavien 3 or 4 (n)	Clavien 3 or 4 (%)
Skin	10	4.8%	9	1	0.5%
Lymphatic	18	8.6%	16	2	1.0%
Vascular	0	0	0	0	0
Overall	28	13.3%	25	4	1.9%

Table 2 - Perioperative	data a	nd post	operative	complications	according	with	Clavien-Dindo	Classification	of 2 ⁻	10 VEIL
procedures.										

Table 3 - VEIL 10-year Overall and Cancer Specific (CS) Survival Rate according with Regional Lymph Node Disease (n = 105 patients).

Histopathological Stage (pN)	Ν	Overall Deaths (n)	Overall Survival (%)	CS* Deaths (n)	CS* Survival (%)
0	66	7	89.4%	0	100.0%
1	17	4	76.5%	3	82.4%
2	11	6	45.5%	3	72.7%
3	11	11	0.0%	10	9.1%
Total	105	28	73.3%	16	84.8%

DISCUSSION

Inguinal management may vary according with the presence or absence of palpable lymph nodes. Those without palpable nodes and high risk of inguinal involvement need any kind of inguinal screening. In countries with high volume reference centers DNSL can achieve excellent oncological outcomes with false-negative rates of 5% regarding the low complication rates (10). In positive cases, ILND is mandatory. For patients with palpable nodes, EAU guideline recommends image staging with PET-CT and ILND as treatment (11). In Latin America there is no report with good outcomes with DNSL (12) and PET-CT is not wide available to PC patients. In this scenario, the ILND is the standard of care in patients with risk of nodal spread.

After the period of the initial learning curve, VEIL has been gaining growing acceptance. One of the strengths of our study is that the pioneers of VEIL technique served as mentors for all surgeons performing the procedure in this study, ascertaining standardization of the technique across all participating centers. Our perioperative parameters showed acceptable operative time and no conversions at the 17 centers. The patients were discharged





В



A) Ten-year cancer specific survival (CSS); B) Ten-year overall survival; The blue line represents the pN0 patients; The red line represents the pN1 patients; The green line represents the pN2 patients; The purple line represents the pN3 patients.

after a median of 2 (range 1- 5) days of hospital stay. A recent metanalysis including 290 patients in 10 comparative studies reports reduced morbidity of VEIL when compared to the open procedure. Oncological outcomes were similar in a short-term follow-up (25). Other two systematic reviews confirmed these results (26, 27).

Small number of subjects (since this is a rare disease) and absence of long term follow up is a major limitation of previous VEIL studies. So far, the studies with the longest follow-up reported good oncological outcomes after a median of 16 to 55 months (23, 24). In the present study we report the outcomes after a median of 120 months, which is the longest follow-up published so far.

Reduced skin morbidity is the most robust advantage observed in VEIL (4.8%) compared to open surgery series (30-60%) (5-8) followed by an important decrease in lymphatic morbidity. Some preliminary studies of VEIL reported higher incidence of lymphocele probably due to use of energy to seal lymphatic vessels. We refined our technique with caution to identify lymphatic vessels and clip the distal extremity instead of cauterizing it. This modification might have the potential to reduce the lymphatic events. Future comparative studies may prove this concept. Lymphedema and lymphocele are initially managed with conservative treatment with a low-fat diet, low hydric oral intake associated with compression and physiotherapy. A recent metanalysis shown reduced lymphoedema with VEIL vs O-ILND (OR=3.23, 95% CI [1.51, 6.88], P=0.002), however with no difference in lymphocele (OR=0.83, 95% CI [0.31, 2.23], P=0.720) (25). Surgical drainage along with third or fourth generation cephalosporin is administered when an infected lymphocele is suspected. Reoperation with surgical drainage and lymphatic control was carried out in only 2 cases.

Oncological principles include removal of all tissue superficial to the fascia lata inside the limits of the femoral triangle and medial to the femoral artery under fascia lata including the oval fossa and the femoral channel. To achieve complete removal of lymphatic nodes, ultrasound imaging and palpation before and after procedure were important to avoid leaving some "lost" nodes at the superficial area. Dissection of deep femoral triangle was easier and vascular accidents were extremely rare and controlled laparoscopically, with no conversion needed. Mean number of retrieved nodes in this report was 10, which is comparable to the number of retrieved nodes reported in the open approach series. Most series showed that endoscopic techniques can remove an equivalent number of nodes when compared to the standard open surgery (4–8).

The number of metastatic lymph nodes reflects severity of the disease and influences survival. Some authors tried to discriminate between good and poor risk groups of patients. A significant difference was observed between 1 to 3 positive inguinal nodes vs. 4 or more nodes, in accordance with Li et al., in a 2018 retrospective series of 196 patients that demonstrated similar outcomes (28). In this current study we have found similar results. Most patients with pN3 disease had the worst CSS with early recurrence and poor survival two years after the surgery, with a CSS of only 10% after 5 years of follow up. Patients with pN1 and pN2 disease had similar OS and CSS rates.

Previous reports of open surgery showed positive lymph nodes in 20-30% of high-risk patients with no palpable nodes (cN0) (5-8). In the present series we found 26.7% of cN0 patients with positive inguinal nodes after histopathological analysis. In those with palpable nodes, a more intensive preoperative workup may be the key point to identify the high-risk patient in order to offer neoadjuvant (NAC) protocols to avoid upstaging ILDN/VEIL (29). In this series all NAC cases were excluded due lack of standardized protocols; some cases received taxane and others not, and different time to treat, many received NAC before and others after the penectomy. A future collaborative protocol from the Penile Cancer Collaborative Coalition-Latin America (PeC-LA) may answer this question.

Overall inguinal recurrence after VEIL was rare (3.8%). Pelvic and systemic recurrence are unfortunately higher in patients with extracapsular extension (pN3). Even when considering salvage chemo or radiotherapy mean survival in this situation was poor (6-9 months). No cases of trocar seeding were documented. We hypothesize that the outcomes were more correlated with aggressive biology of disease than with surgical technique. The majority of patients of our series presented with low volume disease. Initial inguinal disease and adjuvant chemotherapy for positive inguinal nodes can explain the excellent survival curves observed in the present study. No patients with neoadjuvant treatment were considered in this study. Adjuvant chemotherapy was carried out for all pN2+ patients. Adjuvant radiotherapy was considered in the palliative care scenario and/or pN3 patients with local or systemic recurrence.

The findings of our study must be analyzed in light of some limitations. First, there are limitations due to the retrospective design of this study. Second, due to the rarity of PC, the study encompassed a long period of time with possible heterogeneity in the management of patients across different periods. Third, due to the learning curve of a new procedure, the initial cases at each participating center might have had a negative impact on the outcomes of our study. Fourth, despite standard follow-up protocol, retrospective studies may have underreported complications. We expect that with further dissemination of the technique to other centers that treat PC and with further improvements in the surgical technique we will see even better outcomes in the near future.

In the last few years, we have observed an increase in the adoption of a Robotic Assisted- VEIL (R-VEIL) approach, probably stimulated by a seemingly shorter learning curve when compared to pure laparoscopic VEIL (19, 27). Currently R-VEIL and conventional VEIL outcomes seem to be quite comparable. Further improvements associated with robotic platforms are expected for the near future. We speculate that R-VEIL will be standard of care in the next decade when inguinal lymph node dissection will be expanded for cases with N0-N2 disease. Future randomized studies will be important to demonstrate clinically important advantages of R-VEIL over pure VEIL.

CONCLUSION

In patients with low volume disease VEIL seems to offer excellent long term oncological control with reduced morbidity, specially the skin complications. In the absence of non-invasive stratification such as dynamic sentinel node biopsy, VEIL emerges as an alternative staging tool with simultaneous nodal treatment to this aggressive disease.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

REFERENCES

- Koifman L, Vides AJ, Koifman N, Carvalho JP, Ornellas AA. Epidemiological aspects of penile cancer in Rio de Janeiro: evaluation of 230 cases. Int Braz J Urol. 2011;37:231-40; discussion 240-3.
- Hakenberg OW, Dräger DL, Erbersdobler A, Naumann CM, Jünemann KP, Protzel C. The Diagnosis and Treatment of Penile Cancer. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2018;115:646-52.
- Crocetto F, Arcaniolo D, Napolitano L, Barone B, La Rocca R, Capece M, et al. Impact of Sexual Activity on the Risk of Male Genital Tumors: A Systematic Review of the Literature. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18:8500.
- Favorito LA, Nardi AC, Ronalsa M, Zequi SC, Sampaio FJ, Glina S. Epidemiologic study on penile cancer in Brazil. Int Braz J Urol. 2008;34:587-91; discussion 591-3.
- Thomas A, Necchi A, Muneer A, Tobias-Machado M, Tran ATH, Van Rompuy AS, et al. Penile cancer. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2021;7:11.
- Leone A, Diorio GJ, Pettaway C, Master V, Spiess PE. Contemporary management of patients with penile cancer and lymph node metastasis. Nat Rev Urol. 2017;14:335-47.
- Ornellas AA, Kinchin EW, Nóbrega BL, Wisnescky A, Koifman N, Quirino R. Surgical treatment of invasive squamous cell carcinoma of the penis: Brazilian National Cancer Institute long-term experience. J Surg Oncol. 2008;97:487-95.
- Stuiver MM, Djajadiningrat RS, Graafland NM, Vincent AD, Lucas C, Horenblas S. Early wound complications after inguinal lymphadenectomy in penile cancer: a historical cohort study and risk-factor analysis. Eur Urol. 2013;64:486-92.
- Bada M, Crocetto F, Nyirady P, Pagliarulo V, Rapisarda S, Aliberti A, et al. Inguinal lymphadenectomy in penile cancer patients: a comparison between open and video endoscopic approach in a multicenter setting. J Basic Clin Physiol Pharmacol. 2023;34:383-9.
- Neto AS, Tobias-Machado M, Ficarra V, Wroclawski ML, Amarante RD, Pompeo AC, et al. Dynamic sentinel node biopsy for inguinal lymph node staging in patients with penile cancer: a systematic review and cumulative analysis of the literature. Ann Surg Oncol. 2011;18:2026-34.

- Jakobsen JK, Alslev L, Ipsen P, Costa JC, Krarup KP, Sommer et al. DaPeCa-3: promising results of sentinel node biopsy combined with (18) F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography/computed tomography in clinically lymph nodenegative patients with penile cancer - a national study from Denmark. BJU Int. 2016;118:102-11.
- 12. [No authors]. European Urologic Association (EAU) Guidelines 2021. Penile Cancer. [Internet]. Available at. <http://uroweb.org/guideline/penile-cancer>.
- Gonzaga-Silva LF, Tavares JM, Freitas FC, Tomas Filho ME, Oliveira VP, Lima MV. The isolated gamma probe technique for sentinel node penile carcinoma detection is unreliable. Int Braz J Urol. 2007;33:58-63; discussion 64-7.
- Bishoff JA, Lackland AF, Basler JW, Teichman JM, Thompson IM: Endoscopy subcutaneous modified inguinal lymph node dissection (ESMIL) for squamous cell carcinoma of the penis. J Urol. 2003: 169; (Suppl. 4): 78.
- 15. Tobias-Machado M, Tavares A, Ornellas AA, Molina WR Jr, Juliano RV, Wroclawski ER. Video endoscopic inguinal lymphadenectomy: a new minimally invasive procedure for radical management of inguinal nodes in patients with penile squamous cell carcinoma. J Urol. 2007;177:953-7; discussion 958.
- Sotelo R, Sánchez-Salas R, Carmona O, Garcia A, Mariano M, Neiva G, et al. Endoscopic lymphadenectomy for penile carcinoma. J Endourol. 2007;21:364-7; discussion 367.
- Tobias-Machado M, Tavares A, Silva MN, Molina WR Jr, Forseto PH, Juliano RV, et. al. Can video endoscopic inguinal lymphadenectomy achieve a lower morbidity than open lymph node dissection in penile cancer patients? J Endourol. 2008 Aug;22(8):1687-91.
- Romanelli P, Nishimoto R, Suarez R, Decia R, Abreu D, Machado M, Arroyo C, et. al. Video endoscopic inguinal lymphadenectomy: surgical and oncological results. Actas Urol Esp. 2013;37:305-10. [English, Spanish].
- Singh A, Jaipuria J, Goel A, Shah S, Bhardwaj R, Baidya S, et al. Comparing Outcomes of Robotic and Open Inguinal Lymph Node Dissection in Patients with Carcinoma of the Penis. J Urol. 2018;199:1518-25.
- Meneses AD, Mattos PAL, Eulálio WMN Filho, Fé TSM, Rodrigues RMM, Tobias-Machado M. Initial experience of video endoscopic inguinal Lymphadenectomy in a center located at northeast brazilian region. Int Braz J Urol. 2019;45:325-31.
- Pahwa HS, Misra S, Kumar A, Kumar V, Agarwal A, Srivastava R. Video Endoscopic Inguinal Lymphadenectomy (VEIL)--a prospective critical perioperative assessment of feasibility and morbidity with points of technique in penile carcinoma. World J Surg Oncol. 2013;11:42.

- 22. Kumar V, Sethia KK. Prospective study comparing videoendoscopic radical inguinal lymph node dissection (VEILND) with open radical ILND (OILND) for penile cancer over an 8-year period. BJU Int. 2017;119:530-4.
- Thyavihally YB, Dev P, Waigankar SS, Pednekar A, Kulkarni B, Sharma A, et al. Comparative study of perioperative and survival outcomes after video endoscopic inguinal lymphadenectomy (VEIL) and open inguinal lymph node dissection (O-ILND) in the management of inguinal lymph nodes in carcinoma of the penis. J Robot Surg. 2021;15:905-14.
- Schwentner C, Todenhöfer T, Seibold J, Alloussi SH, Mischinger J, Aufderklamm S, et al. Endoscopic inguinofemoral lymphadenectomy--extended follow-up. J Endourol. 2013;27:497-503.
- Hu J, Li H, Cui Y, Liu P, Zhou X, Liu L, et al. Comparison of clinical feasibility and oncological outcomes between video endoscopic and open inguinal lymphadenectomy for penile cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2019;98:e15862.
- Zekan DS, Dahman A, Hajiran AJ, Luchey AM, Chahoud J, Spiess PE. Prognostic predictors of lymph node metastasis in penile cancer: a systematic review. Int Braz J Urol. 2021;47:943-56.
- 27. Patel KN, Salunke A, Bakshi G, Jayaprakash D, Pandya SJ. Robotic-Assisted Video-Endoscopic Inguinal Lymphadenectomy (RAVEIL) and Video-Endoscopic Inguinal Lymphadenectomy (VEIL) versus Open Inguinal Lymph-Node Dissection (OILND) in carcinoma of penis: Comparison of perioperative outcomes, complications and oncological outcomes. A systematic review and meta-analysis. Urol Oncol. 2022;40:112.e11-112.e22.
- Li Z, Guo S, Wu Z, Han H, Li Z, Wang Y, et al. Proposal for reclassification of N staging system in penile cancer patients, based on number of positive lymph nodes. Cancer Sci. 2018;109:764-70.
- Chakiryan NH, Dahmen A, Bandini M, Pederzoli F, Marandino L, Albersen M, et al. Risk factors and survival outcomes for upstaging after inguinal lymph node dissection for cN1 penile squamous cell carcinoma. Urol Oncol. 2021;39:838.e7-838.e13.

Correspondence address: Marcos Tobias-Machado, MD Centro Universitário Faculdade de Medicina do ABC - FMABC Rua Continental 50, São Bernardo do Campo, SP, Brasil Telephone: + 55 11 99932-9944 E-mail: tobias-machado@uol.com.br





Treating asthma in patients with enuresis: repercussions on urinary symptoms

Patricia Dahan ¹, Pricila Mara Novais de Oliveira ², Aparecida Regina Brum ³, André Costa Pinto Ribeiro ⁴, André Avarese Figueiredo ⁵, José de Bessa Jr., ⁶ José Murillo B. Netto ⁷

¹ Departamento de Pediatria, Faculdade de Medicina da Faculdade de Ciências Médicas e da Saúde de Juiz de Fora (SUPREMA), Juiz de Fora, MG, Brasil; ² Departamento de Fisioterapia Pediátrica do Hospital Universitário da Universidade Federal de Juiz de Fora (UFJF), Juiz de Fora, MG, Brasil; ³ Serviço de Otorrinolaringologia do Hospital Evandro Ribeiro, Juiz de Fora, MG, Brasil; ⁴ Departamento de Otorrinolaringologia, Departamento de Cirurgia do Hospital Universitário da Universidade Federal de Juiz de Fora (UFJF), Juiz de Fora, MG, Brasil; ⁵ Departamento de Cirurgia- Divisão de Urologia, Universidade Federal de Juiz de Fora (UFJF), Juiz de Fora (UFJF), Juiz de Fora, MG, Brasil; ⁵ Departamento de Cirurgia - Divisão de Urologia, Universidade Federal de Juiz de Fora (UFJF), Juiz de Fora, MG, Brasil; ⁶ Departamento de Cirurgia - Divisão de Urologia, Universidade Federal de Juiz de Fora (UFJF), Juiz de Fora, MG, Brasil; ⁶ Departamento de Cirurgia - Divisão de Urologia, Universidade Federal de Juiz de Fora (UFJF), Juiz de Fora, MG, Brasil; ⁶ Departamento de Cirurgia - Divisão de Urologia, Universidade Estadual de Feira de Santana, Feira de Santana, Bahia, Brasil; ⁷ Departamento de Cirurgia, Faculdade de Ciências Médicas e da Saúde de Juiz de Fora (SUPREMA), Juiz de Fora, MG, Brasil

ABSTRACT

Background: Children presenting enuresis are more likely to be asthmatics. The association between enuresis and sleep-disordered breathing has already been demonstrated and several studies have shown at least partial improvement of two thirds or more of the cases of enuresis adenoidectomy. Studies have already described associations between enuresis and allergies but do not assess the repercussions of allergy treatment in enuretics.

Objective: This study aims to evaluated whether asthma treatment alters the course of enursis and whether there is any predictive factor associated with this improvement.

Materials and Methods: Twenty patients (5 – 12 years old) with uncontrolled enuresis and asthma, received treatment for asthma. Children were also assessed for the presence of rhinitis and other allergies. The control of asthma was confirmed by a validated question-naire and primary enuresis by clinical history and wet night diaries. Patients received only asthma treatment.

Results: At least partial improvement of enuresis was observed in 55% of the patients with an increase in 64.4% in the number of dry nights at the end of the study (p=0.01). The "presence of other allergies" and "obstruction seen in nasal endoscopy" positively influenced the improvement of urinary symptoms (OR = 3.350; CI 0.844–13.306) and (OR=1.272; CI 0.480-3.370), respectively.

Discussion: Until now, only patients presenting upper airway obstruction were known to benefit from the improvement of urinary symptoms when undergoing treatment for their respiratory problems. In our study, we found at least partial improvement in enuresis in 55% of our patients, with only clinical asthma treatment.

Conclusion: Controlling asthma in children with primary enuresis resulted in a significant increase in dry nights.

ARTICLE INFO

D *Patricia Dahan* https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4985-1212

Keywords: Enuresis; Asthma; Apnea

Int Braz J Urol. 2023; 49: 590-8

Submitted for publication: March 05, 2023

Accepted after revision: July 07, 2023

Published as Ahead of Print: July 20, 2023

INTRODUCTION

Enuresis is characterized by the involuntary loss of urine during sleep in children five years of age and older. According to the criteria of the International Children's Continence Society (ICCS), the definition of enuresis is established when there is at least one episode of urinary loss per month for at least three consecutive months, and after ruling out other organic diagnoses (1). The prevalence of enuresis is approximately 5 to 10% in children with seven years of age and 3% in adolescents with a great impact in quality of life (2).

Asthma is a heterogeneous disease caused by chronic inflammation of the lower airways (LOA) and clinically manifests with recurrent episodes of wheezing, dyspnea, tightness of the chest and coughing. The WHO lists asthma prevalence rates from 1 to 18% in different countries (3). Sleep-disordered breathing (SDB) are associated with upper airway obstruction (UAO). At the extremes are primary snoring, consisting only of respiratory noise, and Obstructive Sleep Apnea Syndrome (OSAS), in which there are repeated episodes of UAO collapse with drops in oxygen saturation (4). Epidemiological studies indicate a prevalence of 10 to 27% of primary snoring and 0.5 to 9% of apneas reported by parents (5).

The association between enuresis and SDB has already been demonstrated in several studies (6-9). Various studies have shown resolution of two thirds or more of the cases of enuresis following surgical resolution of SDB through an adenoidectomy, with or without tonsillectomy (6-9). Several pathophysiological mechanisms have been proposed to explain the association between enuresis and SDB. The main one is the release of brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) by cardiac cells after atrial wall distention due to increased negative intrathoracic pressure in upper respiratory obstruction. The increase in BNP levels is responsible for the increase in sodium and water excretion, in addition to inhibiting the release of vasopressin and the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (10). In addition, partial or complete UAO events in SDB, micro-recurrent awakenings caused by obstruction of the upper airways lead to an increased threshold of awakening and stimulation such as bladder filling or contractions of the detrusor muscle become ineffective. (9, 10).

The association between enuresis and asthma at some point in life was described by Rawashdeh et al. (2002) (11). This association was also demonstrated by our group in schoolchildren from 6 to 14 years of age. We showed that children with enuresis are 2.8 times more likely to be asthmatic (8). Recently, a study carried out in Turkey confirmed a higher prevalence of enuresis in asthmatic children (12).

It is questioned whether this association found between enuresis and asthma is related to the concomitant presence of anatomic obstruction of the upper airway, as in OSAS. Abnormalities of the UAO and LOA can coexist according to the united airway hypothesis (13). Epidemiological studies have already confirmed the association between allergic rhinitis and asthma (14). Likewise, wheezing children have a higher incidence of snoring and nocturnal apnea. Apnea severity is associated with asthma severity, and the apneahypopnea index (AHI) is higher in children with uncontrolled asthma (15).

Since the association between asthma and enuresis is related to the presence of concomitant OSA, the resolution of UAO in enuretic and asthmatic patients would be the only determining factor for the resolution of urinary and asthma symptoms. This hypothesis, however, does not clarify the association between enuresis and a history of allergy confirmed by skin tests found by Rawashdeh et al. (2002) (11).

Several studies associate enuresis with allergic conditions such as urticaria, seasonal rhinitis, or drug or food allergy (11, 16, 17). The risk of enuresis is 1.7 times greater in patients with allergic rhinitis, and this risk was higher in boys and patients with comorbidities such as asthma and topic dermatitis. (11, 18). These studies do not assess the repercussions of allergy treatment in enuretics patients with respiratory symptoms. Assuming that the treatment of respiratory allergies can influence the improvement of enuresis, we would have the possibility of shortening the approach in this group of patients with both diseases. Therefore, this study aims to assess whether asthma treatment alters the course of primary enuresis in children from 5 to 12 years of age with both diseases, and whether "upper airway obstruction", the "presence of rhinitis or other allergies reported by parents" and "obesity" are predictive of this improvement in urinary symptoms with asthma treatment.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

A prospective, uncontrolled interventional study was conducted, in which 20 patients from 5 to 12 years of age with uncontrolled asthma and with primary enuresis received inhaled treatment for asthma between September 2019 and April 2022.

This study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Committee (66961717.7./0000.51.03) and all parents and children signed a free an informed consent and ascent form, respectively.

The recruitment of participants with uncontrolled asthma and concurrent enuresis was carried out in pediatric pulmonology and pediatric urology outpatient clinics, in addition to an active search for patients at the level of public schools and basic health units, through posters placed with telephone contact. Only patients over 5 years and under 15 years of age, with current uncontrolled asthma and current enuresis were eligible to participate.

In order to define the presence of enuresis we followed the criteria of ICCS i.e., the answer "yes" by the parent to the question: "has your child wet the bed at night at least once a month for at least three consecutive months?". Only children with primary enuresis (PE) participated in the project (1).

To define current asthma, parents initially answered the following question from the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) questionnaire (19): "In the last 12 months, has your child had wheezing in the chest?" (20). Those who answered "yes" were then asked about the level of disease control in the last month. To select children with uncontrolled asthma, we used the Global Initiative for Asthma criteria (3). The exclusion criteria were: age under five years, presence of diseases and/or use of medications that may interfere with the functioning of the bladder or urethral sphincter, diabetes, facial malformations and/or genetic syndromes with upper airway obstruction, secondary enuresis, controlled asthma, or refusal to participate in the study.

At the first consultation with the researcher, the selected patient and his/her guardian answered a detailed medical history for asthma prepared by the author herself, as well as for enuresis. The clinical diagnosis of allergic rhinitis was defined through the presence of symptoms such as nasal itching, nasal congestion, runny nose, sneezing, itchy eyes, or others, such as throat clearing. Other allergies such as urticaria without a defined cause, food or drug allergy, strophulus, anaphylactic shock, sudden swelling of the eyes and/or mouth and atopic dermatitis lesions were also questioned. The assessment of the level of asthma control in the last month was carried out in children from 5 to 11 years of age using the Childhood Asthma Control Test (c-ACT) guestionnaire and the Asthma Control Test (ACT) questionnaire for children over 12 years of age.

The patients were then consulted at a pediatric urology outpatient clinic, where their guardians were instructed on the collection of the threeday voiding diary and the Dry Nights Diary, which corresponds to a record of dry or wet nights for 14 days. In the voiding diary, the child and their guardians recorded all episodes related to fluid intake and urination, as well as urgency and incontinence, for three days.

All patients underwent nasal endoscopy performed by the same otolaryngologist to diagnose and measure a possible cause of upper respiratory obstruction, such as adenoid hypertrophy. The examination was performed with a Pentax[®] 10RP3 fiber naso-pharyngo-laryngoscope and the classification of UAO described in percentage of UAO: from 0-25%; 25-50%; 50-75% and equal to or greater than 75% according to the Brodsky classification used to assess palatine tonsils (21).

Asthma treatment was started after the first interview, nasal endoscopy and collection of diaries. For that, inhaled beclomethasone was used at a dose of 200 mcg every 12 hours, administered through a spacer with mouthpiece, a device that allows for the application of the aerosol and minimizes problems of inadequate inhalation (22).

Subsequent consultations were monthly and, in addition to a physical examination (determination of BMI), it was included an assessment of the inhalation technique to avoid possible medication application errors, the patient's level of asthma control and the frequency of enuresis assessed by collecting a diary of continuous dry and wet nights. If the level of control indicated uncontrolled asthma (score less than 20 points on the c-ACT or ACT questionnaires) in any of the subsequent visits, even with continuous treatment and the inhalation mechanism performed properly, then the treatment was adjusted to a high dose of inhaled corticosteroid associated with a long-acting bronchodilator (salmeterol and fluticasone at a dosage of 25/125 mcg, two sprays every 12 hours) (21).

The project stages are listed in Figure-1.

Through a diary of dry and wet nights, we defined the number of dry nights over 30 days at the entrance and exit of the survey. We consider any improvement (partial and total improvement) above 50% improvement as per ICCS criteria (1).

Quantitative, continuous, or ordinal variables were described by their measures of central tendency (means or medians) while nominal or qualitative variables were described by their absolute values, percentages, or proportions. We used the Student's t test to compare the difference of the main continuous variable (number of dry/wet nights). In order to assess the measures of the effects of the independent variables (UAO; presence of allergies and obesity) with the binomial variable (improvement of enuresis according to ICCS criteria) we used logistic regression analysis. The statistical program Jamovi (Version 1.6) was used for the analyses. The strategy for selecting the

Figure 1- Description of the project stages from admission to the end of the survey.



variables was forward and the interpretation of the models was based on the analysis of the odds, AIC, deviance and R2 squared.

RESULTS

Thirty-two children with current primary enuresis and uncontrolled asthma who met the inclusion criteria for the study were recruited; of these, 12 dropped out of the study in the first months of treatment or even before starting it.

Therefore, a total of 20 children, 5 to 12 (7.4 \pm 2.41) years of age, being 10 boys completed the entire six-month follow-up period. Five patients (25%), all boys, were obese for their age. All patients had symptoms of allergic rhinitis, as well as at least some other type of allergy (Table-1). The results of the nasal endoscopy described that 70% of the children had at least an UAO of 50% with 60% upper than 75%. A total of 15 children had non- monosymptomatic enuresis and the symptoms related were: urgency, urge incontinence, increased or infrequent micturition.

All patients presented control of their asthma symptoms in the first 2 months of treatment and 7 of the 20 patients (35%) required the addition of long-term bronchodilator (salmeterol) to the inhalation corticosteroid to achieve this control. There was no correlation between the need

Table 1 - Characteristics of the	population studied.
----------------------------------	---------------------

Characteristics assessed	n (%)
Obesity	5 (25%)
Male	5 (100%)
Female	0 (0%)
Presence of allergic rhinitis symptoms	20 (100%)
Non-monosymptomatic enuresis	15 (75%)
Report of other allergies (food, drug, etc.)	20 (100%)
One allergy	6 (30%)
Two allergies	7 (35%)
Three allergies	5 (25%)
Four or more allergies	2 (10%)

for bronchodilator addition with improvement in urinary symptoms. After six months of asthma treatment and according to the ICCS classification, three patients had complete improvement of enuresis (improvement of urinary symptoms greater than 99%) and eight patients had partial improvement of enuresis (50 to 99% resolution of symptoms). Therefore, 55% of the patients had at least a partial response (50% or more reduction) in enuresis during the course of the study.

A mean increase in dry nights of 64.4% (p<0.01) over 30 days was observed at the end of treatment (Figure-2).

Through logistic regression, the presence of other allergies and obstruction in nasal endoscopy positively influenced this improvement (OR=3.350; CI 0.844-13.306) and (OR=1.272; CI 0.480-3.370). The independent variable "obesity" did not influence the improvement in enuresis of the patients (OR = 0.361; CI 0.023-5.641) (Table-2)..

DISCUSSION

The results presented here show an improvement in enuresis with the treatment of asthma in patients with both diseases and, therefore, bring a new treatment perspective for this group of children presenting both enuresis and respiratory symptoms. Until now, only patients presenting upper airway obstruction were known to benefit from the improvement of urinary symptoms when undergoing treatment for their respiratory problems, as described that surgical intervention for UAO can treat up to two thirds of children presenting enuresis (6–9).

In our study, we found at least partial improvement in enuresis in 55% of our patients without any surgical intervention, with only clinical asthma treatment. The decrease in wet nights over 30 days, at the beginning and end of the study, was 35.6%.

Nocturnal enuresis has a spontaneous resolution rate of 15% per year. We followed our patients for about half a year and we were unable to differentiate spontaneous improvement from improvement with the proposed treatment. However, our results seem to be superior to spontaneous resolution (15% total resolution and 40% partial resolution in 6 months).


Figure 2 - Increase of the number of dry nights over 30 days at the entrance and exit of the survey.

We know that not all children with enuresis and SDB who undergo surgical correction of upper airway obstruction show improvement in urinary symptoms. Some authors have tried to elucidate the reason why some respond and others do not. It was observed that the response is better in those whose preoperative sleep study shows greater severity of apnea (greater number of obstructive events and awakenings) (23). Due to the difficult access to the sleep study exam, we defined the degree of obstruction of the upper airways of our patients through flexible endoscopy and, therefore, we do not have information on the clinical repercussion of this obstruction during sleep (apnea and hypopnea index). The endoscopic evaluation is momentary and we assume that the

Table 2 - More stable binomial logistic regression model.

Binomial logistic regression		Dev 2	AIC	R2		
Dradiator	Fatimata	95% Confidence Interval		— 31.4	0.224	
Predictor	Estimate	Lower	Upper	SE	р	OR
Obesity	1.0201	-3.770	1.7301	1.4032	0.467	0.361
Allergies	1.2089	-0.170	2.5882	0.7037	0.086	3.350
Nasal endoscopy	0.2405	-0.734	1.2151	0.4973	0.629	1.272
WN in 30 days	0.1165	-0.279	0.0457	0.0828	0.159	0.089

Estimates represent the log odds of "CLASSIF. ICCS = 1" (improvement of enuresis) vs. "CLASSIF. ICCS = 0" (no improvement) AIC=AKAIKE criteria; OR=Odds ratio; SE (Standard error); WN = wet nights

DN start : Dry nights over 30 days at the entrance of the survey ; DN End: Dry nights over 30 days at the exit of the survey

obstruction found may be overestimated by the edema found in situations of allergic rhinitis.

Among the factors that positively influenced the improvement of enuresis according to ICCS criteria, we had the presence of allergies other than rhinitis and asthma. All 20 patients reported symptoms of allergic rhinitis, which made it impossible to use this variable.

The association of enuresis with allergies is already well demonstrated in the literature (11, 12, 16-19). In a case-control study conducted in Turkey, 34% of enuretic patients presented with allergic illnesses, while these occurred in only 12% of the control group (24). Likewise, the association of enuresis with urticaria and food or drug allergies has been described in enuretic boys (16). These studies are observational and only show an association between atopy (allergic rhinitis, food allergies, urticaria, among others) with the presence of enuresis. There are no current reports of interventional studies to assess the repercussion of the treatment of allergic conditions on the symptoms of enuresis.

Likewise, we observed a positive association of the factor "obstruction seen in nasal endoscopy" with the improvement of enuresis after asthma treatment. This result initially surprised us since most studies that show an association between enuresis and obstructive sleep apnea in children also show improvement in urinary symptoms in most patients after a surgical procedure (adenoidectomy and/or tonsillectomy) (6-9). What may explain this positive association between the "obstruction seen in nasal endoscopy" and improvement in enuresis with asthma treatment would be the concomitant presence of allergic rhinitis (AR). In the literature, 60.8% of patients with adenoid hypertrophy have associated allergic rhinitis (25).

AR is associated with a higher risk of sleep disorders, such as insomnia or restless sleep, enuresis and SDB (both OSA and primary snoring) (25). It is now believed that rhinitis potentiates SDB and is even an independent predictor of unsuccessful adenotonsillectomy in children (26). In our study, 60% of the patients had an obstruction greater than 75% on nasal endoscopy and all patients reported symptoms of allergic rhinitis. The concomitant presence of AR was probably an aggravating factor in the results of the endoscopic examination.

As with asthma and enuresis, allergic rhinitis also compromises sleep (27). Some inflammatory mediators involved in this allergic process have been associated with sleep abnormalities verified in sleep studies: increased latency and decreased Rapid Eye Movement sleep time, as well as decreased latency for the onset of sleep (27). The sleep of enuretics is more fragmented, which leads to consequent sleep deprivation and collaborates to increase the awakening threshold of sleep (28). Likewise, sleep quality in asthma is inversely proportional to disease control. Worse objective measures of lung function, such as FEV1 (Forced Expiratory Volume in the first second), defined by spirometry, are associated with worse sleep quality (29). Therefore, asthma, AR, SDB and enuresis compromise patients' sleep in some way. It remains to be seen whether the control of any of these sleep disorders can retroactively interfere with the others, only through improved sleep quality.

A retrospective study in 393 children with primary enuresis monosymptomatic describe that winter season was associated with desmopressin treatment failure. We did not observe possible interference from colder weather due to the Covid-19 pandemic emergence and its protective measures during much time of the study (30).

Enuresis as a possible adverse effect of using topical corticosteroids for allergic rhinitis or long-acting bronchodilators for asthma has been described for the use of intranasal corticosteroids; enuresis was observed in a minority of children (3 cases in 106 children) and it does not correspond to the treatment route used in our study (31). Only 7 of the 20 patients required the combination of salmeterol with fluticasone to control their asthma. There was no correlation between the need for bronchodilator addition with improvement in urinary symptoms. All patients were instructed to use a spacer for asthma treatment and to perform posterior oral hygiene. These mechanisms decrease the systemic absorption of the medication. One of the limitations found in the study was the high dropout rate (37.5%). We associate this occurrence with a behavior that is common to many patients with chronic diseases who require constant care (3). Another limitation was the impossibility of adding a control group: we understand that making a diagnosis of uncontrolled asthma and not providing the recommended treatment for it would be unethical.

Finally, it is clear that many studies are still needed to clarify the effectiveness of the clinical treatment of allergies on the repercussions of enuresis symptoms. However, we suggest that, in the future, a flowchart for the initial approach of enuretic patients with respiratory symptoms should be proposed. We could thereby direct the treatment of these patients, preventing them from being subjected to long and unsatisfactory treatments, generating frequent dropouts.

CONCLUSIONS

Treating and controlling asthma in children with primary enuresis resulted in a significant increase in dry nights. The presence of upper airway obstruction and other allergies positively improved results.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

REFERENCES

- Nevéus T, Fonseca E, Franco I, Kawauchi A, Kovacevic L, Nieuwhof-Leppink A, et al. Management and treatment of nocturnal enuresis-an updated standardization document from the International Children's Continence Society. J Pediatr Urol. 2020;16:10-9.
- Rangel RA, Seabra CR, Ferrarez CEPF, Soares JL, Choi M, Cotta RG, et al. Quality of life in enuretic children. Int Braz J Urol. 2021;47:535-41.
- [No Authors]. Who Health Organization.Global Strategy for Asthma Management and Prevention, Global Initiative for Asthma, https://ginasthma.org/wp-content/ uploads/2022/07/GINA-Main-Report-2022-FINAL-22-07-01-WMS.pdf; 2020 [Accessed 28 september 2022].

- 4. Witmans M, Young R. Update on pediatric sleepdisordered breathing. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2011;58:571-89.
- 5. Kaditis AG, Finder J, Alexopoulos EI, Starantzis K, Tanou K, Gampeta S, et al. Sleep-disordered breathing in 3,680 Greek children. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2004;37:499-509.
- Aydil U, Işeri E, Kizil Y, Bodur S, Ceylan A, Uslu S. Obstructive upper airway problems and primary enuresis nocturna relationship in pediatric patients: reciprocal study. J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2008;37:235-9.
- Weissbach A, Leiberman A, Tarasiuk A, Goldbart A, Tal A. Adenotonsilectomy improves enuresis in children with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2006;70:1351-6.
- Dahan P, de Bessa J Jr, de Oliveira DM, Gomes CC, Cardoso JC, Macedo IT, et al. Association between Asthma and Primary Nocturnal Enuresis in Children. J Urol. 2016;195(4 Pt 2):1221-6.
- Ribeiro A, Bastos JM Netto, de Figueiredo AA, Cândido TC, Guércio WB, Zica BO. Enuresis and upper airway obstruction: BNP and ADH hormones behavior before and after airway surgery. Int Braz J Urol. 2022;48:937-43.
- Sans Capdevila O, Crabtree VM, Kheirandish-Gozal L, Gozal D. Increased morning brain natriuretic peptide levels in children with nocturnal enuresis and sleepdisordered breathing: a community-based study. Pediatrics. 2008; 121:208-214. [On line]. Available at.
- Rawashdeh YF, Hvistendahl GM, Kamperis K, Hansen MN, Djurhuus JC. Demographics of enuresis patients attending a referral centre. Scand J Urol Nephrol. 2002;36:348-53.
- 12. Ozkaya E, Aydın SC, Yazıcı M, Dundaröz R. Enuresis Nocturna in children with asthma: prevalence and associated risk factors. Ital J Pediatr. 2016;42:59.
- 13. Braunstahl GJ. United airways concept: what does it teach us about systemic inflammation in airways disease? Proc Am Thorac Soc. 2009;6:652-4.
- Ramagopal M, Mehta A, Roberts DW, Wolf JS, Taylor RJ, Mudd KE, et al. Asthma as a predictor of obstructive sleep apnea in urban African-American children. J Asthma. 2009;46:895-9.
- 15. Chan CS, Woolcock AJ, Sullivan CE. Nocturnal asthma: role of snoring and obstructive sleep apnea. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1988;137:1502-4.

- 16. Zaleski A, Shokeir MK, Gerrard JW. Enuresis: familial incidence and relationship to allergic disorders. Can Med Assoc J. 1972;106:30-1.
- Mungan NA, Seckiner I, Yesilli C, Akduman B, Tekin IO. Nocturnal enuresis and allergy. Scand J Urol Nephrol. 2005;39:237-41.
- Lai PH, Yang PS, Lai WY, Lin CL, Hsu CY, Wei CC. Allergic rhinitis and the associated risk of nocturnal enuresis in children: a population-based cohort study. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. 2018;8:1260-6.
- Asher MI, Keil U, Anderson HR, Beasley R, Crane J, Martinez F, et al. International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC): rationale and methods. Eur Respir J. 1995;8:483-91.
- Solé D, Vanna AT, Yamada E, Rizzo MC, Naspitz CK. International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) written questionnaire: validation of the asthma component among Brazilian children. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol. 1998;8:376-82.
- 21. Brodsky L. Modern assessment of tonsils and adenoids. Pediatr Clin North Am. 1989;36:1551-69.
- [No authors]. Diretrizes da Sociedade Brasileira de Pneumologia e Tisiologia para o manejo da asma. J Bras de Pneumol. 2012; 38: S1-S46. [On Line]. Available at. https://www.sbp.com.br/fileadmin/user_upload/pdfs/Diretrizes_ Sociedade_Brasileira_Pneumologia-Tisiologia_Manejo_ Asma-2012.pdf. [Accessed 28 september 2022].
- Kovacevic L, Wolfe-Christensen C, Lu H, Toton M, Mirkovic J, Thottam PJ, et al. Why does adenotonsillectomy not correct enuresis in all children with sleep disordered breathing? J Urol. 2014;191(5 Suppl):1592-6.
- Yılmaz-Durmuş S, Alaygut D, Soylu A, Alparslan C, Köse SŞ, Anal Ö. The association between monosymptomatic enuresis and allergic diseases in children. Turk J Pediatr. 2018;60:415-20.
- Liu J, Zhang X, Zhao Y, Wang Y. The association between allergic rhinitis and sleep: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. PLoS One. 2020;15:e0228533.

- Huo Z, Shi J, Shu Y, Xiang M, Lu J, Wu H. The relationship between allergic status and adenotonsillar regrowth: a retrospective research on children after adenotonsillectomy. Sci Rep. 2017;7:46615.
- Krouse HJ, Davis JE, Krouse JH. Immune mediators in allergic rhinitis and sleep. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2002;126:607-13.
- Cohen-Zrubavel V, Kushnir B, Kushnir J, Sadeh A. Sleep and sleepiness in children with nocturnal enuresis. Sleep. 2011;34:191-4.
- 29. Koinis-Mitchell D, Kopel SJ, Seifer R, LeBourgeois M, McQuaid EL, Esteban CA, et al. Asthma-related lung function, sleep quality, and sleep duration in urban children. Sleep Health. 2017;3:148-56.
- Sun M, Li S, Sun X, Deng Z, Xu Y. Association between winter season and desmopressin treatment efficiency in children with monosymptomatic nocturnal enuresis: a pilot study. Int Braz J Urol. 2022;48:275-81.
- Rollema C, van Roon EN, Ekhart C, van Hunsel FPAM, de Vries TW. Adverse Drug Reactions of Intranasal Corticosteroids in the Netherlands: An Analysis from the Netherlands Pharmacovigilance Center. Drugs Real World Outcomes. 2022;9:321-31.

Correspondence address: Patricia Dahan, MD Departamento de Pediatria, Faculdade de Medicina da Faculdade de Ciências Médicas e da Saúde de Juiz de Fora (SUPREMA) Avenida presidente Itamar Franco 2100 /302 São Mateus, Juiz de Fora, MG, 36025-290, Brasil Telephone: +55 32 9888-49046 E-mail: pdahan1@hotmail.com





Nomogram to predict the risk of adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones following percutaneous nephrolithotomy

Feng Xie^{1, 2}, Shidong Deng¹, Kuilin Fei³, Hanfeng Xu¹, Huihui Zhang¹

¹ Department of Urology, The First Affiliated Hospital, Hengyang Medical School, University of South China, Hengyang, Hunan, China; ² Emergency Department, The First Hospital of Changsha, Changsha, Hunan, China; ³ Department of Obstetrics, Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha, Hunan, China

ABSTRACT

Purpose: To investigate the risk factors associated with adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones after percutaneous nephrolithotomy (PCNL) and to establish a nomogram to predict the probability of adverse outcomes based on these risk factors.

Methods: We conducted a retrospective review of 233 patients who underwent PCNL for upper urinary tract calculi and had postoperative residual stones. The patients were divided into two groups according to whether adverse outcomes occurred, and the risk factors for adverse outcomes were explored by univariate and multivariate analyses. Finally, we created a nomogram for predicting the risk of adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones after PCNL.

Results: In this study, adverse outcomes occurred in 125 (53.6%) patients. Multivariate logistic regression analysis indicated that the independent risk factors for adverse outcomes were the diameter of the postoperative residual stones (P < 0.001), a positive urine culture (P = 0.022), and previous stone surgery (P = 0.004). The above independent risk factors were used as variables to construct the nomogram. The nomogram model was internally validated. The calculated concordance index was 0.772. The Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test was performed (P > 0.05). The area under the ROC curve of this model was 0.772.

Conclusions: Larger diameter of residual stones, positive urine culture, and previous stone surgery were significant predictors associated with adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones after PCNL. Our nomogram could help to assess the risk of adverse outcomes quickly and effectively in patients with residual stones after PCNL

ARTICLE INFO

🕩 Shidong Deng

https://orcid.org/0009-0001-6874-2225

Keywords:

Nephrolithotomy, Percutaneous; Urinary Calculi; Nomograms

Int Braz J Urol. 2023; 49: 599-607

Submitted for publication: March 10, 2023

Accepted after revision: May 28, 2023

Published as Ahead of Print: June 25, 2023

INTRODUCTION

Percutaneous nephrolithotomy (PCNL) has been recommended as the primarily modality or gold standard for renal stones more than 2 cm, with a high success rate (1, 2). Nevertheless, approximately 15%-25% of patients with large stones are left with stone fragments after initial PCNL (3). Residual stones less than 4 mm (or sometimes 5 mm), without urinary tract infection or obstruction, are typically referred to as clinically insignificant residual fragments (CIRF) and usually do not require special treatment (4). Tchey et al. also reported that stones can be eliminated naturally through lifestyle changes or medication when residual stones are less than 6 mm in diameter (5).

However, the latest studies have demonstrated that in some patients, small residual fragments or even CIRF are not expelled spontaneously after surgery and can lead to stone-related symptoms, including infection, hematuria, and back pain, and may require surgical treatment (6-9). In addition, the probability of stone growth in patients with upper urinary tract stones after surgery is 10% within 1 year, 35% within 5 years, and up to 50% within 10 years (10, 11). Consequently, the necessity of treating residual stones remains controversial.

Nomogram is a pictorial representation of a complex mathematical formula, employed for calculating probabilities of clinical events in the medical field. In recent years, it has been mentioned in various fields of researches including urolithiasis (12). For example, it can be used to predict urinary leakage complications after PCNL, as well as stone-free status following extracorporeal shock wave lithotripsy in pediatric patients (13, 14). However, to date, no study has focused on developing a nomogram to predict the risk of adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones following PCNL.

Therefore, this study aimed to investigate the risk factors related to adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones after PCNL and to construct a predictive model of adverse outcomes.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study design

We collected the clinical data of all patients who underwent PCNL for upper urinary tract stones at First Affiliated Hospital of University of South China between January 1st, 2013, and May 31st, 2020. The inclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Patients who had residual stones after PCNL were included, (2) The postoperative residual stones were less than 7 mm in diameter. The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) patients with incomplete clinical data; (2) patients lost to follow-up; (3) patients with malignant tumors; and (4) patients with obvious ureteral stenosis. A total of 233 cases were ultimately included according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria. The adverse outcome of residual stones was defined as an increase in the diameter of postoperative stones or the occurrence of stone-related symptoms, such as ipsilateral low back pain, fever, and gross hematuria, demanding rehospitalization (15). According to the presence or absence of adverse outcomes of postoperative residual stones, the patients were divided into an adverse outcome group (n =125) and a control group (n = 108). Factors such as sex, age, body mass index (BMI), stone location (left or right), maximum stone diameter, serum creatinine, calcium in blood, urine pH value, maximum diameter of residual stones, urine bacterial and fungal culture, previous stone surgery, hypertension, and diabetes were compared between the two groups. All patients with positive urine cultures were treated with appropriate antibiotics for at least one week and underwent surgery only when the urine culture was negative. The other patients were treated with antibiotics 30 minutes before the beginning of the operation to prevent infection. All patients were treated by performing minimally invasive percutaneous nephrolithotomy (mPCNL) with an access sheath of 18F using a holmium laser for lithotripsy (No. SRM-H3B, Shanghai Ruikeen Laser Technology Co., Ltd.) for upper urinary tract stones. The holmium laser power was set as 50 W. At the end of the procedure, a 16 Fr drainage tube was inserted as a nephrostomy catheter in each patient. The study was approved by the Ethics committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of University of South China (IRB NO. 2022ll0114002). All the experiment protocol involving humans was in accordance to guidelines of institutional and Declaration of Helsinki. Informed consent was received from all patients included in this study.

Data collection

All patients were diagnosed with renal or upper ureteral calculi by urinary computed tomography (CT) before the operation, and all patients were reexamined by urinary CT examination within 48 hours postoperatively. The maximum diameter of the stone was measured using CT by two radiologists at our institution. The average value of the two measurements was taken if the difference was within 1 mm; if the difference exceeded 1 mm, a third professional remeasured the stone diameter, and the average value of the two closest measurements was used. All patients were followed at least every 6 months during the first year and annually thereafter. Follow-up CT scans were typically performed annually or when a symptomatic episode occurred. Confirmation of an increase in residual stones and the incidence of stonerelated symptoms was obtained by interview and CT examination. The rest of the clinical data were from the archived data of the medical records department of our institution.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using the software Statistical Package for Social Science version 25.0 (IBM, USA). The continuous variables were calculated as the mean \pm SD and analyzed by a two-sample t test. The chi-square test was used to analyze the categorical variables. In multivariate analysis, binary or multiple logistic regression analysis was used, and P values <0.05 were considered statistically significant. According to the results of the multivariate logistic regression analysis model, the nomogram prediction model was created using the R software 4.1.2 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) rms package. Then, the bootstrap method was used for repeated sampling 1,000 times to internally validate the nomogram model, and a discrimination test was performed by calculating the consistency index (C-index) and area under the curve (AUC), drawing the calibration curve, and performing the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test to assess the model accuracy.

RESULTS

Of the 233 patients with residual stones after PCNL for upper urinary tract calculi, adverse outcomes occurred in 125 patients (53.6%), including 64 males (51.2%) and 61 females (48.8%), with a mean age of 50.58 \pm 11.39 years. Among them, 18 cases (14.4%) only had an increase in stone diameter without clinical symptoms, and 105 cases (85.6%) had stone-related symptoms. The median time post-PCNL until the development of adverse outcomes was 33.60 months (interquartile range [IQR] 20.50-48.75). There were 108 patients with no adverse outcomes (46.4%), including 70 male patients (64.8%) and 38 female patients (35.2%), with an average age of 53.01 \pm 13.24 years. The median clinical follow-up period was 40.47 months (IQR 24.00-59.75).

Table-1 presents the univariate analysis of variables between the two groups of patients. Compared with the control group, more patients with positive urinary cultures (P < 0.001) and longer maximum diameter of residual stones (3.42 \pm 1.61 vs. 2.12 \pm 1.41, P < 0.001) were found in the adverse outcome group. Female patients had a higher incidence of adverse outcomes than male patients (P < 0.05). Among patients with previous urinary stone surgery, the incidence of adverse outcomes of patients with residual stones after PCNL was higher in the adverse outcome group than in the control group (P = 0.002). Patients with residual stones in the renal pelvis or ureter had a higher rate of the adverse outcome than those with residual stones in the lower calyx (P = 0.026). Notably, there were no significant differences in age, maximum stone diameter, stone laterality, serum creatinine, calcium in blood, urine pH value, BMI, hypertension, or diabetes between the two groups.

Subsequently, the variables with p < 0.05in the univariate analysis were enrolled in the stepwise multivariable logistic regression model based on maximum likelihood estimation. The risk factors such as residual stone size, urine culture, sex, previous stone surgery, and residual stone location were incorporated into this model. Finally, the results revealed that the independent risk factors included residual stone size (OR = 1.707, P < 0.001), positive urine culture (OR = 2.322, P =

Variables	Adverse outcome group (n = 125)	Control group (n = 108)	Statistical value	Ρ
Age (years)	50.58 ± 11.39	53.08 ± 13.24	t = 1.554	0.122
Maximum stone diameter (cm)	2.03 ± 0.91	1.95 ± 0.88	t = -0.668	0.505
Serum creatinine (µmol/L)	97.14 ± 39.47	104.81 ± 53.31	t = 1.258	0.210
Calcium in blood (mol/L)	2.23 ± 1.96	2.21 ± 1.12	t = -0.689	0.386
Urine pH value	6.07 ± 0.70	6.09 ± 0.74	t = 0.031	0.763
Residual stone size (mm)*	3.42 ± 1.61	2.12 ± 1.41	t = 6.475	< 0.001
BMI (kg/m²)	23.49 ± 3.49	22.76 ± 3.36	t = -1.622	0.106
Hypertension				
with/without	90/35	79/29	$X^2 = 0.038$	0.845
Diabetes				
with/without	110/15	99/9	$X^2 = 0.843$	0.359
Stone laterality				
left/right	66/59	49/59	X ² = 1.283	0.258
Gender				
male/female	64/61	70/38	$X^2 = 4.395$	0.036
Urine culture				
positive/ negative	49/76	16/92	X ² = 17.128	< 0.001
Previous stone surgery				
Yes/No	51/74	24/84	X ² = 9.161	0.002
Residual stone location, n (%)			X ² = 9.242	0.026
Lower pole calix	58(46.4) ^a	68(63.0) ^a		
Middle pole calix	40(32.0) ^{a, b}	29(26.9) ^{a, b}		
Upper pole calix	14(11.2) ^{a, b}	8(7.4) ^{a, b}		
Renal pelvis/ureter	13(10.4) ^b	3(2.8) ^b		

* Residual stone size refers to its maximum diameter.

^{a, b} = No significant difference between the same superscripts.

0.022), and previous stone surgery (OR = 2.548, P = 0.04) (Table-2).

Based on the above results, we incorporated significant variables from the multivariate logistic regression analysis into R software to construct a nomogram (Figure-1). The bootstrap method was repeated 1000 times to verify the nomogram model internally. The superiority of the prediction model was tested by the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test (P = 0.055 > 0.05) and calibration curve (Figure-2A). The calibration curve of the nomogram model was close to the standard curve. The calculated C-index was 0.772. The effectiveness of the prediction model was further evaluated by the area under the ROC curve (Figure-2B). The area under the ROC curve was 0.772 (95% CI: 0.712 - 0.832), indicating that the model exhibits high accuracy in predicting the adverse outcome of residual stones after PCNL.

Table 2 - Multivariate logistic regression	ı analysis of risk factors for	the adverse outcome in p	atients with residual stones
after PCNL.			

Variables	Category	OR	95%CI	Р
Residual stone size (mm)	-	1.707	1.370 – 2.127	<0.001
Urine culture	positive/ negative	2.322	1.132 – 4.765	0.022
Previous stone surgery	Yes/No	2.548	1.341 – 4.841	0.004

Abbreviations: OR = odds ratio; CI = confidence interval





Abbreviations: Culture: Preoperative urine culture; Residual stone size: the maximum diameter of residual stones; Previous stone surgery: Previous urinary stone surgery.

DISCUSSION

Upper urinary tract calculi are one of the most common diseases worldwide. In the past 30 years, the incidence of upper urinary tract calculi has been increasing continuously (16). The harm of upper urinary tract calculi to the human body is significant (17, 18). Although PCNL is one of the primary methods for the treatment of upper urinary tract calculi, PCNL cannot completely eliminate stone fragment residues. The primary aim of our study was to determine the risk factors associated with adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones after PCNL and to establish a nomogram based on these risk factors. This approach represents a completely new logistic regression analysis of patients with residual stones after PCNL, and the risk factors can be obtained easily to assess the risk of adverse outcomes and provide appropriate follow-up plans and early treatment.

Based on previous studies (19, 20), we have concluded that postoperative residual stones may have the following hazards: (1) Postoperative residual stones may cause and perpetuate urinary tract infection. (2) New stones may form with residual stones as the core. (3) The movement of residual stones after surgery may cause obstruction and trigger new symptoms. A study revealed that stones larger than 7 mm exhibited a reduced rate of spontaneous elimination and are more likely to cause clinical symptoms or require surgical intervention (21). If the residual stone size following PCNL exceeded 7 mm, the operation was considered incompletely successful, and





A. Calibration curve

Abbreviations: AUC = area under the curve; PCNL = percutaneous nephrolithotomy; ROC = receiver operating characteristic

further treatment would be necessary. Consequently, this study exclusively included patients with residual stones measuring less than 7 mm in diameter. Although many hazards can be caused by postoperative residual stones, it remains difficult to completely remove all stones due to limitations in surgical equipment, medical technology, and surgical experience. In the past, CIRF was not considered to require specific treatment. However, in recent years, the significance of these residual stones has become controversial. Olvera-Posada et al. evaluated 44 patients with residual stones after PCNL and found that 43% of patients had a stone-related event, with most of them undergoing surgical intervention (3). Osman et al. conducted a similar study, with a median follow-up of 36.2 months. Thirty-three percent of their patients experienced an increase in residual stone size (22). Therefore, in the future treatment of upper urinary tract stones, removing as many residual stone fragments as possible may become a new challenge for urologists. In this study, we found that residual stone size was an independent risk factor for predicting adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones after PCNL. Larger postoperative residual stone sizes were associated with a greater possibility of adverse outcomes, highlighting the necessity of clinical intervention for relatively large postoperative residual stones.

Although there are controversies regarding the treatment of postoperative residual stones, we believe it is important for urologists to help every stone patient eliminate all stones completely in the future. Many researchers have developed novel techniques for the treatment of postoperative residual stones. Friedlander et al. developed a novel device that captures stones in a sealed polyethylene bag in vivo to prevent dispersion of stone fragments during PCNL. The authors reported that the use of this device significantly reduced the median time for stone fragmentation (23). Tan et al. developed a magnetic tool to improve the efficiency of lithotripsy under a ureteroscope. Compared with the traditional Ni-Ti alloy stone extraction basket, the time for magnetic stone extraction tools to extract residual stone fragments is reduced by 53%. Although the visual field of magnetic stone extraction tools is worse than that of traditional stone extraction tools, this design is under further development and improvement (24, 25). With the emergence, innovation, and application of new

technologies, the treatment of residual stones after upper urinary tract stone surgery will become much easier in the future of Urology.

In this study, we also found that bacterial or fungal infection in urine was an independent risk factor for adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones after PCNL. Among the cultured bacterial species, Escherichia coli was the most common, with 27 (55.1%) cases in the adverse outcome group and 10 (58.8%) cases in the control group. Previous studies have shown that in Escherichia coli infected kidneys, the expression of osteopontin is elevated in renal tubular epithelial cells, which leads to tubular epithelial cell damage and induces a renal inflammatory response that activates multiple immune response signaling pathways, thereby promoting stone formation (26). Furthermore, a study reported that urinary tract infections and stones potentiate each other (27). Therefore, to reduce the risk of adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones after PCNL, urinary tract infections should be avoided whenever possible.

Previous stone surgery was another risk factor. Similarly, Keskin analyzed 417 patients undergoing urinary surgery and found that readmission rates were significantly higher in patients with previous stone treatments than in patients with no history of stone treatments (9). Patients with a history of previous stone surgery are also at an increased risk of stone recurrence after another subsequent stone procedure (except for second stage surgery), likely because they are already recurrent stone formers. These patients may possess certain undetected risk factors, such as metabolic status, genetic factors, and eating habits, leading to the recurrence of stones, which eventually will require intervention (28). The specific mechanism involved deserves further study.

Based on the above three independent risk factors, residual stone size, positive urine culture, and previous stone surgery, we constructed a nomogram to predict the probability of adverse outcomes. Through internal verification, the Cindex of the nomogram was 0.778, indicating a good consistency. The risk factors can be easily obtained. This prediction model can not only help in clinical decision-making but also provides a visual tool to assess the incidence of adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones after PNCL. However, several limitations of this study must be highlighted: (1) The sample size of cases was relatively small. (2) The results were derived from a retrospective analysis, and a certain degree of selection bias was present. (3) This was a single-center study, and a multicenter study should be performed to further verify our results.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, a larger residual stone diameter, positive urine culture, and previous stone surgery were significant predictors associated with adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones after PCNL. Our nomogram could help to simply and effectively assess the risk of adverse outcomes in patients with residual stones after PCNL.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by the Scientific Project of Health Commission of Hunan Province (No. B202304055928), Promotion Project of health suitable technology of Health Commission of Hunan Province (No. 202319016258), the Research and Reform Project of Hospital Administration of University of South China (No. 2021YYGL10).

Doctors Feng Xie and Shidong Deng contributed similarly as first authors.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

REFERENCES

- 1. Qin P, Zhang D, Huang T, Fang L, Cheng Y. Comparison of mini percutaneous nephrolithotomy and standard percutaneous nephrolithotomy for renal stones >2cm: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int Braz J Urol. 2022;48:637-48.
- Danilovic A, Talizin TB, Torricelli FCM, Marchini GS, Batagello C, Vicentini FC, et al. One week pre-operative oral antibiotics for percutaneous nephrolithotomy reduce risk of infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int Braz J Urol. 2023;49:184-93.

- Olvera-Posada D, Ali SN, Dion M, Alenezi H, Denstedt JD, Razvi H. Natural History of Residual Fragments After Percutaneous Nephrolithotomy: Evaluation of Factors Related to Clinical Events and Intervention. Urology. 2016;97:46-50.
- Altunrende F, Tefekli A, Stein RJ, Autorino R, Yuruk E, Laydner H, et al. Clinically insignificant residual fragments after percutaneous nephrolithotomy: mediumterm follow-up. J Endourol. 2011;25:941-5.
- Tchey DU, Ha YS, Kim WT, Yun SJ, Lee SC, Kim WJ. Expectant Management of Ureter Stones: Outcome and Clinical Factors of Spontaneous Passage in a Single Institution's Experience. Korean J Urol. 2011;52:847-51.
- Emmott AS, Brotherhood HL, Paterson RF, Lange D, Chew BH. Complications, Re-Intervention Rates, and Natural History of Residual Stone Fragments After Percutaneous Nephrolithotomy. J Endourol. 2018;32:28-32.
- Degirmenci T, Bozkurt IH, Celik S, Yarimoglu S, Basmaci I, Sefik E. Does leaving residual fragments after percutaneous nephrolithotomy in patients with positive stone culture and/ or renal pelvic urine culture increase the risk of infectious complications? Urolithiasis. 2019;47:371-5.
- Brain E, Geraghty RM, Lovegrove CE, Yang B, Somani BK. Natural History of Post-Treatment Kidney Stone Fragments: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Urol. 2021;206:526-38.
- Keskin SK, Danacioglu YO, Turan T, Atis RG, Canakci C, Caskurlu T, et al. Reasons for early readmission after percutaneous nephrolithotomy and retrograde intrarenal surgery. Wideochir Inne Tech Maloinwazyjne. 2019;14:271-7.
- 10. Reynolds TM. ACP Best Practice No 181: Chemical pathology clinical investigation and management of nephrolithiasis. J Clin Pathol. 2005;58:134-40.
- Wilkinson H. Clinical investigation and management of patients with renal stones. Ann Clin Biochem. 2001;38(Pt 3):180-7.
- 12. Balachandran VP, Gonen M, Smith JJ, DeMatteo RP. Nomograms in oncology: more than meets the eye. Lancet Oncol. 2015;16:e173-80.
- Ceyhan E, Ozer C, Ozturk B, Tekin MI, Aygun YC. Ability of ESWL nomograms to predict stone-free rate in children. J Pediatr Urol. 2021;17:474.e1-474.e6.
- Sahan M, Yarimoglu S, Polat S, Nart B, Koras O, Bozkurt IH, et al. A novel nomogram and a simple scoring system for urinary leakage after percutaneous nephrolithotomy. Int Braz J Urol. 2022;48:817-27.

- D'Costa MR, Haley WE, Mara KC, Enders FT, Vrtiska TJ, Pais VM, et al. Symptomatic and Radiographic Manifestations of Kidney Stone Recurrence and Their Prediction by Risk Factors: A Prospective Cohort Study. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2019;30:1251-60.
- 16. Zeng Q, He Y. Age-specific prevalence of kidney stones in Chinese urban inhabitants. Urolithiasis. 2013;41:91-3.
- 17. Alam R, Matlaga BR, Alam A, Winoker JS. Contemporary considerations in the management and treatment of lower pole stones. Int Braz J Urol. 2021;47:957-68.
- Danilovic A, Torricelli FCM, Marchini GS, Batagello C, Vicentini FC, Traxer O, et al. Does previous standard percutaneous nephrolithotomy impair retrograde intrarenal surgery outcomes? Int Braz J Urol. 2021;47:1198-206.
- 19. Tiselius HG. Medical evaluation of nephrolithiasis. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am. 2002;31:1031-50.
- Raman JD, Bagrodia A, Gupta A, Bensalah K, Cadeddu JA, Lotan Y, et al. Natural history of residual fragments following percutaneous nephrostolithotomy. J Urol. 2009;181:1163-8.
- 21. Coll DM, Varanelli MJ, Smith RC. Relationship of spontaneous passage of ureteral calculi to stone size and location as revealed by unenhanced helical CT. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2002;178:101-3.
- 22. Osman Y, Harraz AM, El-Nahas AR, Awad B, El-Tabey N, Shebel H, et al. Clinically insignificant residual fragments: an acceptable term in the computed tomography era? Urology. 2013;81:723-6.
- Friedlander JI, Antonelli JA, Beardsley H, Faddegon S, Morgan MS, Gahan JC, et al. A novel device to prevent stone fragment migration during percutaneous lithotripsy. J Endourol. 2014;28:1395-8.
- Tan YK, McLeroy SL, Faddegon S, Olweny E, Fernandez R, Beardsley H, et al. In vitro comparison of prototype magnetic tool with conventional nitinol basket for ureteroscopic retrieval of stone fragments rendered paramagnetic with iron oxide microparticles. J Urol. 2012;188:648-52.
- 25. Tan YK, Pearle MS, Cadeddu JA. Rendering stone fragments paramagnetic with iron-oxide microparticles to improve the efficiency of endoscopic stone fragment retrieval. Curr Opin Urol. 2012;22:144-7.
- Djojodimedjo T, Soebadi DM, Soetjipto. Escherichia coli infection induces mucosal damage and expression of proteins promoting urinary stone formation. Urolithiasis. 2013;41:295-301.

- 27. Schwaderer AL, Wolfe AJ. The association between bacteria and urinary stones. Ann Transl Med. 2017;5:32.
- Rule AD, Lieske JC, Li X, Melton LJ 3rd, Krambeck AE, Bergstralh EJ. The ROKS nomogram for predicting a second symptomatic stone episode. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014;25:2878-86.

Correspondence address: Huihui Zhang, MD Department of Urology First Affiliated Hospital of University of South China No. 69, Chuanshan Avenue, Shigu District, Hengyang City, Hengyang 421200, China Telephone: +86 734-8578599 E-mail: jimmy.hui@163.com





Predictors of early catheter replacement after HoLEP. Results from a high-volume laser center

Fabrizio Di Maida ¹, Anna Cadenar ¹, Antonio Andrea Grosso ¹, Luca Lambertini ¹, Sofia Giudici ¹, Daniele Paganelli ¹, Vincenzo Salamone ¹, Andrea Mari ¹, Matteo Salvi ¹, Andrea Minervini ¹, Agostino Tuccio ¹

¹ Department of Experimental and Clinical Medicine, University of Florence - Unit of Oncologic Minimally Invasive Urology and Andrology, Careggi Hospital, Florence, Italy

ABSTRACT

Introduction: The aim of the study was to investigate clinical and surgical factors associated with early catheter replacement in patients treated with Holmium Laser Enucleation of the Prostate (HoLEP).

Materials and Methods: Data of patients treated with HoLEP at our Institution by a single surgeon from March 2017 to January 2021 were collected. Preoperative variables, including non-invasive uroflowmetry and abdominal ultrasonography (US), were recorded. Bladder wall modifications (BWM) at preoperative US were defined as the presence of single or multiple bladder diverticula or bladder wall thickening \geq 5 mm. Clinical symptoms were assessed using validated questionnaires. Only events occurred within the first week after catheter removal were considered.

Results: Overall, 305 patients were included, of which 46 (15.1%) experienced early catheter replacement. Maintenance of anticoagulants/antiplatelets (AC/AP) therapy at surgery (p=0.001), indwelling urinary catheter (p=0.02) and the presence of BWM (p=0.001) were more frequently reported in patients needing postoperative re-catheterization. Intraoperative complications (p=0.02) and median lasing time (p=0.02) were significantly higher in this group. At univariate analysis, indwelling urinary catheter (p=0.02), BWM (p=0.01), ongoing AC/AP therapy (p=0.01) and intraoperative complications (p=0.01) were significantly associated with early catheter replacement. At multivariate analysis, indwelling urinary catheter (OR: 1.28; p=0.02), BWM (OR: 2.87; p=0.001), and AC/AP therapy (OR: 2.21; p=0.01) were confirmed as independent predictors of catheter replacement.

Conclusions: In our experience the presence of indwelling urinary catheter before surgery, BWM and the maintenance of AC/AP therapy were shown to be independent predictors of early catheter replacement after HoLEP.

ARTICLE INFO

(D) Fabrizio Di Maida https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1885-4808

Keywords:

Prostate; Catheters; Lasers, Solid-State; Transurethral Resection of Prostate

Int Braz J Urol. 2023; 49: 608-18

Submitted for publication: April 17, 2023

Accepted after revision: July 07, 2023

Published as Ahead of Print: July 20, 2023

INTRODUCTION

Latest European Guidelines on non-neurogenic male LUTS include Holmium Laser Enucleation of the Prostate (HoLEP) among treatment options for large benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH). When compared to transurethral resection of prostate (TURP), HoLEP demonstrated similar long-term safety and efficacy, while being characterized by a slightly more favorable perioperative profile (1) Indeed, several studies reported that Ho-LEP is generally associated with shorter hospitalization and catheterization times, as well as lower transfusion and retreatment rates as compared to standard TURP (2, 3). Recent literature outlined similar findings in elderly and highly comorbid patients, thus making HoLEP a safe and valuable treatment option even in such subgroups (4, 5).

Despite the good perioperative profile, some patients still experience postoperative acute urinary retention (AUR) after catheter removal, thus leading to prolonged hospitalization, longer indwelling catheter time and higher readmission rates. However, to date only little evidence is available on perioperative variables associated with AUR following HoLEP (6, 7).

We hypothesized that several patient- and surgery-related features may act as adverse com-

peting factors in inducing postoperative AUR. To fill this gap, in the present study we retrospectively reviewed our data aiming to investigate clinical and surgical predictors of early catheter replacement in patients treated with HoLEP for BPH.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patient dataset

After Institutional Review Board approval, clinical and surgical data of patients treated with HoLEP at our center from March 2017 to January 2021 were collected. The study was conducted in accordance with the ethical principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and all patients signed a written informed consent before enrollment.

Main inclusion criteria were: 1) symptomatic BPH not responsive to medical therapy, according to EAU guidelines (1); 2) Preoperative max flow rate (Qmax) at uroflowmetry < 15 mL/sec and/or post-voiding residual (PVR) > 100 mL; 3) Prostate volume > 60 mL. Patients with a prostate specific antigen (PSA) \geq 4 ng/mL or suspect rectal examination underwent multiparametric magnetic resonance imaging (mpMRI) to rule out prostate cancer. Those with persistent suspect of prostate cancer were excluded from the study (Figure-1). All patients included in the study underwent pre-



Figure 1 - Flow chart depicting the study design.

operative non-invasive uroflowmetry with PVR examination and abdominal ultrasound (US) to assess prostate volume, presence of median lobe or bladder stones and bladder wall modifications (BWM), defined as the presence of either single or multiple bladder diverticula or bladder wall thickening \geq 5 mm (1, 8).

Surgical-related variables included enucleation technique, overall operative time, enucleation time, morcellation time, lasing time, energy delivered and intraoperative complications. Since HoLEP relies on the contemporary use of laser and pulling movements, to be more accurate in quantifying the amount of energy delivered, we decided to separately report lasing and enucleation time. Particularly, enucleation time was defined as the time needed to enucleate the prostatic adenoma with both laser energy delivery and gentle mechanic traction, while lasing time referred to energy delivered for both enucleation and hemostasis. Overall surgical time included enucleation, morcellation and hemostasis time. Early and delayed postoperative complications were defined as any event occurring \leq 30th or > 30th postoperative day, respectively, altering the normal postoperative course and/or delaying discharge. Postoperative complications were graded according to Clavien-Dindo classification.

A standard preoperative antibiotic regimen with Piperacillin-Tazobactam 4.5 gr was administered to all patients. In case of allergies, the alternative antibiotic therapy was Vancomycin 15 mg/Kg iv + Gentamicin 5 mg/Kg iv.

No special protocol was applied for patients taking AP/AC therapy. In case of suspension of coumadin, this was replaced with low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) 5 days before the procedure, while a suspension period starting from 48 hours before the procedure was generally applied for novel oral anticoagulants. The LMWH was therefore continued postoperatively before reintroducing AC therapy for a variable period defined by the anesthesiologists in relation to the individual risk profile. In case of AP therapy, a LMWH with prophylactic dose was routinely applied as in any other endoscopic surgery.

Surgical technique

All procedures were performed by a single surgeon, and enucleation was conducted according to operator's preference with either the three-lobes or the *en-bloc* with early apical release technique, as described in previous investigations (Figure-2) (9, 10).

All procedures were carried out under general anesthesia using the 120W Versapulse holmium laser machine (Lumenis, Yokneam, Israel) with a 550-um end laser fiber (Boston Scientific, AccuMax 550 Laser Fiber). Laser energy was set at 2 J X 45 Hz, 90 W, for enucleation and 2 J X 30 Hz, 60 W, for coagulation. A 26F Storz continuous flow resectoscope sheath was modified by inserting the 26F inner sheath, and a laser bridge to stabilize the fiber. A 30° down lens was preferred. The enucleated prostatic adenoma was then morcellated using a morcellator (Lumenis, Versacut). After surgery, a 22F three-way catheter was inserted and bladder irrigation was performed using saline solution. We usually removed urethral catheter on 3rd postoperative day, in case of clear urine output.

Outcome measures and follow-up

Assessment visits, including uroflowmetry and PVR determination by abdominal US, were scheduled at screening visit on day 0 and then at 3 and 12-month follow up after the surgical intervention. Clinical evaluation was assessed using the Italian version of the following validated questionnaires: IPSS (international prostate symptom score) (11), OAB-q SF (Overactive Bladder Questionnaire-Short Form) (12), ICIQ-SF (International Consultation on Incontinence Questionnaire-Urinary Incontinence Short Form) (13) and the IIEF-5 (international index of erectile function) (14).

Endpoints

Patients were divided into two groups according to early catheter replacement, defined as postoperative re-catheterization due to an episode of AUR that occurred within 7 days after catheter removal. The primary endpoint of our study was to apprise any difference between the two groups in terms of perioperative and/or surgical variables.



Figure 2 - HoLEP surgical steps.

A) Identification of the anatomical dissection plane laterally at the level of the veru-montanum; B) Apical dissection al 12 o'clock position; C) Developing of the dissection plane circumferentially; D) Anterior dissection; E) Access to the bladder anteriorly; F) Final result.

Statistical Analysis

Continuous variables are presented as median (IQR: interquartile range) and differences between groups were tested by Student's independent t-test or Mann-Whitney U-test according to their normal or not-normal distribution, respectively (normality of variables' distribution was tested by Kolmogorov-Smirnov test). Proportional data were assessed using the Chi-square test. To assess clinical differences from baseline to follow-up the median change and test for non-parametric differences were applied. All tests were two-sided. Statistical significance was set as p <0.05. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS v. 27 (IBM SPSS Statistics for Mac, Armonk, NY, IBM Corp).

RESULTS

Overall, 305 patients were included in our study and stratified into two groups according to

postoperative re-catheterization. Forty-six (15.1%) experienced early catheter replacement due to an episode of AUR. Particularly, 9 (19.6%) patients underwent postoperative re-catheterization within the first 24 hours after catheter removal. Preoperative characteristics are reported in Table-1. Particularly, patients needing catheter replacement showed a significantly higher use of anticoagulant (AC) or antiplatelet (AP) medications at surgery (11.5% vs 41.3%, p = 0.001) and a higher rate of BWM (6.9% vs 19.5%, p = 0.001), as well as a higher rate of indwelling urinary catheter before surgery (14.2% vs 34.7%, p = 0.02).

Intraoperative and surgical features are described in Table-2. Patients experiencing re-catheterization presented a longer median lasing time (30 min [IQR 29 – 40] vs 38 min [IQR 29 – 48], p = 0.02), while enucleation and morcellation time, to-tal energy delivered during HoLEP and enucleation technique were comparable between the two co-

Variables		Group A (n=259; 84.9%)	Group B (n=46; 15.1%)	p-value
Preoperative characterist	cs			
Age (years) (median, IQR)	69 (65 – 74)	70 (64 – 75)	0.13
BMI (kg/m^2) (median, I	QR)	26 (23.7 – 28.1)	26.1 (24.4 – 28.5)	0.73
CCI age adjusted (mediar	i, IQR)	3 (1 – 4)	3 (1 – 4)	0.43
ASA score (median, IQR)		2 (1 - 3)	2 (1 - 3)	0.21
ACs/APs therapy at surge	ry (n, %)	30 (11.5)	19 (41.3)	0.001
Bladder stone (n, %)		34 (13.1)	7 (15.2)	0.45
Median prostate lobe (n,	%)	101 (38.9)	19 (41.3)	0.23
BPH therapy (n, %)	Alpha-blockers	136 (52.5)	27 (58.6)	0.30
	5-ARIs	41 (15.8)	9 (19.5)	
	Combination therapy	56 (21.6)	10 (21.7)	
AUR (n, %)	Overall	113 (43.6)	25 (54.3)	0.10
	Single/multiple episodes	76 (29.3)	11 (23.9)	
Indwelling catheter (n, %)	37 (14.2)	16 (34.7)	0.02
BWM (n, %)		18 (6.9)	9 (19.5)	0.001
Prostate volume (mL) (m	edian, IQR)	100 (76 – 130)	109 (76 – 130)	0.39
Creatinine serum level (m	ıg/dL) (median, IQR)	1.0 (0.9-1.2)	0.9 (0.9-1.1)	0.91
Hb blood level (g/dL) (me	edian, IQR)	14 (13.1-15.2)	14.9 (13.7-15.3)	0.34
Q-max (mL/s) (median, I	QR)	8.2 (7.0 – 10.0)	8.7 (7.3 – 10.3)	0.47
PVR volume (mL) (media	n, IQR)	160 (100 – 250)	150 (100 – 280)	0.17
PSA serum level (ng/mL)	(median, IQR)	5.6 (2.5 – 7.3)	4.8 (2.8 – 8.7)	0.25
IPSS score (median, IQR)		24 (21 – 28)	24 (21 – 27)	0.63
IIEF-5 score (median, IQF	3)	18 (12 – 22)	18 (10 – 21)	0.70
OAB-q score (median, IQR)		44 (25 – 55)	39 (27 – 53)	0.76
ICIQ-sf score (median, IQ	R)	0 (0 - 0)	0 (0-0)	0.42
QoL score (median, IQR)		4 (3 – 5)	4 (4 – 5)	0.34

Table 1 - Preoperative characteristics of 305 patients treated with Holmium Laser Enucleation of the Prostate (HoLEP).

Group A = catheter-free patients; Group B = patients experiencing early catheter replacement.

AC = Anticoagulants; AP = Antiplatelets; ASA = American Society of Anesthesiologists; AUR = Acute Urinary Retention; BMI = Body mass index; BPH = Benign ProstaticHyperplasia; BWM = Bladder Wall Modification; CCI = Charlson Comorbidity Index; HB = Hemoglobin; ICIQ-q = International Consultation on Incontinence Modularquestionnaire; IIEF-5 = International Index of Erectile Function; IPSS = International Prostate Symptom Score; OAB-q = Overactive Bladder questionnaire; PVR = Post-voidingresidual; QoL = Quality of Life

Variables		Group A (n=259; 84.9%)	Group B (n=46; 15.1%)	p-value	
Surgical Outcomes	_				
Enucleation Technique	Three-lobes	105 (40.5)	22 (47.8)		
(n, %)	En-bloc	154 (59.5)	24 (52.2)	0.17	
Overall operative time (m	in) (median, IQR)	100 (67 – 120)	97 (65 – 115)	0.23	
Enucleation time (min) (n	nedian, IQR)	52 (35 – 60)	45 (32 – 55)	0.24	
Morcellation time (min) (median, IQR)	24 (16 – 35)	23 (16 – 32)	0.17	
Lasing time (min) (media	ın, IQR)	30 (29 – 40)	38 (29 – 48)	0.02	
Energy delivered (kJ) (me	edian, IQR)	120.1 (100.9 – 140.3)	131.3 (103.2 – 162.6)	0.48	
Intraoperative complication	on, (n, %)	23 (8.8)	6 (13.0)		
Capsule perforation		14 (5.4)	5 (10.8)	0.02	
Bladder mucosal damage		9 (3.4)	1 (2.2)		
Surgical Era (n, %)	\leq 50 procedures	41 (15.8)	9 (19.5)	0.00	
	> 50 procedures	218 (84.2)	37 (80.5)	0.39	

Table 2 - Intraoperative	features and	surgical	outcomes	of 305	patients	treated	with	Holmium	Laser	Enucleation	of the
Prostate (HoLEP).											

Group A = catheter-free patients; Group B = patients experiencing early catheter replacement.

horts. Moreover, patients undergoing early catheter replacement reported a higher percentage of intraoperative complications (8.8% vs 13%, p =0.02), including capsule perforation and/or bladder mucosal damage.

As regards postoperative variables (Table-3), patients experiencing early catheter replacement showed a significantly longer hospitalization compared to catheter-free patients (4 days [IQR 3 - 5] vs 6 days [IQR 4 - 7], p=0.001). Early and delayed postoperative surgical complication rates were comparable between the two cohorts (p=0.21). At 3-month assessment, median PSA. Q-max, urinary incontinence and clinical symptoms assessed by dedicated questionnaires did not significantly differ in the two study groups (all p > 0.05). On the contrary, median PVR appeared lower in catheter-free patients (30 mL [IQR 8 – 50] vs 60 [IQR 40 – 100], p = 0.02). Clinical assessment at 12-month follow-up did not reveal any significant differences between the two groups in terms of patient reported outcomes, with also difference in PVR mitigating between the two groups (35 mL [10 - 55] vs 55 [40 - 80], p = 0.12).

At univariate analysis, indwelling urinary catheter before surgery (p=0.02), BWM (p=0.01), ongoing AC/AP therapy (p=0.01) and intraoperative complications (p=0.01) were significantly associated with early catheter replacement. At multivariate analysis, indwelling urinary catheter (OR: 1.28; CI 95%: 1.21 – 2.11 p = 0.02), BWM (OR:2.87; CI 95%:1.25-3.26; p=0.001) and AC/AP therapy (OR:2.21; CI 95%: 1.10-2.31; p=0.01) were confirmed as independent predictors of catheter replacement after HOLEP (Table-4).

DISCUSSION

While current available literature reports plenty of evidence investigating the safety and efficacy of different techniques for the surgical management of BPH (15), there is far less investigation into the HoLEP field in the setting of predictors of early catheter replacement. Indeed, although

Variables		Group A (n=259; 84.9%)	Group B (n=46; 15.1%)	p-value
Postoperative Outcome	es			
Hospitalization time (da	ays) (median, IQR)	4 (3 – 5)	6 (4 – 7)	0.001
Early events	36 (13.8)	8 (17.3)		
CD≤2	32 (12.3)	7 (15.2)		
CD>2	4 (1.5)	1 (2.1)	0.21	
Delayed events	4 (1.5)	1 (2.1)	0.21	
CD≤2	1 (0.3)	1 (2.1)		
CD>2	3 (1.2)	0 (0)		
Follow-up (month) (me	edian, IQR)	18 (9-29)	17 (9-27)	0.19
Functional results and	PROMs at 3-month follow up			
UI (n, %)		19 (7.3)	3 (6.5)	0.32
Q-max (mL/s) (median	, IQR)	23 (17 – 27)	21 (17 – 26)	0.26
PVR volume (mL) (median, IQR)		30 (8 - 50)	60 (40 - 100)	0.02
PSA (ng/mL) (median, IQR)		0.9 (0.63 – 1.00)	0.9 (0.68 – 1.60)	0.17
IPSS (median, IQR)		9 (2 – 12)	6 (1 – 8)	0.19
IIEF-5 (median, IQR)		17 (12 – 20)	18 (11 – 20)	0.81
OAB-q (median, IQR)		15 (13 – 19)	13 (13 – 16)	0.06
ICIQ-sf (median, IQR)		1 (0 – 2)	0 (0 – 0)	0.08
QoL (median, IQR)		1 (0-2)	1 (0-1)	0.13
Functional results and	PROMs at 12-month follow up	l l		
UI (n, %)		7 (2.7)	0 (0.0)	0.29
Q-max (mL/s) (median	, IQR)	22 (15 – 26)	21 (16 – 25)	0.34
PVR volume (mL) (me	dian, IQR)	35 (10 – 55)	55 (40 - 80)	0.12
IPSS (median, IQR)		10 (2 – 11)	7 (1 – 9)	0.21
IIEF-5 (median, IQR)		16 (11 – 19)	18 (11 – 20)	0.78
OAB-q (median, IQR)		16 (12 – 18)	12 (10 – 16)	0.12
ICIQ-sf (median, IQR)		1 (0 – 2)	0 (0 - 0)	0.08
QoL (median, IQR)		1 (0-2)	1 (0 – 1)	0.13

Table 3 - Postoperative,	, functional and self-reported	d outcomes of 305 patio	ients treated with Holmiu	m Laser Enucleation of
the Prostate (HoLEP).				

Variates	Univariate analys	Multivariate ana	Multivariate analysis		
	OR (95% CI)	p-value	OR (95% CI)	p-value	
Indwelling catheter	1.32 (1.18-2.24)	0.02	1.28 (1.21-2.11)	0.02	
Bladder wall modifications	2.51 (1.29-3.71)	0.01	2.87 (1.25-3.26)	0.001	
On-going ACs/APs at surgery	2.23 (1.11-2.33)	0.01	2.21 (1.10-2.31)	0.01	
Intraoperative complication	1.54 (1.45-2.11)	0.01	1.21 (0.94-2.13)	0.09	
Lasing time (continuous variable)	1.11 (0.27-1.84)	0.53	-	-	

Table 4 - Univariate and Multivariate logistic regression analysis for the predictors of Early catheter replacement.

AC = Anticoagulant; AP = Antiplatelet.

the surgical technique has already reached a high standardization, we still need finer tools to timely identify those patients eventually experiencing an early failure in resuming normal micturition after surgery. To address this unmet need, in the current paper we sought to analyze our high-volume single institutional series seeking for any clinical or surgical predictors of early catheter replacement. AUR after catheter removal was recorded in nearly 15% of cases and was associated either with blood clots or bladder neck spasm / postoperative oedema. Our data are consistent with current literature, since postoperative AUR was reported to range between 0% and 16% in previously published studies (16-18). Notably, we demonstrated that indwelling urinary catheter before surgery, AC/AP and BWM were independent predictors of early AUR after HoLEP, thus further highlighting three additional features worth of discussion at the time of preoperative counselling.

First key finding of our study is that the occurrence of AUR after catheter removal was not associated to the learning curve nor enucleation technique used, being no significant differences demonstrable between patients treated with "*enbloc*" and "*three-lobes*" enucleation. Interestingly, median lasing time was significantly higher in those patients experiencing early catheter replacement, although the latter was not confirmed as an independent predictor of postoperative AUR at multivariable analysis. A longer lasing time could in fact hardly justify a greater risk of AUR, but may rather reflect a higher attention in hemostasis, since patients needing catheter replacement showed a significantly higher use of AC/AP at

baseline. The hypothetical risks carried by the ongoing AC/AP therapy during HoLEP was already confirmed by different previous studies (6, 19, 20), although it should be highlighted that the rate of postoperative bleeding even in case of AC/AP therapy is anyhow quite acceptable and makes Ho-LEP an excellent technique to treat also complex patients. In this regard, our group recently published a paper demonstrating that, in experienced hands, HoLEP represents an effective option for the treatment of BPH also for high comorbid patients (5). The observed benefit of HoLEP in maintaining hemostasis in AC/AP patients is likely due to the physics of the holmium laser (21). Indeed, due to the chromophore of water and minimal tissue depth penetration, holmium laser is able to achieve quick vaporization and coagulation of tissue without the disadvantage of deep tissue penetration. The safety of the surgical technique is further bolstered by the consideration that early and delayed postoperative complications did not differ between the two cohorts in our study, although a non-significant trend was observed in patients experiencing postoperative AUR.

Second key finding of the study is related to the influence of BWM in determining the resume of normal micturition after surgery. Indeed, BWM was the strongest independent predictor of AUR after HoLEP. To the best of our knowledge this is the first report correlating BWMs to risk for early catheter replacement after HoLEP. Indeed, bladder wall thickness had already been associated with risk of AUR before surgical management of obstructive BPH (22). BWM has been correlated with detrusor function. In this regard, Oelke et al. found that detrusor wall thickness increases depending on the extent of bladder outlet obstruction (23). Therefore, measurement of bladder wall thickness has been proposed as a useful and simpler diagnostic parameter as it could act as a possible marker to replace conventional urodynamic pressure flow study in patients with bladder outlet obstruction (24). Indeed, as hypertrophy of the bladder musculature advances, there is an increase in the collagen component, gradually replacing the muscular fibers. The changes are coupled with a relative ischemia of the hypertrophic muscle fibers, being muscle hypertrophy not supported by a proportional neoangiogenesis. As a result, the increase in interstitial collagen reduces the distensibility of the bladder with consequent rise in intravesical pressure and leads to a progressive reduction in contractility of the detrusor. In this regard, in our experience indwelling urinary catheter before surgery was confirmed as an independent predictor of early catheter replacement after HoLEP, thus further highlighting the residual preoperative bladder contractility as a main key driver of resume of normal micturition after surgery.

Interestingly, in our study patients experiencing de novo catheter replacement still had a significantly higher PVR at 3-month evaluation, as compared to their counterpart. However, such difference was not statistically significant at 12-month assessment. Of note, our group first introduced the concept of "trifecta" in HoLEP (25). Multivariate analysis confirmed PVR \geq 250 mL as one of the independent predictors of Trifecta failure, further highlighting the decompensation of the detrusor as one the main key driver of postoperative outcomes. Based on these findings, it may be reasonable to offer urodynamic study to patients preoperatively presenting with BWM, as we could speculate those individuals could experience higher difficulties in resuming normal micturition after catheter removal. Nonetheless, the role of BPH surgery in case of concomitant detrusor underactivity remains controversial (26). Indeed, it is also true that in this context pressure/flow study would only add the benefit to better forecast the room for

improvement after BPH surgical management, thus further tailoring preoperative counselling, as it would hardly change the choice to relieve prostatic obstruction.

The present paper is not devoid of several limitations. This was a retrospective review of a prospectively collected database, thus the study design might have weakened itself the reliability of evidence reported. Second, all cases were performed by a single highly trained surgeon with an extensive experience in endoscopic surgery. As such, our findings could not be applicable to all surgeon- or center-related scenarios.

Despite of these limitations, the findings of the current series represent one of the largest series exploring predictors of *de novo* catheterization after HoLEP. Further studies with longer follow-up are eagerly warranted to validate the preliminary findings of the current series.

CONCLUSIONS

Indwelling urinary catheter before surgery, bladder wall modifications and maintenance of anticoagulant/antiplatelet therapy were shown to be independent predictors of early catheter replacement after HoLEP. Such features should be carefully discussed with patients at the time of preoperative counselling as they could eventually impair surgical outcomes after bladder outlet obstruction relief.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Fabrizio Di Maida and Anna Cadena contributed similarly as first authors.

STATEMENT OF ETHICS

The current study was approved by Institutional Review Board (IRB 1248/30). Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study. All procedures performed in this study involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and national research Committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

REFERENCES

- Nevéus T, Fonseca E, Franco I, Kawauchi A, Kovacevic L, Gravas S, Gacci M, Gratzke C, Herrmann TRW, Karavitakis M, Kyriazis I, et al. Summary Paper on the 2023 European Association of Urology Guidelines on the Management of Non-neurogenic Male Lower Urinary Tract Symptoms. Eur Urol. 2023:S0302-2838(23)02731-8.
- Cornu JN, Ahyai S, Bachmann A, de la Rosette J, Gilling P, Gratzke C, et al. A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Functional Outcomes and Complications Following Transurethral Procedures for Lower Urinary Tract Symptoms Resulting from Benign Prostatic Obstruction: An Update. Eur Urol. 2015;67:1066-96.
- Gilling PJ, Wilson LC, King CJ, Westenberg AM, Frampton CM, Fraundorfer MR. Long-term results of a randomized trial comparing holmium laser enucleation of the prostate and transurethral resection of the prostate: results at 7 years. BJU Int. 2012;109:408-11.
- Yilmaz M, Esser J, Suarez-Ibarrola R, Gratzke C, Miernik A. Safety and Efficacy of Laser Enucleation of the Prostate in Elderly Patients - A Narrative Review. Clin Interv Aging. 2022;17:15-33.
- Di Maida F, Grosso AA, Tellini R, Nardoni S, Giudici S, Cadenar A, et al. Holmium laser enucleation of the prostate (HoLEP) is safe and effective in patients with high comorbidity burden. Int Braz J Urol. 2023;49:341-50.
- Cooley LF, Assmus M, Ganesh M, Lee M, Helon J, Krambeck AE. Predictors of Failed Same-Day Catheter Removal After Holmium Laser Enucleation of the Prostate. Urology. 2022;170:168-73.
- Kim SH, Yoo C, Choo M, Paick JS, Oh SJ. Factors affecting de novo urinary retention after Holmium laser enucleation of the prostate. PLoS One. 2014;9:e84938.
- Manieri C, Carter SS, Romano G, Trucchi A, Valenti M, Tubaro A. The diagnosis of bladder outlet obstruction in men by ultrasound measurement of bladder wall thickness. J Urol. 1998;159:761-5.
- Tuccio A, Grosso AA, Sessa F, Salvi M, Tellini R, Cocci A, et al. En-Bloc Holmium Laser Enucleation of the Prostate with Early Apical Release: Are We Ready for a New Paradigm? J Endourol. 2021;35:1675-83.

- 10. Tuccio A, Grosso AA, Di Maida F, Mari A, Minervini A. Letter to the Editor regarding the article "The "Omega Sign": a novel HoLEP technique that improves continence outcomes after enucleation". World J Urol. 2022;40:1067-8.
- Russo F, Di Pasquale B, Romano G, Vicentini C, Manieri C, Tubaro A, et al. International prostate symptom score: medico e paziente a confronto [International prostate symptom score: comparison of doctor and patient]. Arch Ital Urol Androl. 1998;70(3 Suppl):15-24. Italian.
- McKown S, Abraham L, Coyne K, Gawlicki M, Piault E, Vats V. Linguistic validation of the N-QOL (ICIQ), OAB-q (ICIQ), PPBC, OAB-S and ICIQ-MLUTSsex questionnaires in 16 languages. Int J Clin Pract. 2010;64:1643-52.
- Tubaro A, Zattoni F, Prezioso D, Scarpa RM, Pesce F, Rizzi CA, et al. Italian validation of the International Consultation on Incontinence Questionnaires. BJU Int. 2006;97:101-8.
- 14. D'Elia C, Cerruto MA, Cavicchioli FM, Cardarelli S, Molinari A, et al. Critical points in understanding the Italian version of the IIEF 5 questionnaire. Arch Ital Urol Androl. 2012;84:197-201.
- Bertolo R, Dalpiaz O, Bozzini G, Cipriani C, Vittori M, et al. Thulium laser enucleation of prostate versus laparoscopic trans-vesical simple prostatectomy in the treatment of large benign prostatic hyperplasia: head-to-head comparison. Int Braz J Urol. 2022;48:328-35.
- Huang SW, Tsai CY, Tseng CS, Shih MC, Yeh YC, Chien KL, et al. Comparative efficacy and safety of new surgical treatments for benign prostatic hyperplasia: systematic review and network meta-analysis. BMJ. 2019;367:I5919.
- Ahyai SA, Gilling P, Kaplan SA, Kuntz RM, Madersbacher S, et al. Meta-analysis of functional outcomes and complications following transurethral procedures for lower urinary tract symptoms resulting from benign prostatic enlargement. Eur Urol. 2010;58:384-97.
- Suardi N, Gallina A, Salonia A, Briganti A, Dehò F, Zanni G, et al. Holmium laser enucleation of the prostate and holmium laser ablation of the prostate: indications and outcome. Curr Opin Urol. 2009;19:38-43.
- Capogrosso P, Fallara G, Pozzi E, Schifano N, Candela L, Costa A, et al. Rates and predictors of postoperative complications after Holmium laser enucleation of the prostate (HoLEP) at a high-volume center. Minerva Urol Nephrol. 2022;74:461-6.
- Zheng X, Peng L, Cao D, Han X, Xu H, Yang L, et al. Holmium laser enucleation of the prostate in benign prostate hyperplasia patients with or without oral antithrombotic drugs: a meta-analysis. Int Urol Nephrol. 2019;51:2127-36.
- 21. Gravas S, Bachmann A, Reich O, Roehrborn CG, Gilling PJ, De La Rosette J. Critical review of lasers in benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH). BJU Int. 2011;107:1030-43.

- 22. Ho CC, Ngoo KS, Hamzaini AH, Rizal AM, Zulkifli MZ. Urinary bladder characteristics via ultrasound as predictors of acute urinary retention in men with benign prostatic hyperplasia. Clin Ter. 2014;165:75-81.
- Oelke M, Höfner K, Wiese B, Grünewald V, Jonas U. Increase in detrusor wall thickness indicates bladder outlet obstruction (BOO) in men. World J Urol. 2002;19:443-52.
- 24. Park J, Suh J, Yoo S, Cho MC, Son H. Bladder wall thickness and detrusor wall thickness can help to predict the bladder outlet obstruction in men over the age of 70 years with symptomatic benign prostatic hyperplasia. Investig Clin Urol. 2020;61:491-7.
- 25. Grosso AA, Di Maida F, Nardoni S, Salvi M, Giudici S, Lambertini L, et al. Patterns and Predictors of Optimal Surgical and Functional Outcomes after Holmium Laser Enucleation of the Prostate (HoLEP): Introducing the Concept of "Trifecta". World J Mens Health. 2023;41:603-11.
- Lebani BR, Barcelos ADS, Gouveia DSES, Girotti ME, Remaille EP, Skaff M, et al. The role of transurethral resection of prostate (TURP) in patients with underactive bladder: 12 months follow-up in different grades of detrusor contractility. Prostate. 2023;83:857-62.

Correspondence address: Fabrizio Di Maida, MD Department of Experimental and Clinical Medicine, University of Florence Unit of Oncologic Minimally Invasive Urology and Andrology, Careggi Hospital, Florence, Italy. Largo Brambilla 3, Careggi Hospital, 50134, Florence, Italy E-mail: fabrizio.dimaida@unifi.it



Vol. 49 (5): 619-627, September - October, 2023 doi: 10.1590/S1677-5538.IBJU.2023.0170

Laparoscopic ventral onlay ureteroplasty with buccal mucosa graft for complex proximal ureteral stricture

B. G. Guliev^{1, 2}, Boris Komyakov¹, Zhaloliddin Avazkhanov^{1, 2}, Maksim Shevnin^{1, 2}, Ali Talyshinskii^{1, 2}

¹ Department of Urology, North-Western State Medical University named after I. I. Mechnikov, Saint Petersburg, Russia; ² Department of Urology, Urology Center with robot-assisted surgery of the Mariinsky Hospital; Saint Petersburg, Russia

ABSTRACT

Introduction: There is lack of papers dedicated to the laparoscopic buccal mucosa graft (BMG) ureteroplasty of the complex upper ureteral stricture. The aim of this study is to evaluate the results of laparoscopic BMG ureteroplasty in patients with complex proximal ureteral stricture.

Material and methods: Twenty-four patients underwent laparoscopic ventral onlay BMG ureteroplasty for long or recurrent proximal ureteral stricture not amenable to ureteroureteral anastomosis over 2019-2022. Patient demographics, operative time, estimated blood loss, length of stay, follow-up, intra- and postoperative complication rate and percentage of stricture-free at last visit were analyzed.

Results: The mean stricture length was 3.6 cm. The mean operative time was 208.3 min, while mean blood loss was 75.8 mL. The length of hospital stay was 7.3 days. No intraoperative complications were observed. Postoperatively, seven patients developed complications (29.2%). Five patients experienced a Grade II (according to Clavien nomenclature). Two patients developed a Grade IIIa complication, which included leakage of the anastomosis site. The mean follow-up was on the 22 months with stricture free rate 87.5%.

Conclusion: Patients with proximal ureteral strictures could be effectively treated by laparoscopic ventral onlay ureteroplasty with a buccal mucosa graft.

ARTICLE INFO

D Maksim Shevnin https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5788-464X

Keywords:

Urethral Stricture; Mouth Mucosa; Laparoscopy

Int Braz J Urol. 2023; 49: 619-27

Submitted for publication: April 19, 2023

Accepted after revision: June 21, 2023

Published as Ahead of Print: July 10, 2023



INTRODUCTION

Long ureteral strictures represent a complicated dilemma that requires the significant experience and extensive surgical arsenal of urologists. The choice of surgical strategy depends on properties of the diseased ureter, mainly the localization and length of the stricture. Basically, the following procedures are proposed to be effective in the case of complex proximal ureteral stricture: ileal substitution of the ureter, ureterocalicostomy, downward nephropexy and auto-transplantation (1-3). However, associated drawbacks motivate urologists to seek new approaches to correcting such strictures, in particular with the help of grafts.

One of these is the buccal mucosa graft (BMG), which has been demonstrated over the past few decades to have excellent outcomes in patients with urethral strictures. The first BMG ureteroplasty in humans was described in 1999 (4). However, interest in this technique has renewed over the past decade, and the technique is now reported in numerous articles regarding its utility in open and robotic approaches (5-7). Unfortunately, there is a lack of papers dedicated to the laparoscopic BMG ureteroplasty of the complex upper ureteral stricture, being necessary to build a confident opinion on the pros and cons of different approaches (8, 9).

Therefore, we hypothesized that laparoscopic BMG ureteroplasty can be effectively and safely used for patients with complex proximal ureteral strictures, when ureteroureterostomy is impossible, or with recurrent ureteral strictures. Herein, we present the single-center experience in performing laparoscopic BMG ureteroplasty in 24 patients with a complex proximal ureteral stricture.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Retrospectively, data from 24 patients who underwent laparoscopic BMG ureteroplasty between 2019 and 2022 at a single institution were collected and analyzed after local ethical committee approval (PG071). All subjects provided written informed consent for inclusion in the study. All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The eligible criteria for this technique were a benign proximal ureteral stricture that was not amenable to primary anastomosis due to stricture length or extensive fibrosis. In all cases, the technique of choice was ventral onlay ureteroplasty, so patients were excluded if they had a complete absence of a large (>5 cm) portion of the ureter, such as after oncologic resection or ureteral avulsion. Those patients underwent alternative reconstructive techniques, such as a tapered bowel according to the Monti technique or tubular ileal segment substitution. Each patient underwent retrograde and antegrade (in the presence of a nephrostomy tube) pyelography to delineate stricture localization and length (Figure-1).

Patient demographics and preoperative characteristics are detailed in Table-1. Iatrogenic strictures were caused by lithotripsy and extraction of ureteral stones. The mean stricture length was 3.6 ± 1.3 cm. Five patients had previously undergone ureteroureterostomies.

SURGICAL TECHNIQUE

Procedures were performed in the lateral decubitus position, while the legs were placed in a modified lithotomy position to allow for simultaneous ureteroscopy. The endotracheal tube was fixed on the dependent side of the mouth, and the mouth was draped separately from the abdominal field in preparation for BMG harvest, which may be completed after laparoscopic dissection of the ureter and after defining the diseased ureter length.

After sterile preparation and draping, a 12mm incision was made about two fingerbreadths lateral to the umbilicus. The dermis and subcutaneous tissues areas were dissected with electrocautery, the rectus fascia was identified and lifted, and a Veress needle was used to establish a pneumoperitoneum of 10-15 mm Hg. The camera was then inserted, and the abdomen was inspected for access-related injuries or bowel adhesions. The triangulation rule was followed to place two additional accessory trocars at least four fingerbreadths from the primary trocar. A 12-mm tro-



Figure 1 - Preoperative definition of ureteral stricture length and location.

A) Antegrade pyelography to define the proximal margin of stricture. B) Retrograde pyelography to define the distal margin of stricture. Notice that white and black asterisks indicate the proximal and distal margin of stricture, respectively.

car was placed cranially, and a 5-mm trocar was placed caudally and laterally at least four fingerbreadths away from the initial periumbilical trocar, also following the triangulation rule. Moreover, an additional 5-mm assistant trocar was placed four fingerbreadths caudally to the primary periumbilical trocar. The most cranial trocar was used for the camera while the other periumbilical and lower abdominal trocars were used to place working instruments.

Behind incision of the line of Toldt and medialization of the colon, Gerota fascia was exposed and opened. Intraoperative ureteroscopy was used to identify the stricture. The diseased ureter was dissected, paying attention to safe, healthy tissue as much as possible (Figure-2). The length of the stricture was determined using a ureteral catheter by placing it close to the stricture.

After the steps above, BMG harvesting was performed. First, the head was placed in the flank position, followed by cheek elevation, and the Stenson's duct was identified. 1% lidocaine and epinephrine were used for hydrodissection of the buccal mucosa. The graft size was tailored to the length of the ureteral defect. The defect in the cheek mucosa was closed with a continuous suture.

Subsequently, the submucosal tissue was cleaned off the BMG, and the graft was passed through the trocar into the abdominal cavity. Vic-ryl 4/0 was used to sew apical angle of the graft to the superior aspect of the dissected ureter (Figure-3A). The graft was sutured distally to the ureteral defect (Figure-3B). A continuous suture was created between the buccal flap and the lateral margin of the ureter down to lower angle (Figure-3C).

Then, a 6Fr ureteral stent was introduced over the guidewire in distal ureter followed by guidewire removal (Figure-3D). The proximal aspect of the stent was inserted into the renal cavity (Figure-3E). Another vicryl 4/0 was used to suture the medial border of the dissected ureter with a

Table	1	-	Patient	demographics	and	preoperative
charac	cter	is	tics.			

Parameter	n (%)
Number of patients	24 (100)
Proximal ureteral stricture	24 (100)
Age, years, mean±SD (range)	44.8±14.7 (19-74)
Sex	
Male	16 (66.7)
Female	8 (33.3)
BMI, kg/cm², mean±SD (range)	26.7±2.8 (21.2–31.6)
Preoperative presence of nephrostomy tube	14 (58,3%)
Diseased side	
Left	13 (54.2)
Right	11 (45.8)
Stricture etiology	
latrogenic	18 (75)
Idiopathic	5 (20.8)
Impacted stone	1 (4.2)
Previous failed ureteroplasty	5 (20.8)
Stricture length, cm, mean±SD (range)	3.6±1.3 (2.5-8)

buccal flap (Figure-3F). The watertightness of the anastomosis was checked by filling the collecting system with sterile fluid through the ureteroscope (Figure-3G). Then, the ureteroplasty field was wrapped in omentum or perirenal fat to improve the vascularity of the graft (Figure-3H). The wrap was fixed with knotty sutures to the surgical zone. A drain was placed adjacent to the anastomosis. After surgery, the nephrostomy tube was not closed to keep the pressure in the upper urinary tract low.

In the early postoperative period, patients were monitored for blood tests and ultrasound. Patients received anti-inflammatory and antibacterial therapy. The ureteral stent was removed after 6-8 weeks. Patients with a nephrostomy tube under-

Figure 2 - Opened ureter in the site of stricture. Expanded proximally and distally to healthy tissues.



went antegrade pyelography. Then, the nephrostomy tube was removed. It should be noted that all procedures were performed by the same surgeon (G.B.) with experience in performing laparoscopic ureteroplasty in >100 cases (including ileal substitution, ureterocalicostomy, etc.).

Patient demographics, intra- and postoperative characteristics, follow-up duration, and percentage of stricture-free at the last visit, as well as complication rate according to Clavien-Dindo nomenclature, were calculated. The grade of hydronephrosis was assessed according to the SFU classification. A good postoperative outcome was considered to be the absence of any symptoms, the absence of hydronephrosis or grade 1, and the absence of nephrostomy drainage, provided that the contrast agent freely passes into the bladder through the ureter and the surgical site.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS statistical software version 26.0 (IBM, Chicago, USA) was used for statistical analysis. Continuous data were presented as a mean and standard deviation according to data distribution, which was assessed via the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. A range of values was also presented. Nominal data were presented as number and percentage. Depending on the type of data, we used the paired-samples t-test or McNemar's



Figure 3 - Step-by-step technique to perform ventral onlay BMG ureteroplasty.

A) Graft is sutured to the upper aspect of the ureteral defect. The white asterisk indicates that in this step, the interior wall of BMG is outside. B) Graft is sutured to ureteral defect distally. C) Lateral border of ureter sutured via continue suture with the medial border of BMG (when the latter is placed with an interior wall outside) from the bottom to top. D) 6Fr ureteral stent in indwelled into ureter over guidewire distally up to the bladder. E) Guidewire is withdrawal, and the proximal end of the ureteral stent inserted up to the renal pelvis. F) BMG is sutured to the medial border of the ureter with continue suture from top to bottom. White asterisk corresponds to the exterior wall of the graft. G) Ureter is inflated to confirm BMG ureteroplasty watertightness. H) Ureteroplasty site is covered with omentum to improve vascularity.

test for statistical analysis. Nineteen patients with more than 1 year of postoperative followup at the time of publication were evaluated when comparing preoperative and 12 months or more later. Differences were considered statistically significant at a value of P<0.05.

RESULTS

Operative characteristics are indicated in Table-2. The mean operative time was 208.3±48 min., while the mean blood loss was 75.8±28.9 mL. Omentum and perirenal fat were used to cover the graft in 21 and 3 cases, respectively, and the decision was made intraoperatively based on omentum accessibility. The length of the hospital stav was 7.3+2.5 days. No intraoperative complications were observed. Postoperatively, seven patients (29.2%) developed complications. Five of the patients experienced urinary tract infections leading to the prescription of additional antibiotics (Grade II). Two patients developed a Grade IIIa complication, which included leakage of the anastomosis site. Anastomosis leaking was diagnosed as a result of profuse drainage. To correct this, temporary percutaneous nephrostomy tube

Table 2 - Operative and postoperative characteristics.

Parameter	Mean±SD (range)	
Operative time, min	208.3±48 (140-300)	
Estimated blood loss, mL	75.8±28.9 (50-150)	
Wrap of the buccal graft, n (%)		
omental flap	21 (87.5)	
perirenal fat	3 (12.5)	
Length of stay, days	7.3±2.5 (3-13)	
Follow-up, month	22±12.9 (4-45)	
Stricture-free at last visit, n (%)	21/24 (87.5%)	
Complication rate, n (%)		
Grade II	5 (20.8)	
Grade IIIa	2 (8.3)	

drainage was placed, and control of the leakage severity followed. On the 5th postoperative day, the nephrostomy tube was removed with no signs of leakage on antegrade pyelography.

Before discharge, all patients underwent excretory pyelography or antegrade pyelography

in the presence of a nephrostomy tube. As a followup, all patients were advised to see a doctor if even modest complaints appeared, as well as to perform computed tomography-urography (CTU) every six months during the first two years and annually after. Moreover, 12 months after the intervention, all patients underwent ureteroscopy to visualize ureteroplasty (Figure-4). The mean follow-up was 22±12.9 (4-45) months. At the time of writing this study, the stricture-free rate was 87.5% (21 of 24). Notably, two patients with stricture recurrence on the 21st and 31stmonth of follow-up had a previous failed ureteroureteral anastomosis and were managed with balloon dilatation followed by double-J stent indwelling. The decrease in serum creatinine was statistically significant (Table-3). There was a difference between the frequency of grade 0/1 and grade 2/3 hydronephrosis in the pre- and postoperative periods (p<0.001).

DISCUSSION

Long proximal ureter strictures remain challenging for surgeons (10, 11). End-to-end anastomosis with a tension-free and watertight state is not always possible in these cases, and in the current literature, such cases are proposed to be cured via ureteral replacement with ileal, downward nephropexy or auto-transplantation (12-14).

Ileal substitution of the ureter is a challenging procedure with a significant rate of complications due to intestinal resection and postoperative metabolic changes. Nephropexy and auto-transplantation of the kidney in a downward fashion are also not easy-to-perform surgical procedures and are often associated with complications, such as pseudoaneurysms and vascular thrombosis, which results in their relatively rare use (15, 16). Given the current modality drawbacks, developing surgical techniques that may facilitate the management of proximal ureteral strictures is recommended.

Buccal mucosa graft is actively used for reconstructive urethral surgery (17). The buccal mucosa is readily available for harvesting, less prone to immune reactions, and tolerates urinary

Figure 4 - A) Antegrade pyelography indicates patency of ureter after removal of the ureteral stent. B) Three-dimension reconstruction of CTU on 12 months postoperatively. On both pictures, the white asterisk indicates ureteroplasty site. C) Endoscopic view of BMG after 12 months postoperatively. The interrupted and solid line indicates the graft and health ureter in the distal level of BMG ureteroplasty, respectively. D) Endoscopic view of BMG in the stricture site. The white and black asterisk indicates BMG and health ureter, respectively.



Parameter	Before surgery, n=24 (a)	after removal of drains, n=24 (1,5-2 months)	Follow up after 12 months or more, n=19 (b)	P-value (a vs b)
Serum creatinine (µmol/L)	86.6±22.8	82±17.9	80.3±19.5	0.021*
Pain, n (%)				
Yes	18 (75)	3 (12.5)	2 (10.5)	<0.001*
No	6 (25)	21 (87.5)	17 (89.5)	
SFU grade of hydronephrosis, n (%)				
Grade 0	0	14 (58.3)	13 (68.4)	
Grade 1	0	7 (29.2)	4 (21.1)	<0.001*
Grade 2	17 (70.8)	2 (8.3)	2 (10.5)	
Grade 3	7 (29.2)	1 (4.2)	0	
Grade 4	0	0	0	

Table 3 - Pre- and postoperative parameters.

Values are mean±SD.

* Statistically significant difference.

tract pathogens. BMG ureteroplasty also becomes more and more popular, especially when a tension-free anastomosis is difficult to achieve via ureteroureterostomy or for patients with recurrent ureteral strictures who previously underwent failed ureteroplasty associated with peri-ureteral scarring and poor ureteral vascularization (18). According to the recent review, the overall reported success rate was reported to be 66 out of 72 (91.6%), 32 out of 34 (94.1%) and 34 out of 38 (89.5%) open and robotic cases, respectively. The complication rate was reported in 60 cases, being 15 out of 60 (25%) for all complications, with a 5% (3/60) rate for complications graded as Clavien–Dindo score \geq III (19).

Most of the current studies on minimally invasive ureteroplasty in BMG have focused on the robot-assisted procedure (6, 7, 18, 19). Arora et al. reported no data for recurrence during the 6-month follow-up period (20). More recently, Zhao et al. published the results of robot-assisted BMG ureteroplasty in 19 patients recruited from three clinics in the United States. In 74% of these cases, the stricture was localized in the upper third, while the remaining 24% of patients had a middle ureteral stricture. The length was about 4 cm (2-8 cm). The onlay technique cured 79% of patients, and the rest underwent augmented anastomotic ureteroplasty. The total success rate was 90% for an average 26-month follow-up period (7).

Despite the encouraging results of performing BMG ureteroplasty via robotic surgery, it has a downside. On the one hand, robot-assisted surgery is not as popular as desired. The international community recognized that the optimal use of robotic technology requires the development of dedicated training pathways and that outcomes during the learning curve should be scrutinized (21). Data not only on open and robotic but also laparoscopic BMG ureteroplasty should be available in literature. On the other hand, most hospitals throughout the globe have just shifted their armamentarium from open to laparoscopic surgery, and the latter should not be omitted even for challenging procedures. However, it should be noted that performing reconstructive operations of the urinary tract using laparoscopic access requires expert mastery of laparoscopic techniques, including intracorporeal suturing.

To expand the current data on laparoscopic BMG ureteroplasty, we conducted a retrospective study on 24 patients with proximal ureteral stricture who were amenable to laparoscopic surgery. According to our results, even this challenging procedure could be performed via laparoscopy. The operative time, complication rate and intraoperative parameters were optimal. There was no significant difference compared with previously published results of robotic BMG ureteroplasty.

Our study has several limitations that should be noted. First, the retrospective nature may lead to some bias compared to a prospective study. Second, we reported only results from ventral onlay because it is more convenient for laparoscopic surgery. In contrast, previous data on robotic results comprise the mixed data on dorsal and ventral onlay, and some maneuvers accessible for the robotic ureteroplasty are challenging in laparoscopy. Third, we collected data from one hospital, which could also lead to bias associated with the surgeons' experience in this field. Nevertheless, this study is valuable because it helps to reveal the theoretical feasibility of laparoscopic BMG ureteroplasty. Additional experience and multi-clinical studies are needed to clarify the role of laparoscopic BMG ureteroplasty in ureteral reconstructive surgery.

CONCLUSION

Laparoscopic ventral onlay ureteroplasty with a buccal mucosa graft could effectively treat patients with proximal ureteral strictures. However, it should be noted that in order to perform this type of ureteroplasty effectively, a careful approach to patient selection is necessary. Also, have experience in various reconstructive surgeries on the upper urinary tract, including ileal ureter substitution, and be prepared to perform them. Since the final decision on the type of reconstructive surgery is made intraoperatively.

ABBREVIATIONS

- BMG = buccal mucosa graft
- LOS = length of stay
- SD = standard deviation
- SFU = The Society for Fetal Urology
- CTU = computed tomography urography
- BMI = body mass index

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

REFERENCES

- Shi X, Gao Z, Liu J, Li Z, Li J, Chen T, et al. Efficacy of ureterocalicostomy in treating secondary long-segment upper ureteral stricture. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2020;13:2554-61.
- Grosso AA, DI Maida F, Mari A, Campi R, Crisci A, Vignolini G, et al. Totally intracorporeal robotic ileal ureter replacement: focus on surgical technique and outcomes. Minerva Urol Nephrol. 2021;73:532-9.
- Joshi P, Lin J, Sura T, Limbu PS, Melkonian V, Bastani B, et al. Kidney Autotransplantation for Treatment of Ureteric Obstruction: A Case Report and Brief Review of the Literature. Case Rep Surg. 2021;2021:6646958.
- 4. Naude JH. Buccal mucosal grafts in the treatment of ureteric lesions. BJU Int. 1999;83:751-4.
- Hefermehl LJ, Tritschler S, Kretschmer A, Beck V, Stief CG, Schlenker B, et al. Open ureteroplasty with buccal mucosa graft for long proximal strictures: A good option for a rare problem. Investig Clin Urol. 2020;61:316-22.
- Seetharam Bhat KR, Moschovas MC, Patel VR, Ko YH. The robot-assisted ureteral reconstruction in adult: A narrative review on the surgical techniques and contemporary outcomes. Asian J Urol. 2021;8:38-49.
- Zhao LC, Weinberg AC, Lee Z, Ferretti MJ, Koo HP, Metro MJ, et al. Robotic Ureteral Reconstruction Using Buccal Mucosa Grafts: A Multi-institutional Experience. Eur Urol. 2018;73:419-26.
- Menegola C, Tavares PM, Batezini NS, Gorgen ARH, Rosito TE. Laparoscopic ureteroplasty with buccal mucosa graft for long proxi mal ureteral stenosis: A step by step video. Int Braz J Urol. 2020;46:141-2.
- Wang Y, Jiang Y, Zhang Z, Yang C, Fang L, Yu D. Laparoscopic ureteroplasty with oral mucosal graft for ureteral stricture: Initial experience of eighteen patients. Asian J Surg. 2023;46:751-5.
- 10. Komyakov B, Ochelenko V, Guliev B, Shevnin M. Ureteral substitution with appendix. Int J Urol. 2020;27:663-9.
- 11. Paffenholz P, Heidenreich A. Modern surgical strategies in the management of complex ureteral strictures. Curr Opin Urol. 2021;31:170-6.

- 12. Mogorovich A, Selli C, De Maria M, Manassero F, Durante J, Urbani L. Clinical reappraisal and state of the art of nephropexy. Urologia. 2018;85:135-44.
- Kapogiannis F, Spartalis E, Fasoulakis K, Tsourouflis G, Dimitroulis D, Nikiteas NI. Laparoscopic and Robotic Management of Ureteral Stricture in Adults. In Vivo. 2020;34:965-72.
- 14. Xiong S, Zhu W, Li X, Zhang P, Wang H, Li X. Intestinal interposition for complex ureteral reconstruction: A comprehensive review. Int J Urol. 2020;27:377-86.
- Hofer MD, Aguilar-Cruz HJ, Singla N, Cordon BH, Scott JM, Morey AF. Expanding Applications of Renal Mobilization and Downward Nephropexy in Ureteral Reconstruction. Urology. 2016;94:232-6.
- Ruiz M, Hevia V, Fabuel JJ, Fernández AA, Gómez V, Burgos FJ. Kidney autotransplantation: long-term outcomes and complications. Experience in a tertiary hospital and literature review. Int Urol Nephrol. 2017;49:1929-35.
- 17. Enganti B, Reddy MS, Chiruvella M, Bendigeri MT, Ragoori D, Ghouse SM, et al. Double-face augmentation urethroplasty for bulbar urethral strictures: Analysis of short-term outcomes. Turk J Urol. 2020;46:383-7.

- Xiong S, Wang J, Zhu W, Yang K, Ding G, Li X, et al. Onlay Repair Technique for the Management of Ureteral Strictures: A Comprehensive Review. Biomed Res Int. 2020;2020:6178286.
- Heijkoop B, Kahokehr AA. Buccal mucosal ureteroplasty for the management of ureteric strictures: A systematic review of the literature. Int J Urol. 2021;28:189-95.
- Arora S, Campbell L, Tourojman M, Pucheril D, Jones LR, Rogers C. Robotic Buccal Mucosal Graft Ureteroplasty for Complex Ureteral Stricture. Urology. 2017;110:257-8.
- 21. Boggi U, Vistoli F, Amorese G. Twenty years of robotic surgery: a challenge for human limits. Updates Surg. 2021;73:789-93.

Correspondence address:

Shevnin Maksim, MD Department of Urology, Urology Center, Mariinsky Hospital, North-Western State Medical University I. I. Mechnikov 56 Liteynyy Prospekt, Saint-Petersburg 191014, Russia Telephone: +796 26808803 E-mail: maxshevnin@mail.ru

EXPERT OPINION

CC I

Predictive histopathological factors of nodal metastasis in penile cancer

Marcos Adriano Garcia Campos¹, Antonio Augusto Lima Teixeira Júnior^{2,3}, José de Ribamar Rodrigues Calixto⁴, Joyce Santos Larges², Jaqueline Diniz Pinho^{2,5}, Gyl Eanes Barros Silva²

¹ Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade Estadual Paulista - Unesp, Botucatu, SP, Brasil; ² Laboratório de Imunofluorescência e Microscopia Eletrônica, Hospital Universitário Presidente Dutra, São Luís, MA, Brasil; ³ Departamento de Genética, Universidade de São Paulo, Ribeirão Preto, SP, Brasil; ⁴ Departamento de Medicina II, Universidade Federal do Maranhão, São Luís, MA, Brasil; 5 Universidade Estadual do Maranhão, Zé Doca, MA, Brasil

INTRODUCTION

Penile cancer (PC) is a neoplasm with variable incidence depending on geographic location, with higher prevalence in underdeveloped countries when compared with developed countries (1). Moreover, the poorest regions of Brazil have the highest incidence of PC, according to the literature (2-4). Because PC mainly affects a socially disadvantaged population from underdeveloped countries, knowledge of its pathology, clinical management, and treatment is still limited. However, it has been revealed that the presence and extent of inguinal lymph node metastasis are the most important prognostic factors of PC (5-7).

PC often metastasizes first to the superficial inguinal lymph nodes, then extends to the deeper nodes, and, finally, to the iliac lymph nodes (8). Enlarged lymph nodes >1.5cm in diameter, pathological stage T2 and above, low-to-middle differentiation, and lymphatic vascular infiltration were independent predictive factors that worsened the prognosis of patients with PC (9). Lymphadenectomy can interrupt this process and acts as a curative treatment for PC, avoiding radical procedures that may further impact quality of life and sexual function (10). Moreover, recent studies have revealed better survival outcomes in patients with microscopic metastases who undergo prophylactic inguinal lymphadenectomy (IL) compared with those whose physical examination initially showed no metastasis to the lymph nodes but who later had recurrent disease (11-15). Clinical and radiological assessments are insufficient to detect early lymph node metastasis. Therefore, prophylactic lymphadenectomy is a viable procedure for selected patients at high risk of metastasis, although, IL has a high rate of short- and long-term complications. Accordingly, several histological factors have been explored with regard to their potential to reliably predict the occurrence of metastasis in inguinal lymph nodes.

This study aimed to provide pathologists, oncologists, and urologists with a review of the main histopathological parameters that should be considered when deciding to perform lymphadenectomy, along with observations from the region with the highest incidence of PC worldwide (2).

Histological type

Squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) constitutes 95% of PCs. The remaining 5% are classified as sarcoma (leiomyosarcoma, Kaposi's sarcoma, angiosarcoma, rhabdomyosarcoma, epithelioid sarcoma, and Ewing's sarcoma, melanoma, adenocarcinoma, or sebaceous carcinoma) (16). Although there is less evidence to support the use of lymphadenectomy in these other neoplasms, aggressive approaches should be considered in appropriate patients. Furthermore, it is important to consider tumor stage and nodal status when predicting the outcome of patients with non-SCC neoplasms (17).

In cases of penile melanoma, sentinel lymph node evaluation is similar to the established protocol for melanoma in other sites (18). Penile sebaceous carcinoma has a strong tendency to metastasize to regional lymph nodes; thus, it is usually treated with wide local excision and regional lymphadenectomy. Regional lymphadenectomy is performed only if clinically significant nodes are found. In a previous study, three of five patients with sebaceous carcinoma presented with bilateral palpable inguinal lymph nodes and underwent IL. In two of these three patients, a biopsy revealed nodal metastasis (19).

Histological subtype

Penile SCC is classified into several subtypes that demonstrate varying rates of inguinal lymph node involvement and survival. The most recent World Health Organization classification divided SCC into two categories: human papillomavirus (HPV)-associated and non-HPV-associated SCC (20). Unlike in SCC of the head and neck, the presence of HPV in penile SCC does not necessarily dictate prognosis or therapeutic approach. Thus, classifying tumors as HPV+ or HPV- may not be as useful as grouping them into histological subtypes of low risk or high risk for developing lymph node metastasis.

The frequency of SCC subtypes varies according to geographic location. In northeastern Brazil, HPV was detected in approximately 89.1% of penile SCC cases (21), a rate higher than that observed in other regions, which have a prevalence of 1.3–72.9%. In our previous study, we showed many HPV-associated subtypes, differing from other regions, characterized by a large predominance of the usual variant (HPV–) (22).

Given the importance of the SCC histological subtype, it is vital that adequate tissue representation is used in macroscopy for the correct subclassification of these tumors. This is especially true for regions of high incidence, where patients seek medical assistance at a very advanced stage, with an average of almost 2 years after the first signs of the disease and large tumors measuring approximately 4.5 cm (3). In these cases, more than one pattern is often observed macro and microscopically, and each of them may have different degrees of differentiation and a different prognostic profile, considering the high frequency of mixed subtypes in our cases, particularly in advanced tumors. Given these peculiarities regarding morphological criteria, we recommend that the same professional should conduct all diagnostic steps, from macroscopy to microscopy. In the next section, we group the subtypes based on the risk of developing lymph node metastasis.

Low-risk group

In this section, we group the PC subtypes according to the risk of developing lymph node metastasis. Verruciform neoplasms constitute one class of PC that is at low risk of metastasis, regardless of the presence or absence of HPV. The prototype of this exophytic pattern is verrucous carcinoma, an HPV*in-situ* neoplasm that is rarely invasive. Therefore, in-situ tumors and verrucous SCC are not recommended for IL, even when there is clinical suspicion of nodal involvement. In fact, there are no reports of metastasis in patients with these tumors. Usually, antibiotic treatment is initiated for enlarged nodules, and the nodule is excised if enlargement persists (23). Other subtypes of verruciform carcinoma that are not associated with HPV and exhibit low rates of lymph node metastasis include pseudohyperplastic, papillary, and cuniculatum SCC.

Condylomatous carcinoma is a form of verruciform carcinoma that is associated with HPV and demonstrates a low rate of inguinal metastasis of approximately 17% (24). Nevertheless, more advanced tumors with a higher level of infiltration are more likely to lead to lymph node metastasis. In our country, where the neoplasm is diagnosed after 2 years of disease progression, the lesions are large, often forming part of a mixed-pattern neoplasm, especially with the usual type. In these cases, the patient faces a less favorable prognosis, usually with a more aggressive carcinoma component.

High-risk group

We classified tumors as high-risk if they demonstrate a risk of lymph node metastasis at a diagnosis rate of > 50%. Like low-risk tumors, there are representatives of both HPV+ and HPV– tumors in this category. Non-HPV-associated subtypes include the usual (pattern solid), pseudoglandular and sarcomatoid, showing a risk of nodal involvement above 85% (25).

Among the subtypes associated with HPV are basaloid, clear cell, and mixed forms of SCC such as warty-basaloid. The risk of lymph node metastasis in these subtypes ranges from 50% to 66% in basaloid SCC to 100% in clear cell SCC (26). Other HPV+ forms of PC, such as lymphoepithelioma-like and medullary cancer, are high-grade neoplasms rich in inflammatory cells, but their prognosis has not yet been established.

Hybrid, warty-basaloid, and papillarybasaloid carcinomas should be further evaluated according to the percentage of the highest risk component. Thus, the tissues of the lesions should be accurately represented and observed to detect different subtypes. At our institution, lesions are well represented, with those smaller than 3.0 cm being fully represented, and the larger lesions being prepared with at least 30 blocks of paraffin.

Histological grade

Tumor histological grade is the most important prognostic factor in PC patients with clinically negative lymph nodes that do not undergo regional lymphadenectomy (27). The National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) and the European Association of Urology (EAU) have published guidelines on the management of PC based on the histological grade and staging of the primary tumor (pTNM, AJCC). In epithelial tumors, it is generally more difficult to define the histological grade of squamous carcinomas than in adenocarcinomas. Moreover, classification criteria vary according to the institution, resulting in high interobserver variability in the grading of PC (28). Additionally, it is important to note that knowledge of SCC in other sites does not necessarily apply to SCC of the penis.

The morphological features commonly used to assess SCC grade are keratinization; cell atypia/ anaplasia calculated by the nucleus to cytoplasm ratio; thickness of the cell membrane; nuclear pleomorphism and chromatin pattern; pattern of tumor growth and expansion in nests, cords, solid blocks, and detached cells; and presence of nucleolus, mitotic activity, intercellular bridges, and tumor edge (29). Tumor grading is classified as follows: G1: welldifferentiated, tumors with minimal changes and morphological proximity to a normal or hyperplastic epithelium, and atypia in the most basal layer; G2: moderately differentiated, tumors with alterations between G1 and G3; and G3: poorly differentiated, tumors with any percentage of cell anaplasia (8). This classification system demonstrates the importance of accurate sampling to detect small areas of undifferentiated cells.

The risk of nodal involvement, as well as tumor invasiveness and aggressiveness increase with histological grade. Specifically, nodal metastasis is found in approximately 8%, 50%, 60% of G1, G2 and G3 tumors respectively (30, 31).

Tumor location and measurement

The glans is the most frequent site of involvement in PC, followed by the foreskin. Tumors of the foreskin have a better prognosis than those of the glans because they are of a lower grade and are more superficial, thus demonstrating less potential for nodal metastasis.

Although tumor size is not a good predictive factor for penile SCC, tumors 2–4 cm in size are more likely to be associated with nodal metastasis, in contrast to tumors smaller than 2 cm or larger than 4 cm. This is due to tumors with superficial dissemination (verruciforms) that reach large proportions (32, 33).

It is important to determine advanced loco--regional disease to define its management. Primary radical inguinal surgical debulking alone for these cases is unlikely to promote long-term survival and is related to a high incidence of complications (34)

Presence of koilocytosis/HPV

Koilocytosis is a morphological parameter indicative of the presence of HPV that should be included in the histopathological report. Through polymerase chain reaction, HPV has been identified as an important prognostic biomarker for penile neoplasia because of its tumorigenic pathway in SCC and its occurrence in tumor tissues (35). At least two Brazilian studies have identified an association between koilocytosis and a low incidence of lymph
node metastasis (36, 37). However, further research is warranted for confirmation.

Perineural invasion

Perineural invasion is characterized by infiltration of the clear space surrounding the nerve bundle under the epineurium and should not be confused with the nerve trapped within the tumor mass. The role of perineural invasion in PC is controversial. Some researchers have declared the presence of perineural invasion to be associated with a high risk of inguinal lymph node metastasis in PC patients (30, 38). Others, including studies from Brazil, have found different results (36, 38-40). In 2009, the EAU guidelines identified perineural invasion as an important prognostic factor in lymph node metastasis (41), although the same recognition was not given to the 2014 EAU, 2017 NCCN, or the eighth edition of the AJCC TNM staging guidelines.

Lesion depth/tumor thickness

The depth of invasion and tumor thickness are often confused, and although they represent different measurements, they have equivalent significance. The depth of invasion is measured from the intact basement membrane of the tumor edge to the deepest tumor cell. Tumor thickness, in turn, is measured from the top of the neoplasm to the deepest tumor cell. In exophytic and keratinizing lesions, tumor thickness is measured from the surface, excluding the keratin layer; in ulcerated lesions, tumor thickness is measured from the surface of the ulcer (3, 6, 32).

The mean thickness of neoplasia-free penile tissue to the lamina propria is 3 mm (T1), to the corpus spongiosum is 5 mm (T2), and to the corpus cavernosum is 10 mm (T3). In the foreskin, the thickness from the skin to the mucosa is approximately 10 mm (30).

Studies have shown a correlation between tumor thickness and lymph node metastasis index. Additionally, higher tumor infiltration and histological grade are correlated with a greater likelihood of lymph node metastasis. Thus, tumors with a thickness of <5 mm have a minimal risk of metastasis, those with a thickness of 5–10 mm have an intermediate risk of metastasis, and those with a thickness of >10 mm have a high risk of metastasis (approximately 80–86%). Nevertheless, due to anatomical variation in thickness, we believe TNM staging classification (based on anatomical structure) to be more efficient in assessing of depth of invasion than the measurement in millimeters (11).

Growth pattern and invasion front

Neoplasm growth patterns can be horizontal or vertical and correspond to the form of tumor spread and the relationship with the host tissue. Some studies have determined the vertical growth pattern to be associated with a more unfavorable prognosis compared to the horizontal growth pattern (42, 43). Moreover, the horizontal growth pattern is typically found in exophytic veruciform tumors.

Recently, researchers have turned their attention to the assessment of the so-called "invasion front" (44). Translocation of neoplastic cells is a well-known feature at the invasion front of malignant tumors. The change in the phenotypic pattern of invasion with the absence of epithelial biomarkers and the presence of mesenchymal biomarkers may be associated with invasion and lymph node involvement (45, 46). Unlike in colorectal and head and neck tumors, no studies have yet assessed tumor budding in PC. Thus, future study of this topic is warranted.

Nomograms

Several nomograms have been created to predict lymph node metastasis (29, 47, 48). However, the diverging importance of each individual histological parameter results in poor performance of the combination of these parameters in nomograms. Another challenge of using these nomograms is the lack of independent external verification and validation. Nomograms applied by different groups to the same population did not obtain the same results (49, 50).

Ki67, p53, and p16

Ki67, p53, and p16 have been evaluated as potential biomarkers of prognosis and lymph node metastasis in PC (51). Although p53 demonstrated the best predictive ability among the three biomarkers, it was not shown to be better than that of other predictive factors, such as tumor stage, and there are no consistent results concerning its use in the ma-





(A) Superficial infiltration restricted to the lamina propria. (B) Verruciform subtype histological grade 1. (C) Tumor pushing border. (D) Diffuse p16 immunostain. (E) Corpus cavernosum infiltration. (F) Sarcomatoid subtype histological grade 3. (G) Infiltrative border. (H) Angiovascular invasion. (I) Perineural invasion. (J) High proliferation index (Ki67 immunostain). (K) High expression of p53 protein. B, C, F, G, H, I: HE stain; J, K, D: immunohistochemistry.

nagement of PC (52). Moreover, Brazilian studies have found good results with the evaluation of p53 (53, 54). Furthermore, a strong association between high Ki67 expression and lymph node metastasis in PC has been reported (55, 56). Other studies have confirmed this association (57, 58). Although the absence of p16 may be associated with poor survival, most studies did not find an association between p16 and lymph node metastasis (21, 59, 60).

Immunohistochemical biomarkers require further investigation as they are simple to employ and are widely used. Moreover, in Brazil, the use of immunohistochemical biomarkers is funded by the public health system. Finally, it is noteworthy that the three biomarkers listed above can be assessed in any basic pathology laboratory. Our group will soon present the results of a study using these biomarkers.

CONCLUSIONS

No definitive predictive biomarker of inguinal lymph node metastasis has yet been established. There are many challenges to achieving this goal: the disease is most prevalent in regions with low socioeconomic conditions, there is difficulty in standardizing the criteria for inguinal lymph node metastasis, there is difficulty in accessing radiological exams and medical monitoring of patients, there is varying prevalence of HPV and histological subtypes according to geographic location, there is interobserver variation, and there is the need for extensive tissue sampling in advanced tumors. However, several studies and international guidelines demonstrate that the strongest predictors of inguinal lymph node metastasis are the stage of the primary tumor, the histological grade, and the presence of angiolymphatic invasion.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Hospital Universitário da Universidade Federal do Marananhão, Brasil e Fundação de Pesquisa e Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico do Maranhão (FAPEMA).

FUNDING

This research was funded by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior—Brasil (CAPES), grant number 001.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

REFERENCES

- Montes Cardona CE, García-Perdomo HA. Incidence of penile cancer worldwide: systematic review and meta-analysis. Rev Panam Salud Publica. 2017;41:e117.
- Coelho RWP, Pinho JD, Moreno JS, Garbis DVEO, do Nascimento AMT, Larges JS, et al. Penile cancer in Maranhão, Northeast Brazil: the highest incidence globally? BMC Urol. 2018;18:50.
- 3. Vieira CB, Feitoza L, Pinho J, Teixeira-Júnior A, Lages J, Calixto J, et al. Profile of patients with penile cancer in the region with the highest worldwide incidence. Sci Rep. 2020;10:2965.
- Favorito LA, Nardi AC, Ronalsa M, Zequi SC, Sampaio FJ, Glina S. Epidemiologic study on penile cancer in Brazil. Int Braz J Urol. 2008;34:587-91; discussion 591-3.
- Azevedo RA, Roxo AC, Alvares SHB, Baptista DP, Favorito LA. Use of flaps in inguinal lymphadenectomy in metastatic penile cancer. Int Braz J Urol. 2021;47:1108-19.
- Ficarra V, Akduman B, Bouchot O, Palou J, Tobias-Machado M. Prognostic factors in penile cancer. Urology. 2010;76(2 Suppl 1):S66-73.
- Srinivas V, Morse MJ, Herr HW, Sogani PC, Whitmore WF Jr. Penile cancer: relation of extent of nodal metastasis to survival. J Urol. 1987;137:880-2.
- Chaux A, Caballero C, Soares F, Guimarães GC, Cunha IW, Reuter V, et al. The prognostic index: a useful pathologic guide for prediction of nodal metastases and survival in penile squamous cell carcinoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 2009;33:1049-57.
- Jia Y, Zhao H, Hao Y, Zhu J, Li Y, Wang Y. Analysis of the related risk factors of inguinal lymph node metastasis in patients with penile cancer: A cross-sectional study. Int Braz J Urol. 2022;48:303-13.
- 10. Barros R, Favorito LA, Nahar B, Almeida R Jr, Ramasamy R. Changes in male sexuality after urologic cancer: a narrative review. Int Braz J Urol. 2023;49:175-83.
- McDougal WS. Carcinoma of the penis: improved survival by early regional lymphadenectomy based on the histological grade and depth of invasion of the primary lesion. J Urol. 1995;154:1364-6.

- 12. Leone A, Diorio GJ, Pettaway C, Master V, Spiess PE. Contemporary management of patients with penile cancer and lymph node metastasis. Nat Rev Urol. 2017;14:335-47.
- Kroon BK, Horenblas S, Lont AP, Tanis PJ, Gallee MP, Nieweg OE. Patients with penile carcinoma benefit from immediate resection of clinically occult lymph node metastases. J Urol. 2005;173:816-9.
- Djajadiningrat RS, van Werkhoven E, Horenblas S. Prophylactic pelvic lymph node dissection in patients with penile cancer. J Urol. 2015;193:1976-80.
- Graafland NM, Lam W, Leijte JA, Yap T, Gallee MP, Corbishley C, et al. Prognostic factors for occult inguinal lymph node involvement in penile carcinoma and assessment of the highrisk EAU subgroup: a two-institution analysis of 342 clinically node-negative patients. Eur Urol. 2010;58:742-7.
- Moses KA, Sfakianos JP, Winer A, Bernstein M, Russo P, Dalbagni G. Non-squamous cell carcinoma of the penis: singlecenter, 15-year experience. World J Urol. 2014;32:1347-53.
- 17. Bhambhvani HP, Greenberg DR, Parham MJ, Eisenberg ML. A population-level analysis of nonsquamous penile cancer: The importance of histology. Urol Oncol. 2021;39:136.e1-136.e10.
- Leiter U, Stadler R, Mauch C, Hohenberger W, Brockmeyer N, Berking C, et al. Complete lymph node dissection versus no dissection in patients with sentinel lymph node biopsy positive melanoma (DeCOG-SLT): a multicentre, randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016;17:757-67.
- Ornellas AA, Frota R, Lopes da Silva LF, Dauster B, Quirino R, de Santos Schwindt AB, et al. Sebaceous carcinoma of the penis. Urol Int. 2009;82:477-80.
- Moch H, Cubilla AL, Humphrey PA, Reuter VE, Ulbright TM. The 2016 WHO Classification of Tumours of the Urinary System and Male Genital Organs-Part A: Renal, Penile, and Testicular Tumours. Eur Urol. 2016;70:93-105.
- Martins VA, Pinho JD, Teixeira Júnior AAL, Nogueira LR, Silva FF, Maulen VE, et al. P16INK4a expression in patients with penile cancer. PLoS One. 2018;13:e0205350.
- Kidd LC, Chaing S, Chipollini J, Giuliano AR, Spiess PE, Sharma P. Relationship between human papillomavirus and penile cancer-implications for prevention and treatment. Transl Androl Urol. 2017;6:791-802.
- 23. Sánchez-Ortiz RF, Pettaway CA. The role of lymphadenectomy in penile cancer. Urol Oncol. 2004;22:236-44; discussion 244-5.
- Guimarães GC, Cunha IW, Soares FA, Lopes A, Torres J, Chaux A, et al. Penile squamous cell carcinoma clinicopathological features, nodal metastasis and outcome in 333 cases. J Urol. 2009;182:528-34; discussion 534.
- Velazquez EF, Melamed J, Barreto JE, Aguero F, Cubilla AL. Sarcomatoid carcinoma of the penis: a clinicopathologic study of 15 cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2005;29:1152-8.

- Sanchez DF, Rodriguez IM, Piris A, Cañete S, Lezcano C, Velazquez EF, et al. Clear Cell Carcinoma of the Penis: An HPV-related Variant of Squamous Cell Carcinoma: A Report of 3 Cases. Am J Surg Pathol. 2016;40:917-22.
- 27. Aita GA, Zequi SC, Costa WH, Guimarães GC, Soares FA, Giuliangelis TS. Tumor histologic grade is the most important prognostic factor in patients with penile cancer and clinically negative lymph nodes not submitted to regional lymphadenectomy. Int Braz J Urol. 2016;42:1136-43.
- Kakies Ch, Lopez-Beltran A, Comperat E, Erbersdobler A, Grobholz R, Hakenberg OW, et al. Reproducibility of histopathologic tumor grading in penile cancer--results of a European project. Virchows Arch. 2014;464:453-61.
- Solsona E, Iborra I, Rubio J, Casanova JL, Ricós JV, Calabuig C. Prospective validation of the association of local tumor stage and grade as a predictive factor for occult lymph node micrometastasis in patients with penile carcinoma and clinically negative inguinal lymph nodes. J Urol. 2001;165:1506-9.
- Velazquez EF, Ayala G, Liu H, Chaux A, Zanotti M, Torres J, et al. Histologic grade and perineural invasion are more important than tumor thickness as predictor of nodal metastasis in penile squamous cell carcinoma invading 5 to 10 mm. Am J Surg Pathol. 2008;32:974-9.
- Ficarra V, Martignoni G, Maffei N, Cerruto MA, Novara G, Cavalleri S, et al. Predictive pathological factors of lymph nodes involvement in the squamous cell carcinoma of the penis. Int Urol Nephrol. 2002;34:245-50.
- Cubilla AL. The role of pathologic prognostic factors in squamous cell carcinoma of the penis. World J Urol. 2009;27:169-77.
- Caballero C, Barreto J, Riveros M, Cubilla, AL. Carcinoma epidermoide de glande peneano: parâmetros patológicos predictores de metastasis ganglionar inguinal. Patol Spain .1991; 24: 1137–41.
- Koifman L, Hampl D, Ginsberg M, Castro RB, Koifman N, Ornellas P, et al. The role of primary inguinal surgical debulking for locally advanced penile cancer followed by reconstruction with myocutaneous flap. Int Braz J Urol. 2021;47:1162-75.
- 35. Djajadiningrat RS, Jordanova ES, Kroon BK, van Werkhoven E, de Jong J, Pronk DT, et al. Human papillomavirus prevalence in invasive penile cancer and association with clinical outcome. J Urol. 2015;193:526-31.
- Nascimento ADMTD, Pinho JD, Júnior AALT, Larges JS, Soares FM, Calixto JRR, et al. Angiolymphatic invasion and absence of koilocytosis predict lymph node metastasis in penile cancer patients and might justify prophylactic lymphadenectomy. Medicine (Baltimore). 2020;99:e19128.

- de Paula AA, Netto JC, Freitas R Jr, de Paula LP, Mota ED, Alencar RC. Penile carcinoma: the role of koilocytosis in groin metastasis and the association with disease specific survival. J Urol. 2007;177:1339-43; discussion 1343.
- Mentrikoski MJ, Stelow EB, Culp S, Frierson HF Jr, Cathro HP. Histologic and immunohistochemical assessment of penile carcinomas in a North American population. Am J Surg Pathol. 2014;38:1340-8.
- Mannweiler S, Sygulla S, Tsybrovskyy O, Razmara Y, Pummer K, Regauer S. Clear-cell differentiation and lymphatic invasion, but not the revised TNM classification, predict lymph node metastases in pT1 penile cancer: a clinicopathologic study of 76 patients from a low incidence area. Urol Oncol. 2013;31:1378-85.
- Ornellas AA, Nóbrega BL, Wei Kin Chin E, Wisnescky A, da Silva PC, de Santos Schwindt AB. Prognostic factors in invasive squamous cell carcinoma of the penis: analysis of 196 patients treated at the Brazilian National Cancer Institute. J Urol. 2008;180:1354-9.
- 41. Pizzocaro G, Algaba F, Horenblas S, Solsona E, Tana S, Van Der Poel H, et al. EAU penile cancer guidelines 2009. Eur Urol. 2010;57:1002-12.
- 42. Aita G, da Costa WH, de Cassio Zequi S, da Cunha IW, Soares F, Guimaraes GC, et al. Pattern of invasion is the most important prognostic factor in patients with penile cancer submitted to lymph node dissection and pathological absence of lymph node metastasis. BJU Int. 2015;116:584-9.
- 43. Hu J, Cui Y, Liu P, Zhou X, Ren W, Chen J, et al. Predictors of inguinal lymph node metastasis in penile cancer patients: a meta-analysis of retrospective studies. Cancer Manag Res. 2019;11:6425-41.
- 44. Guimarães GC, Lopes A, Campos RS, Zequi Sde C, Leal ML, Carvalho AL, et al. Front pattern of invasion in squamous cell carcinoma of the penis: new prognostic factor for predicting risk of lymph node metastases. Urology. 2006;68:148-53.
- 45. da Cunha IW, Souza MJ, da Costa WH, Amâncio AM, Fonseca FP, Zequi Sde C, et al. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) phenotype at invasion front of squamous cell carcinoma of the penis influences oncological outcomes. Urol Oncol. 2016;34:433.e19-26.
- 46. Mohamed H, Haglund C, Jouhi L, Atula T, Hagström J, Mäkitie A. Expression and Role of E-Cadherin, -Catenin, and Vimentin in Human Papillomavirus-Positive and Human Papillomavirus-Negative Oropharyngeal Squamous Cell Carcinoma. J Histochem Cytochem. 2020;68:595-606.
- 47. Maiche AG, Pyrhönen S, Karkinen M. Histological grading of squamous cell carcinoma of the penis: a new scoring system. Br J Urol. 1991;67:522-6.

- Zhou X, Zhong Y, Song L, Wang Y, Wang Y, Zhang Q, et al. Nomograms to predict the presence and extent of inguinal lymph node metastasis in penile cancer patients with clinically positive lymph nodes. Transl Androl Urol. 2020;9:621-8.
- Li J, Wang B, Zheng SS, Zhou FJ, Yang JA, Yuan DZ, et al. [Independent external verification of the nomograms for predicting lymph node metastasis in penile cancer]. Zhonghua Nan Ke Xue. 2018;24:399-403. Chinese.
- 50. Maciel CVM, Machado RD, Morini MA, Mattos PAL, Dos Reis R, Dos Reis RB, et al. External validation of nomogram to predict inguinal lymph node metastasis in patients with penile cancer and clinically negative lymph nodes. Int Braz J Urol. 2019;45:671-8.
- 51. Zargar-Shoshtari K, Spiess PE, Berglund AE, Sharma P, Powsang JM, Giuliano A, et al. Clinical Significance of p53 and p16(ink4a) Status in a Contemporary North American Penile Carcinoma Cohort. Clin Genitourin Cancer. 2016;14:346-51.
- 52. Gunia S, Kakies C, Erbersdobler A, Hakenberg OW, Koch S, May M. Expression of p53, p21 and cyclin D1 in penile cancer: p53 predicts poor prognosis. J Clin Pathol. 2012;65:232-6.
- Martins AC, Faria SM, Cologna AJ, Suaid HJ, Tucci S Jr. Immunoexpression of p53 protein and proliferating cell nuclear antigen in penile carcinoma. J Urol. 2002;167:89-92; discussion 92-3.
- 54. Lopes A, Bezerra AL, Pinto CA, Serrano SV, de MellO CA, Villa LL. p53 as a new prognostic factor for lymph node metastasis in penile carcinoma: analysis of 82 patients treated with amputation and bilateral lymphadenectomy. J Urol. 2002;168:81-6.
- 55. Protzel C, Knoedel J, Zimmermann U, Woenckhaus C, Poetsch M, Giebel J. Expression of proliferation marker Ki67 correlates to occurrence of metastasis and prognosis, histological subtypes and HPV DNA detection in penile carcinomas. Histol Histopathol. 2007;22:1197-204.
- 56. Zhu Y, Zhou XY, Yao XD, Dai B, Ye DW. The prognostic significance of p53, Ki-67, epithelial cadherin and matrix metalloproteinase-9 in penile squamous cell carcinoma treated with surgery. BJU Int. 2007;100:204-8.
- 57. Berdjis N, Meye A, Nippgen J, Dittert D, Hakenberg O, Baretton GB, et al. Expression of Ki-67 in squamous cell carcinoma of the penis. BJU Int. 2005;96:146-8.
- Stankiewicz E, Ng M, Cuzick J, Mesher D, Watkin N, Lam W, et al. The prognostic value of Ki-67 expression in penile squamous cell carcinoma. J Clin Pathol. 2012;65:534-7.

- Steinestel J, Al Ghazal A, Arndt A, Schnoeller TJ, Schrader AJ, Moeller P, et al. The role of histologic subtype, p16(INK4a) expression, and presence of human papillomavirus DNA in penile squamous cell carcinoma. BMC Cancer. 2015;15:220.
- 60. De Bacco MW, Carvalhal GF, MacGregor B, Marçal JMB, Wagner MB, Sonpavde GP, et al. PD-L1 and p16 Expression in Penile Squamous Cell Carcinoma From an Endemic Region. Clin Genitourin Cancer. 2020;18:e254-e259.

Gyl Eanes Barros Silva, MD

Laboratório de Imunofluorescência e Microscopia Eletrônica, Hospital Universitário Presidente Dutra R. Barão de Itapari, 227 - Centro, São Luís - MA, Brasil 65020-070 E-mail: gyleanes@alumni.usp.br

ARTICLE INFO

(D) Marcos Adriano Garcia Campos http://orcid.org/0000-0001-8924-1203 Int Braz J Urol. 2023; 49: 628-36

> Submitted for publication: March 07, 2023

> > Accepted after revision: May 11, 2023

Published as Ahead of Print: May 30, 2023



Can we recommend varicocele surgery for men with hypogonadism?

Nilson Marquardt Filho¹, Carlos Teodósio Da Ros^{1,2}

¹ Departamento de Urologia, Pontifícia Universidade Católica do Rio Grande do Sul, Porto Alegre, RS, Brasil; ² Disciplina de Urologia, Universidade Luterana do Brasil – ULBRA, Canoas, RS, Brasil

COMMENT

Varicocele is a frequent finding, identified in 15% of the male general population and, among those with infertility, the prevalence is around 35% for primary infertility and 80% for secondary infertility (1, 2). This pathology can be defined as an abnormal tortuous dilation of internal spermatic veins and pampiniform plexus in spermatic cord. Some risk factors such as age, height, lifestyle habits are associated with the presence of varicocele, however it seems that an increase of body mass index decreased risk of varicocele (3). The early diagnosis and treatment aim to avoid the possible progressive duration-dependent reduction in testicular function, demonstrated as impaired semen parameters, low testosterone (TT) levels and increased sperm DNA fragmentation levels, particularly stress-induced sperm DNA damage (1, 4, 5).

Many hypotheses have been proposed to explain the consequences of varicocele in testicular function, such as testicular hyperthermia, hypoxia, hormonal dysfunction, decreased blood flow, back-flow of metabolites from the adrenal gland, impairment of Leydig cells (6-8). Furthermore, Weiss et al. reported a reduced testosterone synthesis in individuals with varicocele (9). Another study suggests that Leydig cell hyperplasia, commonly seen in patients with varicocele, is a compensatory reaction to Leydig cell dysfunction and impaired testosterone synthesis (10).

In men presenting with both hypogonadism and varicocele, the stimulation of hypothalamicpituitary-gonadal axis with gonadotropins or clomiphene citrate is feasible. If combined with varicocelectomy, the serum levels of TT can be further improved. However, the real benefit of this treatment remains unclear (11, 12). The treatment of the varicocele will at least stop possible further varicoceleinduced testicular damage and, in a majority of men, lead to improved semen parameters (13), enhanced Leydig cell function in association with increased TT levels and as a consequence, improved quality of the semen due to the reduction in DNA damage (10, 14).

The present review compiles the effects of varicocelectomy in men with hypogonadism on TT serum levels.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We selected articles published from 1975 to 2022. Studies were obtained using PubMed. The search terms "varicocele", "hypogonadism" and "testosterone level" were used as filters. The

language of publication was set only to English. In total, 595 potential articles were found. Through screening of titles and abstracts, 36 articles were identified. After full-text reading, 15 original studies and 2 meta-analyses were included in this review (Figure-1).

RESULTS

Several studies demonstrated that varicocele might be associated with decreased testosterone production and impaired sperm synthesis, corroborating with the hypothesis that varicocele may be linked with hormonal dysfunction. The first study published by Comhaire et al. in 1975 demonstrated that 10 of the 33 men with varicocele analyzed had decreased testosterone levels and erectile dysfunction, and both symptoms were improved in those submitted to surgery (12). In 1978 Rodriguez-Rigau et al. reported that individuals with varicocele and normal serum levels of TT submitted to varicocelectomy showed decreased Leydig cell counts on testicular biopsy (15).

Su et al. reviewed the effect of varicocelectomy on TT levels in 53 men and showed a mean TT level increase from a preoperative level of 319



(\pm 12 ng/dL) to 409 (\pm 23 ng/dL) in the post operatory period (p<0.0004). These findings demonstrated a direct positive correlation of varicocelectomy with spermatogenic function (16).

In 1999, Cayan et al. analyzed the effects of varicocelectomy on FSH and TT levels. They retrospectively evaluated 78 infertile patients who underwent microsurgical inguinal varicocelectomy. The mean FSH levels decreased from 15.21 mIU/mL to 10.82 mIU/mL after surgery, and mean TT levels increased from 563 ng/dL (\pm 140) to 837 ng/dL (\pm 220) (17).

Pierik et al. demonstrated the impact of varicocelectomy on serum inhibin B levels, TT levels, FSH and LH levels. Within the 30 men analyzed, there were no significant changes in serum levels of FSH, LH and testosterone levels, but, instead, a significant increase in inhibin B was observed, from 133.9 (\pm 13.4 pg/mL) to 167.8 (\pm pg/mL) (18). Similarly, Di Bisceglie et al. performed sclerotherapy in 38 patients with varicocele and compared inhibin B and FSH levels with 40 untreated patients with varicoce-le. A significant increase (p < 0.01) in serum inhibin B levels and a significant decrease (p < 0.05) in FSH levels were observed at 6 months



after treatment. However, there was no significant increase on TT levels (660 ng/dL before procedure and 650 ng/dL after) (19). Likewise, Ozden et al. studied thirty men presenting with varicocele and infertility associated with oligoasthenospermia. All hormone analysis were performed preoperatively and at a 6-month postoperative follow up. There was no statistically significant difference between the mean serum FSH, luteinizing hormone (LH), prolactin and testosterone levels before and after treatment (p > 0.05). However, they showed a significant improvement in sperm concentration, forward progressive motility, and serum inhibin B levels after treatment (p < 0.05) (20). Furthermore, Rodriguez Peña et al. studied the effects of varicocelectomy in hormone levels and seminal parameters in 202 patients. They did not find any difference between pre and post operative on TT levels (preoperative 648 ± 156 ng/ dL, post operative 709 + 232 ng/dL (21).

Gat et al. performed a study on internal sperm vein embolization in patients with varicocele and reported that mean serum TT concentration rose after embolization by 43%, from 12.07 to 17.22 nmol/L (p < 0.001). Also, the author demonstrated a significant decrease in the mean serum FSH levels, improving Leydig and Sertoli cell functions (22).

Lee et al. evinced that the mean TT levels of 18 men submitted to microsurgical varicocelectomy and vasectomy increased from 348 ng/dL preoperatively to 416 ng/dL postoperatively (23).

In 2011, Zohdy et al. analyzed 141 infertile men with varicocele. They compared the International Index of Erectile Function score (IIEF-5) and total serum testosterone. The patients were divided into two groups according to surgical intervention; 103 individuals were submitted to varicocelectomy and 38 were the control group (assisted reproduction procedures). They showed that the serum TT significantly increased from 379.1 ± 205.8 before varicocelectomy to 450.1 ± 170.2 ng/dL 6 months after and the IIEF-5 increased from 17.1 ± 2.6 in the initial visit to 19.7 ± 1.8 after the surgery. Interestingly, there was a non-significant negative correlation between the mean change in TT and the mean change in IIEF-5 in the control group (24).

Hsiao et al. retrospectively reviewed 272 patients who underwent subinguinal microsurgery varicocelectomy between 1996 and 2009 and compared serum TT levels before and after treatment. Patients who had baseline TT lower than 400 ng/dL had a greater increase in serum levels $(309 \pm 7.4 \text{ to } 431 \pm 16.2 \text{ ng/dL}, \text{ p 0.001})$. And this elevation occurred even in individuals over 40 years old. (25).

Tanrikut et al. measured preoperative TT levels in 325 men with palpable varicocele and in 510 men with vasectomy reversal without varicocele who served as a control group. The TT level increased significantly from 358 ± 126 ng/dL to 454 ± 168 ng/dL after varicocelectomy. Within the subgroup of patients with postoperative TT level improvement, the mean increase was 178 ng/ dL. Also, they evidenced that varicocele was a risk factor for androgen deficiency and the microsurgical repair increased hormonal levels (26).

Sathya Srini et al. evaluated 200 men diagnosed with clinical varicocele. They were divided into two groups, one submitted to microsurgical varicocelectomy and the other to assisted reproduction procedures. The group that underwent surgery had an increase in mean TT (177 \pm 18 ng/ dL before varicocelectomy to 301 \pm 43 ng/dL after) and in testicular size (+ 1.508 cc) that was associated with mean TT change. Out of the 100 patients of the varicocelectomy group, 78 had postoperative normalization of TT levels, while only 16 of the control group had the same outcome (27).

Abdel-Meguid et al. performed a prospective controlled study in 171 men divided into four groups: varicocele-infertile treatment group, varicocele-infertile control group, varicocele-fertile treatment group and the normal-control group. They compared TT levels at 6 and 12 months. Significantly lower hormonal level was evidenced in men with varicocele compared with normal men. Varicocelectomy increased TT levels in 102.3 ng/ dL among hypogonadal men, however showed no improvement in eugonadal men (28).

Najari et al., in 2016, analyzed 34 patients retrospectively who had undergone microsurgical varicocelectomy and had both pre and post-operative Male Sexual Health Questionnaire (MSHQ). Most men in the study had bilateral varicocele and left grade III varicocele. Significant improvement in the total MSHQ score $(3.9 \pm 8.7, p=0.027)$, the MSHQ erectile function $(1.2 \pm 2.3, p=0.007)$, and the MSHQ ejaculatory function $(1.4 \pm 3.1, p=0.018)$ domains were seen. Fifteen (44%) men reported improvement in their erectile function and 18 (53%) noticed better improvement in ejaculatory function. The mean baseline testosterone level in the 20 men who had post-operative levels assessed was 379.4 ± 164.7 ng/dL and post-operatively mean TT level increased to 515.3 ± 231.6 ng/dL (p=0.007) (29).

Ji et al. conduced a prospective comparative study from 2014 to 2015, comparing 130 men who had varicocele and complained of either infertility or scrotal pain, and 130 controls. All participants were further classified based on hypogonadism status using a serum testosterone cut-off value 300 ng/dL. They could see a correlation of grade II and III varicocele with an increased risk of hypogonadism as well as a correlation of impaired sexual function with TT levels (30).

Recently, Saylam et al. retrospectively analyzed 202 infertile men with hypogonadism and varicocele who underwent microsurgical subinguinal varicocele repair. Their hormonal and sexual function after surgery were assessed. Mean serum TT levels increased from 255 \pm 66 ng/dL to 372 \pm 134 ng/dL (p = 0.000), while serum FSH (p=0.198), LH (p=0.207) and prolactin (p=0.345) levels did not significantly change from pre to post-operative period. Also, IIEF-EF score significantly increased from 27.47 \pm 2.96 (15–30) to 28.61 \pm 2.02 (18–30), after surgery (p=0.000) (31).

Bernie et al. compared men who underwent varicocelectomy versus testosterone therapy in patients in their 5th and 6th decades of life, and those submitted to the procedure improved as much as younger men. For those with TT < 400 ng/dL larger changes in serum testosterone with baseline normal levels were observed. Also, the improvement may not be clinically meaningful and may not be enough to improve symptoms in some men (32).

A meta-analysis done by Chen et al. in 2017, included eight studies and 712 patients who

underwent varicocelectomy. The mean TT levels of patient's post-operation improved by 34.3 ng/ dL (p < .00001) compared with their pre-operative levels. In a subgroup analysis, TT improvement in hypogonadal men was more significant (improvement of 123 ng/dL, p<.00001) than in eugonadal men, or in the untreated controls. In an analysis of surgery versus untreated controls (three studies included), results showed that mean testosterone levels among hypogonadal men increased by 105.65 ng/dL, favoring varicocelectomy, as the between groups difference was statistically significant (p < .00001). There were insignificant differences in the eugonadal control group (p = 0.36) (33).

Another recent meta-analysis conducted by Russo et al. comprised fifteen studies, nine were retrospective and six observational. They showed that the mean difference of TT levels was statistically significant in men before and after varicocelectomy (mean difference = 106.76 ng/dL; p < 0.0001). Although a high heterogeneity was present among the studies (34).

Below, we summarized on Table 1 all the studies in this review, reporting the effects of varicocelectomy in total serum testosterone level in hypogonadal men.

DISCUSSION

Herein, the evidence that the surgical correction of varicocele improves the TT levels is seen in many studies and is corroborated by recent meta-analysis published. As we can observe, an increase of around 106 ng/dL could be achieved by the microsurgical technique (33, 34).

Furthermore, varicocele seems to cause pantesticular injury that leads to an impairment of both Sertoli and Leydig cell function, resulting in hypogonadism and altered seminal parameters and spermatogenesis. Whereas adequate intragonadal TT levels are necessary to ensure spermatogenesis (35). For example, Sirvent et al. analyzed testis biopsies from 31 men with varicocele. In addition to the atrophy of seminiferous tubules, they observed multiple changes in the characteristics of the Leydig cell population. Curiously, men with varicocele had Leydig cell hyperplasia. Sirvent et al. went further by functionally testing

Author	Year	Study type	N. of patients	Surgical Approach	Mean pre-op TT (nd/dL)	Mean post-op TT (nd/dL)
Su et al. (16)	1995	0	53	Microsurgical	319 ± 12	419 ± 23
Cayan et al. (17)	1999	R	78	Microsurgical	563 ± 140	837 ± 220
Pierik et al. (18)	2001	0	30	Conventional	460 ± 160	470 ± 190
Di Bisceglie et al. (19)	2007	0	38	Sclerotherapy	660 ± 50	650 ± 50
Ozden et al. (20)	2008	0	30	Conventional	660 ± 130	720 ± 130
Rodriguez Pena et al. (21)	2009	0	202	Conventional	648 ± 156	709 ± 232
Lee et al. (23)	2007	0	18	Microsurgical	360 ± 191	416 ± 358
Zhody et al. (24)	2011	0	141	Microsurgical	379 ± 205.8	450 ± 170.2
Hsiao et al. (25)	2010	R	272	Microsurgical	309 ± 7	431 ± 170
Tanrikut et al. (26)	2011	R	325	Microsurgical	200 ± 7	454 ± 168
Sathya Srini et al. (27)	2011	0	200	Microsurgical	177 ± 18	301 ± 43
Abdel-Meguid et al. (28)	2014	0	28	Microsurgical	233.8 ± 50.7	327.5 ± 53.2
Najari et al. (29)	2016	R	34	Microsurgical	379.4 ±164.7	515.3 ± 231.6
Ji et al. (30)	2016	0	260	Microsurgical	310 ± 179	669 ± 180
Saylam et al. (31)	2020	R	202	Microsurgical	255 ± 66	372 ± 134

0 = Observational; R = Retrospective.

the expanded population of Leydig cells with the peroxidase-antiperoxidase method and demonstrated a decreased number of cells expressing testosterone. It is interesting that all men had normal peripheral levels of LH and testosterone, leading to conclude that men with varicoceles must compensate via Leydig cell hyperplasia in order to remain eugonadal (36).

Also, some trials demonstrated the improvement in seminal parameters such as motility, sperm concentration and Total Motile Sperm Count (TMSC) (20, 31) after correction of varicocele. The benefit related to improvement of FSH and LH levels remains uncertain (18, 19, 21, 31). On the other side, when the erectile function was analyzed, data show that IIEF was significantly improved by the correction of varicocele in infertile men. Consequently, these results must be interpreted cautiously given the complex interplay between infertility and sexual dysfunction (37, 38).

CONCLUSION

Varicocele is associated with an important impairment in men's testicular function, a decreased testosterone production and a significantly increased risk for hypogonadism. Infertile men presenting with hypogonadism may benefit substantially from varicocelectomy in terms of postoperative improvements in hormonal and seminal parameters. Nevertheless, the modest rise of TT levels may not manifest clinically, and patients must be counseled not to have high expectations.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

REFERENCES

- Meacham RB, Townsend RR, Rademacher D, Drose JA. The incidence of varicoceles in the general population when evaluated by physical examination, gray scale sonography and color Doppler sonography. J Urol. 1994;151:1535-8.
- 2. Gorelick JI, Goldstein M. Loss of fertility in men with varicocele. Fertil Steril. 1993;59:613-6.
- Xiao-Bin G, Fang-Lei W, Hui X, Cheng Y, Zhi-Xuan C, Zhi-Peng H, et al. The association between body mass index and varicocele: A meta-analysis. Int Braz J Urol. 2021;47:8-19.
- 4. Kass EJ, Belman AB. Reversal of testicular growth failure by varicocele ligation. J Urol. 1987;137:475-6.
- Jeremias JT, Belardin LB, Okada FK, Antoniassi MP, Fraietta R, Bertolla RP, et al. Oxidative origin of sperm DNA fragmentation in the adult varicocele. Int Braz J Urol. 2021;47:275-83.
- 6. Valeri A, Mianné D, Merouze F, Bujan L, Altobelli A, Masson J. Etude de la température scrotale chez 258 hommes sains, sélectionnés par tirage au sort dans une population d'hommes de 18 à 23 ans. Analyse statistique, observations épidémiologiques et mesure des diamètres testiculaires [Scrotal temperature in 258 healthy men, randomly selected from a population of men aged 18 to 23 years old. Statistical analysis, epidemiologic observations, and measurement of the testicular diameters]. Prog Urol. 1993;3:444-52. French.
- Mostafa T, Anis TH, El-Nashar A, Imam H, Othman IA. Varicocelectomy reduces reactive oxygen species levels and increases antioxidant activity of seminal plasma from infertile men with varicocele. Int J Androl. 2001;24:261-5.

- Camoglio FS, Zampieri N, Corroppolo M, Chironi C, Dipaola G, Giacomello L, et al. Varicocele and retrograde adrenal metabolites flow. An experimental study on rats. Urol Int. 2004;73:337-42.
- Weiss DB, Rodriguez-Rigau LJ, Smith KD, Steinberger E. Leydig cell function in oligospermic men with varicocele. J Urol. 1978;120:427-30.
- Della Morte E, Fortuna FF, Gerevini G, Lania C, Grasso M. Valutazione di FSH e funzione leydigiana nel varicocele [Evaluation of FSH and Leydig cells function in patients with varicocele]. Arch Ital Urol Androl. 2002;74:152-6. Italian.
- 11. Raboch J, Stárka L. Hormonal testicular activity in men with a varicocele. Fertil Steril. 1971;22:152-5.
- 12. Comhaire F, Vermeulen A. Plasma testosterone in patients with varicocele and sexual inadequacy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1975;40:824-9.
- Goldstein M, Gilbert BR, Dicker AP, Dwosh J, Gnecco C. Microsurgical inguinal varicocelectomy with delivery of the testis: an artery and lymphatic sparing technique. J Urol. 1992;148:1808-11.
- 14. Lewis SEM, Esteves SC. What does a varicocele do to a man's fertility? There is much more than meets the eye. Int Braz J Urol. 2021;47:284-6.
- Rodriguez-Rigau LJ, Weiss DB, Zukerman Z, Grotjan HE, Smith KD, Steinberger E. A possible mechanism for the detrimental effect of varicocele on testicular function in man. Fertil Steril. 1978;30:577-85.
- Su LM, Goldstein M, Schlegel PN. The effect of varicocelectomy on serum testosterone levels in infertile men with varicoceles. J Urol. 1995;154:1752-5.
- Cayan S, Kadioglu A, Orhan I, Kandirali E, Tefekli A, Tellaloglu S. The effect of microsurgical varicocelectomy on serum follicle stimulating hormone, testosterone and free testosterone levels in infertile men with varicocele. BJU Int. 1999;84:1046-9.
- Pierik FH, Abdesselam SA, Vreeburg JT, Dohle GR, De Jong FH, Weber RF. Increased serum inhibin B levels after varicocele treatment. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2001;54:775-80.
- Di Bisceglie C, Bertagna A, Baldi M, Lanfranco F, Tagliabue M, Gazzera C, et al. Varicocele sclerotherapy improves serum inhibin B levels and seminal parameters. Int J Androl. 2007;30:531-6.
- Ozden C, Ozdal OL, Bulut S, Guzel O, Koyuncu HH, Memis A. Effect of varicocelectomy on serum inhibin B levels in infertile patients with varicocele. Scand J Urol Nephrol. 2008;42:441-3.
- Rodriguez Peña M, Alescio L, Russell A, Lourenco da Cunha J, Alzu G, Bardoneschi E. Predictors of improved seminal parameters and fertility after varicocele repair in young adults. Andrologia. 2009;41:277-81.
- Gat Y, Gornish M, Belenky A, Bachar GN. Elevation of serum testosterone and free testosterone after embolization of the internal spermatic vein for the treatment of varicocele in infertile men. Hum Reprod. 2004;19:2303-6.

- 23. Lee RK, Li PS, Goldstein M. Simultaneous vasectomy and varicocelectomy: indications and technique. Urology. 2007;70:362-5.
- 24. Zohdy W, Ghazi S, Arafa M. Impact of varicocelectomy on gonadal and erectile functions in men with hypogonadism and infertility. J Sex Med. 2011;8:885-93.
- Hsiao W, Rosoff JS, Pale JR, Greenwood EA, Goldstein M. Older age is associated with similar improvements in semen parameters and testosterone after subinguinal microsurgical varicocelectomy. J Urol. 2011;185:620-5.
- 26. Tanrikut C, Goldstein M, Rosoff JS, Lee RK, Nelson CJ, Mulhall JP. Varicocele as a risk factor for androgen deficiency and effect of repair. BJU Int. 2011;108:1480-4.
- 27. Sathya Srini V, Belur Veerachari S. Does varicocelectomy improve gonadal function in men with hypogonadism and infertility? Analysis of a prospective study. Int J Endocrinol. 2011;2011:916380.
- Abdel-Meguid TA, Farsi HM, Al-Sayyad A, Tayib A, Mosli HA, Halawani AH. Effects of varicoccele on serum testosterone and changes of testosterone after varicoccelectomy: a prospective controlled study. Urology. 2014;84:1081-7.
- 29. Najari BB, Introna L, Paduch DA. Improvements in Patient-reported Sexual Function After Microsurgical Varicocelectomy. Urology. 2017;110:104-9.
- 30. Ji B, Jin XB. Varicocele is associated with hypogonadism and impaired erectile function: a prospective comparative study. Andrologia. 2017;49(6). Epub 2016; 5.

- Saylam B, Çayan S, Akbay E. Effect of microsurgical varicocele repair on sexual functions and testosterone in hypogonadal infertile men with varicocele. Aging Male. 2020;23:1366-73.
- 32. Bernie HL, Goldstein M. Varicocele Repair Versus Testosterone Therapy for Older Hypogonadal Men with Clinical Varicocele and Low Testosterone. Eur Urol Focus. 2018;4:314-6.
- Klaver M, Dekker MJHJ, de Mutsert R, Twisk JWR, den Heijer M. Cross-sex hormone therapy in transgender persons affects total body weight, body fat and lean body mass: a meta-analysis. Andrologia. 2017;49(5). Epub 2016 Aug 29.
- 34. Esposito A, Vigone MC, Polizzi M, Wasniewska MG, Cassio A, Mussa A, et al. Effect of initial levothyroxine dose on neurodevelopmental and growth outcomes in children with congenital hypothyroidism. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2022;13:923448.
- 35. Hayden RP, Tanrikut C. Testosterone and Varicocele. Urol Clin North Am. 2016;43:223-32.
- Sirvent JJ, Bernat R, Navarro MA, Rodriguez Tolra J, Guspi R, Bosch R. Leydig cell in idiopathic varicocele. Eur Urol. 1990;17:257-61.
- 37. Smith JF, Walsh TJ, Shindel AW, Turek PJ, Wing H, Pasch L, et al. Sexual, marital, and social impact of a man's perceived infertility diagnosis. J Sex Med. 2009;6:2505-15.
- Wischmann TH. Sexual disorders in infertile couples. J Sex Med. 2010;7:1868-76.

Nilson Marquardt Filho, MD

Departamento de Urologia Pontificia Universidade Catolica do Rio Grande do Sul -PUCRS Porto Alegre, RS, Brasil E-mail: nilson.marquardt@terra.com.br

ARTICLE INFO

D Nilson Marquardt Filho http://orcid.org/0000-0001-8790-8158

Int Braz J Urol. 2023; 49: 637-43

Submitted for publication: May 07, 2023

Accepted after revision: May 23, 2023

Published as Ahead of Print: June 20, 2023

Vol. 49 (5): 644-645, September - October, 2023 doi: 10.1590/S1677-5538.IBJU.2023.05.02



UPDATE IN UROLOGY

UROANATOMY

Editorial Comment: Penile revascularization utilizing the lateral femoral circumflex artery after pelvic fracture urethral injury

Koch G 1, Gleicher S 1, Criman E 1, Sandvall B 1, Johnsen N 1

1 Vanderbilt University Medical Center

J Sex Med. 2023; 20:(suppl1), qdad060.412.

DOI: 10.1093/jsxmed/qdad060.412 | ACCESS: qdad060.412

Luciano A. Favorito¹

¹ Unidade de Pesquisa Urogenital - Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro - Uerj, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil

COMMENT

The present paper shows how the anatomy is important to urology. The authors demonstrate the use of an alternative arterial donor vessel for penile revascularization.

Using an operating microscope the dorsal penile artery was ligated and the distal end was anastomosed to the donor artery and an end-to-end fashion with the lateral femoral circumflex artery. Penile vascular anatomy is basic for this procedure. The penis is irrigated by two internal pudendal arteries, branches of the internal iliac (hypogastric) artery. After its various perineal branches, the pudendal arteries combine to form the so-called common penile artery, which divides into three branches: the bulbourethral artery, the dorsal penile artery and the cavernosal artery. The cavernosal artery is located inside the corpus cavernosum, the bulbourethral artery is responsible for irrigating the corpus spongiosum and urethra, and the dorsal penile artery is located between the tunica albuginea and Buck's fascia (1, 2).

The authors concluded that this case demonstrates an excellent result from penile revascularization utilizing the lateral femoral circumflex artery. This artery can be considered an alternate donor for penile revascularization procedures following pelvic fracture urethral injury when there is a contraindication to the use of the inferior epigastric artery.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

REFERENCES

- Vora AA, Dajani D, Lynch JH, Kowalczyk KJ. Anatomic and technical considerations for optimizing recovery of urinary function during robotic-assisted radical prostatectomy. Curr Opin Urol. 2013;23:78-87.
- Walz J, Burnett AL, Costello AJ, Eastham JA, Graefen M, Guillonneau B, et al. A critical analysis of the current knowledge of surgical anatomy related to optimization of cancer control and preservation of continence and erection in candidates for radical prostatectomy. Eur Urol. 2010;57:179-92.

Luciano A. Favorito, MD, PhD

ARTICLE INFO

Unidade de Pesquisa Urogenital da Universidade do Estado de Rio de Janeiro - UERJ, Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil E-mail: lufavorito@yahoo.com.br http://orcid.org/0000-0003-1562-6068

Int Braz J Urol. 2023; 49: 644-45

Submitted for publication: May 05, 2023

> Accepted May 10, 2023

Published as Ahead of Print: June 25, 2023





Laparoscopic Pyelolithotomy for treating urolithiasis in ectopic pelvic kidneys

Ioannis Kartalas Goumas ¹, Elena Tondelli ¹, Luigi Bevilacqua ¹, Isabella Oliva ¹, Luca Orecchia ², Marcelo Langer Wroclawski ³, Guido Giusti ⁴, Silvia Proietti ⁴, Roberto Miano ², Eugenio Ventimiglia ⁵

¹ Division of Urology, Istituto Clinico Beato Matteo, Vigevano, Italy; ² Division of Urology, Department of Surgical Sciences, University of Rome Tor Vergata, Rome, Italy; ³ Hospital Israelita Albert Einstein, São Paulo, SP, Brasi; ⁴ Department of Urology, IRCCS San Raffaele Hospital, Milan, Italy; ⁵ Division of Experimental Oncology/Unit of Urology, Urological Research Institute, IRCCS Ospedale San Raffaele, Milan, Italy

ABSTRACT

Introduction: The management of urolithiasis ectopic pelvic kidneys (EPK) can be challenging because of the aberrant anatomy (1-4). We demonstrate the step-by-step technique of the laparoscopic approach for treating urolithiasis in EPK. *Patients and methods:* Three men with EPK (2 left, 1 right) underwent laparoscopic pyelolithotomy through a transperitoneal approach. After establishing the pneumoperitoneum, the parietal peritoneum was opened at the parietal colic sulcus and the bowel displaced medially. The kidney was identified in the retroperitoneum and the renal pelvis exposed after removal of the perirenal adipose tissue. The renal pelvis was opened, and the stones were identified and retrieved with forceps in 2 cases and with a flexible nephroscope in 1 case. The renal pelvis was closed with a 3/0 running barbed suture. A DJ stent was placed in all patients.

Results: For the first time, a laparoscopic technique for treating stones in the ectopic kidney is demonstrated in detail. Mean patient age was 52.6 years (44-58). The mean stone size was 22.3 mm (20-24 mm). Stones were in the renal pelvis in 2 cases and in the inferior calyx in 1 case. Mean operative time was 146 minutes (135-155 min). Mean estimated blood loss was 116 ml (60-140 ml). No complications were observed. The mean hospital stay was 3 days. The DJ stents were removed after 3 weeks. All patients were stone free at the postoperative CT scan with a mean follow-up of 3.3 months (1-6 months).

Conclusions: Laparoscopic pyelolithotomy can be an effective and reproducible minimally invasive technique for treating urolithiasis in EPK.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

REFERENCES

- Salvi M, Muto G, Tuccio A, Grosso AA, Mari A, Crisci A, et al. Active treatment of renal stones in pelvic ectopic kidney: systematic review of literature. Minerva Urol Nefrol. 2020;72:691-7.
- Lavan L, Herrmann T, Netsch C, Becker B, Somani BK. Outcomes of ureteroscopy for stone disease in anomalous kidneys: a systematic review. World J Urol. 2020;38:1135-46.
- 3. Elbahnasy AM, Elbendary MA, Radwan MA, Elashry OM, Taha MR. Laparoscopic pyelolithotomy in selected patients with ectopic pelvic kidney: a feasible minimally invasive treatment option. J Endourol. 2011;25:985-9.
- 4. Al-Yousef R, Almarzouq A, Aldousari S. Robotic pyelolithotomy in a congenital pelvic kidney: side docking and robotic prostatectomy port - site approach. Int Braz J Urol. 2017;43:374.

Submitted for publication: April 05, 2023

Correspondence address: Ioannis Kartalas Goumas, MD Division of Urology, Istituto Clinico Beato Matteo Corso Pavia 84, Vigevano 27029, Italy E-mail: ikgoumas@gmail.com

Accepted after revision: April 12, 2023

Published as Ahead of Print: June 15, 2023

ARTICLE INFO

D Ioannis Kartalas Goumas http://orcid.org/0000-0002-3309-9807

Available at: http://www.intbrazjurol.com.br/video-section/20230148_goumas_et_al Int Braz J Urol. 2023; 49 (Video #11): 646-7





Robotic partial nephrectomy for large renal Leiomyoma: first case report

Antonio Franco ^{1, 2}, Devin Rogers ³, Savio D. Pandolfo ^{1, 3, 4}, Celeste Manfredi ^{1, 5}, Francesco Ditonno ^{1, 6}, Ciro Imbimbo ⁴, Marco De Sio ⁵, Cosimo De Nunzio ², Riccardo Autorino ^{1, 3}

¹ Department of Urology, Rush University, Chicago, IL, USA; ² Department of Urology, Sant'Andrea Hospital, Sapienza University, Rome, Italy; ³ Division of Urology, VCU Health, Richmond, VA, USA; ⁴ Department of Neurosciences, Reproductive Sciences and Odontostomatology, Federico II University, Naples, Italy; ⁵ Urology Unit, "Luigi Vanvitelli" University, Naples, Italy; ⁶ Department of Urology, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria Integrata Verona, University of Verona, Verona, Italy

ABSTRACT

Aim: Renal leiomyoma is a rare benign mesenchymal tumor arising from the smooth muscle cells of the kidney. Renal capsule is its most common location (1). Large tumor may require surgical excision which can be challenging in case of proximity to major vessels (2). Indications of robotic partial nephrectomy (RPN) have exponentially expanded over the past few years (3). We aim to report a case of large renal leiomyoma successfully managed with RPN.

Methods: A 59-year-old female patient with BMI 51 presented with chief complaint of abdominal discomfort. The patient underwent a CT scan that revealed a massive circumscribed exophytic complex solid cystic mass of 4.5 x 7.7 x 6.2 cm, arising from the lower pole of right kidney and abutting the inferior vena cava. RENAL score was 11ah (high complexity). Past surgical history included mid-urethral sling, breast reduction, and hysterectomy with salpingectomy. Preoperative creatinine and eGFR were 0.9 (mg/dL) and 77 (mL/min), respectively. A robotic excision of this mass was successfully performed by using Da Vinci Xi platform. Main steps of the procedure are illustrated in the present video.

Results: Dissection and isolation of the tumor were carefully performed after identifying key anatomical structures such as the ureter, the IVC and the renal hilum. Intraoperative ultrasound was used to confirm the margins of the mass. The renal artery was clamped and then the tumor was resected/enucleated. Renal parenchyma was re-approximated with a single layer of interrupted CT-1 Vicryl 0 with sliding clip technique. Warm ischemia time was 19 min. Estimated blood loss (EBL) was 250 ml. Operative time was 165 min. No intraoperative complications occurred. No drain was placed. Patient was discharged on postoperative day 2. Post-operative hypotension was managed with fluid bolus. Postoperative creatinine and eGFR were 1,0 (mg/dL) and 69 (mL/min/1.72m²), respectively. Pathology revealed a leiomyoma of genital stromal origin with hyalinization and calcification.

Conclusions: To the best of our knowledge, this is the first description of RPN for the management of a large (about 8 cm) renal leiomyoma. Robotic assisted surgery allows to expand the indications of minimally invasive conservative renal surgery whose feasibility becomes even more clinically significant in case of benign masses which can be managed without sacrificing healthy renal parenchyma.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

REFERENCES

- Aldughiman AW, Alzahrani A, Alzahrani T. Renal Leiomyoma: Case Report and Literature Review. J Endourol Case Rep. 2019;5:181-3.
- 2. Filianoti A, Paganelli A, Bassi P, Simone G, Ranieri A. Leiomyoma of the renal capsule: case report and literature review. Urologia. 2018;85:34-5.
- Cerrato C, Patel D, Autorino R, Simone G, Yang B, Uzzo R, et al. Partial or radical nephrectomy for complex renal mass: a comparative analysis of oncological outcomes and complications from the ROSULA (Robotic Surgery for Large Renal Mass) Collaborative Group. World J Urol. 2023;41:747-55.

Submitted for publication: May 08, 2023

Accepted after revision: May 12, 2023

Published as Ahead of Print: June 20, 2023

Correspondence address: Riccardo Autorino, MD, PhD Department of Urology, Rush University Medical Center 1725 W Harrison St Professional Building - Suite 970 Chicago, IL 60612, USA E-mail: ricautor@gmail.com

ARTICLE INFO

D Riccardo Autorino http://orcid.org/0000-0001-7045-7725

Available at: http://www.intbrazjurol.com.br/video-section/20230205_autorino_et_al Int Braz J Urol. 2023; 49 (Video #12): 648-9





Robotic assisted radical nephrectomy with Inferior vena cava tumor thrombus

Maxwell Sandberg ¹, Wyatt Whitman ¹, Alejandro Rodriguez ¹

¹ Department of Urology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Medical Center Boulevard, Winston Salem, NC, USA

ABSTRACT

Purpose: Surgery for renal cell carcinoma (RCC) with an inferior vena cava (IVC) tumor thrombus can be done via a robotic approach. While this approach is thought to minimize blood loss, it may still result in significant losses (1) and current publications indicate that it can require upwards of 3-day hospital stays (1, 2). However, innovative surgical techniques, such as the split and roll, may curtail this. The purpose of this video is to present the case and surgical technique of robotic assisted radical nephrectomy with IVC thrombectomy.

Materials and Methods: The patient was a 77-year-old male found to have a right upper pole renal mass on CT urogram. On MRI (Figure 1), a renal mass and level II thrombus was seen. For this case, the Da Vinci Xi Intuitive robotic system was used, with four robotic 8-millimeter (mm) metallic trocars, two 5 mm assistant trocars, and one 12 mm air seal port. The split and roll technique were utilized to access the IVC and lumbar veins. This surgical method uses the adventitia of the IVC as a plane of dissection and safely identifies all branches/tributaries of the IVC to minimize the chance of vascular injury (3).

Results: Robotic console time was 150 minutes. The patient had an excellent outcome, with all tumor thrombus removed, less than 50cc of blood loss, and was discharged within 24 hours of the operation. The tumor pathology came back as papillary, high grade, and was stage pT3bN1.

Conclusions: The robotic approach with split and roll technique is a great surgical option for urologists to consider in patients with RCC and a level I or II thrombus, which can minimize blood loss and expedite discharge.





On an axial view of the abdomen, the level II thrombus was seen pre-operatively. This was determined to be a level II thrombus.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

REFERENCES

- Pulford C, Keating K, Rohloff M, Peifer D, Eames R, Shakuri-Rad J, et al. Robotic-assisted nephrectomy with level II IVC thrombectomy using Rummel Tourniquets. Int Braz J Urol. 2022;48:196-7.
- 2. Ahluwalia P, Tamhankar A, Gautam G. Robotic radical nephrectomy and level II inferior vena cava thrombectomy: exploring the newer frontiers. Int Braz J Urol. 2021;47:218-9.
- Tran V, Gibson L, Sengupta S. Retroperitoneal lymph node dissection for germ cell tumour. Transl Androl Urol. 2020;9:3103-11.

Submitted for publication: May 29, 2023

Accepted after revision: June 21, 2023

Published as Ahead of Print: July 20, 2023

ARTICLE INFO

D Maxwell Sandberg https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2880-1857

Available at: http://www.intbrazjurol.com.br/video-section/20230245_Rodriguez_et_al Int Braz J Urol. 2023; 49 (Video #12): 650-1

Correspondence address:

Alejandro Rodriguez, MD Department of Urology, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Medical Center Boulevard, Winston Salem, NC, 27157, USA E-mail: alrrodri@wakehealth.edu





ChatGPT for medical applications and urological science

Leonardo O. Reis 1, 2

¹ UroScience e Departamento de Urologia, Faculdade de Ciências Médicas, Universidade Estadual de Campinas - UNICAMP, Campinas, São Paulo, Brasil; ² Departamento de Imunoncologia, Faculdade de Ciências da Vida, Pontifícia Universidade Católica de Campinas, PUC-Campinas, Campinas, São Paulo, Brasil

To the editor,

A Generative Pre-Trained Transformer (GPT) is an artificial intelligence (AI) algorithm designed to understand and generate human-like language. ChatGPT is a free and publicly available large language model developed by OpenAI. It uses advanced natural language processing algorithms, is trained on a vast corpus of data, and is not free of limitations and biases. AI is in its infancy and there is enough potential to be developed that will undoubtedly change our practices and human life. As an impactful tool, it can be used for the good and for the bad, and its responsible and moderated use is critical.

What is chatGPT

A Generative Pre-Trained Transformer (GPT) is an artificial intelligence (AI) algorithm designed to understand and generate human-like language. ChatGPT is a free and publicly available large language model developed by OpenAI. It uses advanced natural language processing algorithms, trained on a vast corpus of data (1).

Training data includes a wide range of questions and prompts and a diverse set of texts, such as books, articles, and websites, allowing knowledge in many different domains. As an AI language model, its goal is to assist and provide useful responses to users who interact (2).

A PubMed search on March, 03, 2023 using the word "chatGPT" displayed 5 publications in 2022 and 72 in the first 2 months of the year of 2023 and another search on March, 09, 2023 retrieved additional 22 new documents. The studies range from literature reviews on the issue to clinical case reports that used chatGPT as a writing tool.

ChatGPT for medical applications

ChatGPT has several potential applications in the field of medicine and healthcare. As an AI language model, ChatGPT has been trained on a vast amount of medical text data, including research papers, clinical reports, and electronic health records. This means that it has a deep knowledge base on medical topics and can generate text that may be instructive (3).

One potential application of ChatGPT in medicine is clinical decision support. By inputting patient data and symptoms, ChatGPT can generate recommendations for diagnosis and treatment based on the latest medical research and clinical guidelines. As any tool, when complementary to human expertise it can help improve the accuracy and efficiency of medical diagnosis and treatment, with potential to lead to better patient outcomes (4). Another application of ChatGPT in medicine is natural language processing of electronic health records (EHRs). EHRs contain a vast amount of unstructured text data, and extracting meaningful information from these records can be time-consuming and challenging. ChatGPT can help automate this process by analyzing EHRs and identifying key information, such as patient diagnoses, treatments, and outcomes (5).

ChatGPT can also assist with patient education by generating easy-to-understand explanations of medical conditions and treatments. This can be particularly helpful for patients who may have difficulty understanding complex medical terminology or who may feel overwhelmed by the amount of medical information available online (6).

Overall, ChatGPT has several potential applications in medicine and healthcare, and its ability to generate text on a wide range of medical topics makes it a valuable tool for medical professionals, researchers, and patients alike. However, it's important to note that ChatGPT should be used as a complementary tool to human expertise and should not be relied upon as a substitute for professional medical advice or diagnosis.

CHATGPT FOR MEDICAL WRITING

ChatGPT can be a valuable resource for medical writing in several ways. As an AI language model, ChatGPT has been trained on a vast amount of data, including medical literature, research articles, and clinical reports. This means that it has a vast knowledge base on medical topics and can generate text that is precise (7).

One way ChatGPT can help with medical writing is by providing assistance with grammar and syntax. Medical writing often involves complex terminology and jargon, and ChatGPT can help ensure that the language used in a medical document is grammatically correct and easy to understand (8).

ChatGPT can also help with writing medical reports, research papers, and other types of medical documents by providing suggestions for structure, formatting, and organization. For example, it can suggest appropriate headings and subheadings, provide examples of effective introductions and conclusions, and help ensure that the document flows logically and coherently (9).

Furthermore, ChatGPT can help with summarizing complex medical information in a way that is easy to understand for a lay audience. This can be particularly helpful for medical writers who are creating patient education materials or other types of health-related content (10).

Overall, ChatGPT's ability to generate grammatically correct text on a wide range of medical topics can be a valuable resource for medical writers looking to improve the quality and effectiveness of their work.

ChatGPT for urological science

ChatGPT can be a useful resource for urological science in several ways. As an AI language model, ChatGPT has been trained on a vast amount of text data, including scientific research papers, medical textbooks, and other authoritative sources on urological science. This means that it has a deep knowledge base on urological science (11).

One way ChatGPT can help with urological science is by providing assistance with writing research papers and clinical reports. Urological science involves complex medical terminology and jargon, and ChatGPT can help ensure that the language used in a research paper or clinical report is scientifically accurate (12).

ChatGPT can also help urological scientists with analyzing and interpreting data. By inputting data from urological studies or clinical trials, ChatGPT can generate text that provides insights into the findings, significance, and implications of the data. This can be particularly helpful for urological scientists who need to communicate their research findings in a clear and concise way (13).

Furthermore, ChatGPT can assist with creating patient education materials on urological topics. Urological conditions can be complex and difficult to understand for patients, and ChatGPT can generate text that explains urological conditions and treatments in a clear and understandable way (14, 15). Overall, ChatGPT can be a valuable resource for urological scientists looking to improve the quality and effectiveness of their work.

ChatGPT and references

ChatGPT is an AI language model that generates text based on patterns and statistical models learned from a large corpus of text data. While it can provide accurate and informative information, it does not have the ability to add exact references or citations to its writing.

However, as an AI language model, ChatGPT is trained on a vast amount of text data, including scientific research papers, academic journals, and other authoritative sources. This means that the information it provides is typically based on reliable and credible sources.

It's important to note that it is ultimately up to the user to ensure that the information is properly cited and referenced in any written work. If you are using ChatGPT to generate content for a research paper, article, or other type of written work, it's important to carefully review and fact-check the information it provides and to include proper citations and references to any sources used.

In summary, ChatGPT is a powerful tool that can provide information on a wide range of topics, but it is the user's responsibility to ensure that the information is properly cited and referenced in any written work.

Ethics in the use of chatGPT

As an AI language model, ChatGPT has the potential to be a powerful tool for many different applications. However, there are important ethical considerations that must be taken into account in the use of ChatGPT (16).

First and foremost, the data that is used to train ChatGPT is critical. To ensure that ChatGPT is ethical and unbiased, the data that is used to train the model must be carefully selected and scrutinized. Training data that includes biased or discriminatory language can result in a model that perpetuates those biases and reinforces harmful stereotypes (17).

Another important ethical consideration is the potential misuse of ChatGPT. While ChatGPT can be used to provide helpful information and support to users, it can also be used to spread misinformation, hate speech, and other harmful content. It is important for developers and users of ChatGPT to be aware of this potential and take steps to mitigate it, such as implementing content moderation tools and educating users on responsible use.

There are also privacy and security concerns associated with the use of ChatGPT. Conversations with ChatGPT can contain sensitive personal information, and it is important for developers to take steps to protect this data from unauthorized access or use. Overall, ethics in the use of ChatGPT requires careful consideration of the data used to train the model, responsible use of the model to prevent harmful content, and safeguarding user privacy and security (18).

Researchers using AI tools should document this use in the methods or acknowledgements sections of the created manuscript, and AI tools cannot take any attribution of authorship, since it carries with responsibility and accountability for the work (19, 20).

AI is in its infancy, is not free of limitations and biases, and there is enough potential to be developed that will certainly change our practices and human life. As any impactful tool, it can be used for the good and for the bad, and its responsible and moderated use is key.

ChatGPT limitations

Researchers are actively working to improve the capabilities and to address limitations that are common to most language models and AI systems in general.

While it is continually being updated with new data and fine-tuned by researchers and developers to improve its performance, the specific level of updating and the frequency of updates can vary depending on the resources and priorities of the team or organization responsible for maintaining ChatGPT. The current version was trained on a dataset that had a knowledge cutoff date of September 2021.

In addition to biases based on the sources of the data or the people who wrote it or programmers' orientation, algorithmic bias may create systematic and repeatable errors with "unfair" outcomes in ways different from the intended algorithm. Artificial intelligence hallucination may generate plausible sounding but incorrect or nonsensical answers that does not seem to be justified by its training data, such as claim to be human.

Limited access to the human commonsense knowledge, and inability to reason and learn and create like humans may generate struggle to understand the full context of a conversation or a piece of text, providing illogical, out of context, not relevant or not accurate responses (21).

The Author

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

REFERENCES

- GPT-4 is OpenAI's most advanced system, producing safer and more useful OpenAI. [Internet]. Avaliable at. https://openai.com>. accessed on 06 mar 2023
- Brown TB, Mann B, Ryder N, Subbiah M, Kaplan J, Dhariwal P, et al. Language models are few-shot learners. Adv Neural Inf Process Syst. 2020;33:1877-1901.
- Laranjo L, Dunn AG, Tong HL, Kocaballi AB, Chen J, Bashir R, et al. Conversational agents in healthcare: a systematic review. J Am Med Inform Assoc. 2018;25:1248-58.
- Xu L, Sanders L, Li K, Chow JCL. Chatbot for Health Care and Oncology Applications Using Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning: Systematic Review. JMIR Cancer. 2021;7:e27850.
- Yang LWY, Ng WY, Lei X, Tan SCY, Wang Z, Yan M, et al. Development and testing of a multi-lingual Natural Language Processing-based deep learning system in 10 languages for COVID-19 pandemic crisis: A multi-center study. Front Public Health. 2023;11:1063466.
- 6. Almalki M, Azeez F. Health Chatbots for Fighting COVID-19: a Scoping Review. Acta Inform Med. 2020;28:241-7.
- 7. Coiera E, Liu S. Evidence synthesis, digital scribes, and translational challenges for artificial intelligence in health-care. Cell Rep Med. 2022;3:100860.

- van Buchem MM, Boosman H, Bauer MP, Kant IMJ, Cammel SA, Steyerberg EW. The digital scribe in clinical practice: a scoping review and research agenda. NPJ Digit Med. 2021;4:57.
- 9. Perlis N, Finelli A, Lovas M, Berlin A, Papadakos J, Ghai S, et al. Creating patient-centered radiology reports to empower patients undergoing prostate magnetic resonance imaging. Can Urol Assoc J. 2021;15:108-13.
- Hasan MM, Islam MU, Sadeq MJ, Fung WK, Uddin J. Review on the Evaluation and Development of Artificial Intelligence for COVID-19 Containment. Sensors (Basel). 2023;23:527.
- Chen J, Remulla D, Nguyen JH, Dua A, Liu Y, Dasgupta P, et al. Current status of artificial intelligence applications in urology and their potential to influence clinical practice. BJU Int. 2019;124:567-77. Erratum in: BJU Int. 2020;126:647.
- 12. Eun SJ, Kim J, Kim KH. Applications of artificial intelligence in urological setting: a hopeful path to improved care. J Exerc Rehabil. 2021;17:308-12.
- Chu TN, Wong EY, Ma R, Yang CH, Dalieh IS, Hung AJ. Exploring the Use of Artificial Intelligence in the Management of Prostate Cancer. Curr Urol Rep. 2023; Epub ahead of print.
- Thenault R, Kaulanjan K, Darde T, Rioux-Leclercq N, Bensalah K, Mermier M, et al. The Application of Artificial Intelligence in Prostate Cancer Management—What Improvements Can Be Expected? A Systematic Review. Applied Sciences. 2020;10:6428.
- Gabrielson AT, Odisho AY, Canes D. Harnessing Generative Artificial Intelligence to Improve Efficiency Among Urologists: Welcome ChatGPT. J Urol. 2023; Epub ahead of print.
- 16. Morley J, Machado CCV, Burr C, Cowls J, Joshi I, Taddeo M, et al. The ethics of AI in health care: A mapping review. Soc Sci Med. 2020;260:113172.
- Jobin A, Ienca M, Vayena E. The global landscape of Al ethics guidelines. Nat Mach Intell. 2019;1:389-99. [Internet]. Available at. https://www.nature.com/articles/s42256-019-0088-2>.
- Liebrenz M, Schleifer R, Buadze A, Bhugra D, Smith A. Generating scholarly content with ChatGPT: ethical challenges for medical publishing. Lancet Digit Health. 2023;5:e105e106.
- 19. Stokel-Walker C. ChatGPT listed as author on research papers: many scientists disapprove. Nature. 2023;613:620-1.
- 20. [No Authors]. Tools such as ChatGPT threaten transparent science; here are our ground rules for their use. Nature. 2023;613:612.
- 21. Obermeyer Z, Topol EJ. Artificial intelligence, bias, and patients' perspectives. Lancet. 2021;397:2038.

ARTICLE INFO

Correspondence address:

Leonardo O. Reis MD, MSc, Ph.D. Professor Livre Docente, UroScience e Departamento de Urologia, Faculdade de Ciências Médicas, Universidade Estadual de Campinas - UNICAMP, Campinas, São Paulo, Brasil Av. John Boyd Dunlop - Jardim Ipaussurama, Campinas, SP, 13034-685, Brasil Telephone: (19) 3343-8600 E-mail: reisleo.l@gmail.com

(b) Reis LO https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2092-414X

Int Braz J Urol. 2023; 49: 652-6

Submitted for publication: April 09, 2023

Accepted after revision: April 11, 2023

Published as Ahead of Print: June 20, 2023



INFORMATION FOR AUTHORS

Manuscripts submitted for publication should be sent to:

Luciano A. Favorito, MD, PhD Editor, International Braz J Urol

Submit your article here: https://www.intbrazjurol.com.br

Manuscripts must be written in current English or Portuguese. Non-native English speakers should ask a native specialist in medical English for checking the grammar and style. Either American or British English may be used but should be consistent throughout the manuscript.

A submission letter signed by all authors must accompany each manuscript. This letter must state that: a)- the paper or portion thereof have not been previously published and are not under consideration by another Journal, b)- that all authors have contributed to the information or material submitted for publication, and that all authors have read and approved the manuscript, c)- that the authors have no direct or indirect commercial financial incentive associated with publishing the manuscript, d)- that the source of extra-institutional funding, specially that provided by commercial companies, is indicated, e)- that the study had been reviewed and approved by a certified Ethical Board or Committee, including the nmeber of the approval dociment and the date of the approval, f)- a non-plagiarism statement (I (We) declare that all material in this assignment is my (our) own work and does not involve plagiarism). g)- Clinical trials must be registered on any Clinical Trials Registry and the letter must bring the number of registration and the name of the registry. After accepted for publication, the manuscript will become property of the International Braz J Urol.

Conflict of Interest – Any conflict of interest, mainly financial agreement with companies

whose products are alluded to in the paper, must be clearly disclosed when submitting a manuscript for review. If accepted, a disclosure will be published in the final manuscript.

The requirements for authorship and the general rules for preparation of manuscripts submitted to the International Braz J Urol are in accordance with the Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals (International Committee of Medical Journal Editors. Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals. Ann Intern Med, 126: 36-47, 1997). An electronic version of the Uniform Requirements is available on various websites, including the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors web site: www.icmje.org.

In response to the concerns of the editors of scientific medical journals with ethics, quality and seriousness of published articles, a Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) was established in 1997 and a guideline document was published. The International Braz J Urol signed, approved, and follows the COPE guidelines. The Editor strongly encourages the authors to carefully read these guidelines before submitting a manuscript (www.publicationethics. org.uk/guidelines or www.brazjurol.com.br, vol. 26 (1): 4-10, 2000).

Peer Review – All submissions are subject to editorial review. Typically, each manuscript is anonymously forwarded by the Editor to 4 Reviewers (at least 2). If the Editor receives conflicting or inconclusive revisions, the manuscript is always sent to 1 or 2 additional Reviewers before the Editor's decision. If considered necessary by the Editor or by the Reviewers, statistical procedures included in the manuscript will be analyzed by a statistician.

The International Braz J Urol contains six sections: Original Article, Review Article, Surgical Technique, Challenging Clinical Case, Radiology Page



and Video Section. The articles should be written in Portuguese or English official orthography.

Abbreviations should be avoided, and when necessary must be specified when first time mentioned. Unusual expressions may not be used. A list of abbreviations must be provided at the end of the manuscript.

Every manuscript submitted to publication should have a cover page containing the title, short title (up to 50 characters), authors and institution. Up to six key words should be provided. These words should be identical to the medical subject headings (MeSH) that appear in the Index Medicus of the National Library of Medicine (http:// www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/meshhome.html). One of the authors should be designated as correspondent and the complete correspondence address, telephone and fax numbers and E-mail should be provided.

If any financial support has been provided, the name of the institution should be mentioned.

Original Article: Original articles should contain a Cover Page, Abstract, Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results, Discussion, Conclusions, References, Tables and Legends, each section beginning in a separate page and numbered consecutively. Original articles should cover contemporary aspects of Urology or experimental studies on Basic Sciences applied to urology. The manuscript text should contain no more than 2500 words, excluding the Abstract. The number of authors is limited to five. References should contain no more than 30 citations, including the most important articles on the subject. Articles not related to the subject must be excluded.

Review Article: Review articles are accepted for publication upon Editorial Board's request in most of the cases. A Review Article is a critical and systematic analysis of the most recent published manuscripts dealing with a urological topic. A State of the Art article is the view and experience of a recognized expert in the topic. An abstract must be provided.

Surgical Technique: These manuscripts should present new surgical techniques or instruments and should contain Introduction, Surgical Technique, Comments and up to five References. An abstract must be provided. At least five cases performed with the technique must be included.

Challenging Clinical Case: These manuscripts should present relevant clinical or surgical situations which can bring or consolidate our understanding of genesis, natural history, pathophysiology and treatment of diseases. *Structure of the articles*

Abstract (maximum 200 words) and should contain

• Main findings: Report case(s) relevant aspects

• Case(s) hypothesis: Proposed premise substantiating case(s) description

• Promising future implications: Briefly delineates what might it add? Lines of research that could be addressed

Full text (maximum 2000 words):

• Scenario: Description of case(s) relevant preceding and existing aspects;

• Case(s) hypothesis and rational: precepts, clinical and basic reasoning supporting the case(s) hypothesis and the raised scenario. Why is it important and is being reported?

• Discussion and future perspectives: what might it add and how does it relate to the current literature. 'Take-home message' - lessons learnt;

• Table and/or Figure limits: 2 (plates aggregating multiple images are encouraged) each exceeding table or figure will decrease 250 words of the full text;

• Number of references: 10-15.

Radiology Page: Will be published upon the Section Editor decision.

Video Section: The material must be submitted in the appropriate local, in the Journal's site, whe-



re all instructions may be found (Video Section link) Letters to the Editor: The letter should be related to articles previously published in the Journal, should be useful for urological practice and must not exceed 500 words. They will be published according to the Editorial Board evaluation.

ILLUSTRATIONS:

The illustrations should not be sent merged in the text. They should be sent separately, in the final of the manuscript.

1) The number of illustrations should not exceed 10 per manuscript.

2) Check that each figure is cited in the text.

3) The legends must be sent in a separate page.

4) The legends of histological illustrations should contain the histological technique and the final magnification.

5) The International Braz J Urol encourages color reproduction of illustrations wherever appropriate.6) All histological illustrations should be supplied in color.

ELECTRONIC SUBMISSION:

1) Do not embed the figures in the text, but supply them as separate files.

2) For Submitting Photographs Electronically, please:

Supply photographs as TIFF (preferable) or JPG files. The TIFF of JPG should be saved at a resolution of 300 dpi (dots per inch) at final size. If scanned, the photographs should be scanned at 300 dpi, with 125mm width, saved as TIFF file and in grayscale, not embed in Word or PowerPoint. 3) For Submitting Line Artwork Electronically please note that:

Line drawings must be supplied as EPS files (give an EPS extension, e.g. Fig01.eps). Use black text over light to mid grey and white text over dark grey or black shades. Use lower case for all labeling, except for initial capitals for proper nouns and necessary mathematical notation. Centre each file on the page and save it at final size with the correct orientation. We recommend a minimum final width of 65 mm, but note that artwork may need to be resized and relabeled to fit the format of the Journal.

4) IMPORTANT - Avoid - Do Not

a) DO NOT embed the images in the text; save them as a separate file

b) DO NOT supply artwork as a native file. Most illustration packages now give the option to "save as" or export as EPS, TIFF or JPG.

c) DO NOT supply photographs in PowerPoint or Word. In general, the files supplied in these formats are at low resolution (less than 300 dpi) and unsuitable for publication.

d) **DO NOT** use line weights of less than 0.25 point to create line drawings, because they will nor appear when printed.

TABLES: The tables should be numbered with Arabic numerals. Each table should be typed on a single page, and a legend should be provided for each table. Number tables consecutively and cites each table in text in consecutive order.

REFERENCES: The References should be numbered following the sequence that they are mentioned in the text. The references should not be alphabetized. They must be identified in the text with Arabic numerals in parenthesis. Do not include unpublished material and personal communications in the reference list. If necessary, mention these in the body of the text. For abbreviations of journal names refer to the "List of Journals Indexed in Index Medicus" (http://www.nlm.nih.gov). The authors must present the references according to the following examples; the names of all authors must be included; when exist more than six authors, list the first six authors followed by et al. The initial and the final pages of the reference should be provided:

Papers published in periodicals:

• Paterson RF, Lifshitz DA, Kuo RL, Siqueira Jr TM, Lingeman JE: Shock wave lithotripsy monotherapy for renal calculi. Int Braz J Urol. 2002; 28:291-301.

INFORMATION FOR AUTHORS



• Holm NR, Horn T, Smedts F, Nordling J, de la Rossete J: Does ultrastructural morphology of human detrusor smooth muscle cell characterize acute urinary retention? J Urol. 2002; 167:1705-9. Books:

• Sabiston DC: Textbook of Surgery. Philadelphia, WB Saunders. 1986; vol. 1, p. 25.

Chapters in Books:

• Penn I: Neoplasias in the Allograft Recipient. In: Milford EL (ed.), Renal Transplantation. New York, Churchill Livingstone. 1989; pp. 181-95.

The Int Braz J Urol has the right of reject inappropriate manuscripts (presentation, number of copies, subjects, etc.) as well as proposes modifications in the original text, according to the Referees' and Editorial Board opinion.

THE EDITORS SUGGEST THE AUTHORS TO OBSERVE THE FOLLOWING GUIDELINES WHEN SUBMITTING A MANUSCRIPT:

The **Ideal Manuscript** may not exceed 2500 words.

The Title must be motivating, trying to focus on the objectives and content of the manuscript.

Introduction must exclude unnecessary information. It should briefly describe the reasons and objective of the paper.

Materials and Methods should describe how the work has been done. It must contain sufficient information to make the study reproducible. The statistical methods have to be specified.

The **Results** should be presented using Tables and Figures whenever possible. Excessive Tables and Figures must be avoided. The tables should not be repeated on the text.

The **Discussion** must comment only the results of the study, considering the recent literature.

Conclusions must be strictly based on the study findings.

References should contain no more than 30 citations, including the most important articles on the subject. Articles not related to the subject must be excluded.

The Abstract must contain up to 250 words and must conform to the following style: Purpose, Materials and Methods, Results and Conclusions. Each section of the manuscript must be synthesized in short sentences, focusing on the most important aspects of the manuscript. The authors must remember that the public firstly read only the Abstract, reading the article only when they find it interesting.

NOTE:

Recent issues of the International Braz J Urol must be observed concerning the presentation form of the manuscript.



MANUSCRIPT CHECKLIST

The authors should observe the following checklist before submitting a manuscript to the **International Braz J Urol**

- The sequence of manuscript arrangement is according to the Information for Authors.
- The Article is restricted to about 2,500 words and 6 authors.
- Abbreviations were avoided and are defined when first used and are consistent throughout the text.
- Generic names are used for all drugs. Trade names are avoided.
- Normal laboratory values are provided in parenthesis when first used.
- The references were presented according to the examples provided in the Information for Authors. The references were numbered consecutively, following the sequence that they are mentioned in the text. They were identified in the text using Arabic numeral in parenthesis. The names of all authors were provided. When exist more than six authors, list the first sixauthors followed by et al. The initial and the final pages of the reference should be provided. The number of references must be accordingly to the informed in the Instructions for Authors, depending on the type of manuscript.
- The staining technique and the final magnification were provided for all histological illustrations. The histological illustrations are supplied in color.
- Legends were provided for all illustrations, tables, and charts. All tables and charts were in separate pages and referred to in the text. All illustrations and tables are cited in the text.
- An Abstract was provided for all type of articles. The length of the Abstract is about 250 words.
- A corresponding author with complete address, telephone, Fax, and E-mail are provided.
- A submission letter and a disclosure form, signed by all authors, are included.
- The authors should included written permission from publishers to reproduce or adapt a previously published illustrations or tables.
- **Conflict of Interest** Any conflict of interest, mainly financial agreement with companies whose products are alluded to in the paper, is clearly disclosed in the manuscript.
- Check that each figure is cited in the text. The illustrations are not merged in the text.
- The photographs are supplied as TIFF or JPG files and saved at a resolution of 300 dpi (dots per inch) at final size.
- The photographs should be scanned at 300 dpi, with 125mm width, saved as TIFF file and in grayscale, not embed in Word or PowerPoint.
- A list of abbreviations is provided.